ANNUAL REPORT 2(0 ] 2 =




16

29

44

Corporate Information

NEVER

Corporate Profile

NG

Financial Highlights

MBERE

Chairman'’s Statement

TEHE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIEE W RO

Directors & Senior Management Profiles
EELSREEEBN

Corporate Governance Report
EEERME

Report of the Directors

Exewms

Independent Auditors’ Report

B ZBE RS

46

Contents

Audited Financial Statements and Notes

ER I TSR MR

CONSOLIDATED

=

Statement of Comprehensive Income
FHEERE

Statement of Financial Position
SRR R

Statement of Changes in Equity
BESEDE

Statement of Cash Flow
RERER

COMPANY

N

Statement of Financial Position

EAREK

B &%

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P ¥5 46 RO EE



Corporate Information

~EEH

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors:

Geng Ying (Chairman)

Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
Lam Williamson
Wong Hoi Kuen

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Lam Williamson (Chairman)
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond
Wong Hoi Kuen

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Lam Williamson (Chairman)

Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Chiu Sui Keung

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond (Chairman)
Lam Williamson
Wong Hoi Kuen

COMPANY SECRETARY

Chow Chi Fai

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 2502, 25/F, 9 Queen’s Road Central,
Central, Hong Kong

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive,
P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

China Construction Bank
Bank of Communications

AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng

Chartered Accountants

Certified Public Accountants

31/F., Gloucester Tower, The Landmark,
11 Pedder Street, Central, Hong Kong

SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Tengis Limited
26/F., Tesbury Centre,
28 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISERS

Li & Partners
22/F., World Wide House, Central,
Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
00223

1 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012

EEE
MITEE:

B ()

0 (A=)
M (FRAR)

BUFRTEE:
8K 38
MEE
ik

ERERT
MR (2R
B

5

FHERE
MEE (£R)
B

B8

REER®
BAE (25)
)

i

LFIRE
A

EETEERME,
EBRHPRERKES
9325182502

o it 4 = B

Cricket Square,

Hutchins Drive,

P.O. Box 2681,

Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands
FERERT
FEIZRIRT

RIBIRAT

1% B bl

BEE BB

HERT R
BAUEE D
EBTBBIH1SR

B ESEEL T AN TS

RN ERCE
SEBEBERAT
BB 25 KRB R28H
& H5E 0261
EZEER
MBS

& BB A 2218

B 17 X 8

00223



Sino Resources Group Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong as
Sino Gp Limited) (stock code: 223) is principally engaged as sales agent to
introduce potential exhibitors for exhibitions and trade shows with related
ancillary services in Hong Kong as well as investing in the resources and
energy related sector.

The Group has been managing the following businesses:

TRADE SHOWS AND EXHIBITION OPERATION

The Hong Kong International Toys & Gifts Shows and the Asian Gifts Premium
& Household Products Show (“Mega Shows Part 1 & 2”) have been
concurrently held at Hong Kong Convention and Exhibition Centre (“HKCEC”)
in October every year. The Mega Shows Part 1 & 2 are the most important
sourcing exhibition for the gifts, housewares, premiums and toys industries in
the Asia-Pacific regions.

UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

Apart from the exhibition business, the Group has endeavored to explore new
source of revenue from unconventional gas industry.

Last year, the Group has acquired 51% equity interest of Sino Giants Group
Limited (“Sino Giants”), together with Multi Century Technology Development
Limited and Multi Century Energy Technology (Beijing) Limited (“Multi Century
(BJ)”) (the “Sino Giants Group”). Sino Giants Group engages in technical
consulting and operational services such as unconventional gas well drilling,
completion and production stimulation for exploration and development work,
as well as in import of technical equipment for the unconventional gas industry
in the PRC.

The Heilongjiang Unconventional Gas R&D Centre, with its opening ceremony
on 8 July 2011 in Harbin, represents a strong cooperation between the
professional coal geology exploration team from the province and the
overseas unconventional gas experts, symbolizing a breakthrough of the
technological bottle-neck and the creation of a brand new coal-bed methane
business chain in Heilongjiang.

The investment will enable the Group enter into the PRC unconventional gas
market, so as to explore a new income source through the expansion.
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Corporate Profile
RNAEN

COAL TRADING BUSINESS

The Group has been conducting coal trading business in the Northeast region
(mainly in the Heilongjiang province) and the Northwest region of the PRC.

The Group completed the subscription of 100% equity interest of Wealthy
Wing Limited (“Wealthy Wing”), together with Western Spark Investments
Limited and 55% equity interest of Heilongjiang Derong Coal Industrial
Co., Ltd (“Derong)”) (the “Wealthy Wing Group”) on 30 November 2011 and
Wealthy Wing Group subsequently became a member of the Group. Wealthy
Wing Group engages in trading of coal in the PRC.

Except for the acquisition of Wealthy Wing, the Company has a proposed
acquisition of Hubei Tiegang Tading Company Limited (“Tiegang Acquisition”)
which is also engaged in coal trading business. The Tiegang Acquisition is
expected to be completed in a short period time.

These investments will provide the Group with a solid platform for the further
business development in the energy and resources sector in the PRC.

3 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012
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Financial Highlights
BBERE

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
—g-=% -T--F -T-TF -TTRE -TENF
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BWTE  EMTR  EMTR  BETR  BMTx

Operating Performance R AR

Continuing operations BFERBEEE

Turnover =E 3 136,648 82,368 87,374 213,440 213,795
Loss from operating activities REEKEER (38,376) (35,184) (40,607) (50,247) (2,230)
Discontinued operations ERILEEEE

(Loss)/profit for the year TEERBERLEE

from discontinued operations %%z (EE) &F - - (797,129) 106,805 -
(Loss)/profit attributable RATBHER AES

to owners of (E518]) &F (34,145) (34,458) (837,736) 56,558 (7,174)

the Company

Financial Position B 75 iR 5

Total assets EEAE 242,803 120,951 194,633 1,394,262 1,172,409
Cash reserves RE G 15,816 90,379 5,514 51,540 67,839
Total bank borrowings RITEEHLE 18,414 = = = =
Net cash reserves HeREFE (2,598) 90,379 5,514 51,540 67,839
Shareholders’ funds BRES (219,926) (261,214) (303,620) 607,096 179,440
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Chairman’s Statement
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FERS
Dear Valued Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to report the Group’s audited annual
results for the financial year ended 31 March 2012.

During the year, the Group has successfully completed the Wealth Wing
Group acquisition to develop a coal trading platform, formed the strategic
cooperation with Heilongjiang Coal Geology Bureau (“Heilongjiang CG
Bureau”) and further streamlined its exhibition business. The Group has
achieved to diversify its revenue base and redirect its focus on the more
appealing energy and resources industry.

ACHIEVEMENTS IN 2012

Coal Trading Business

The Group has successfully completed the Wealth Wing Group acquisition
on 30 November 2011. Wealth Wing Group is principally engaged in trading
of coal in Northeast region (mainly Heilongjiang Province) in the PRC, and its
geographical coverage has extended to the Northwest region since early 2012
which stems from the management team’s business connections. Despite
delayed completion and capital injection, Wealth Wing Group has been
generating considerable revenue recently and is expected to compensate for
the potential decrease in revenue from the streamlined exhibition business.
The Wealth Wing Group acquisition enables the Group to establish a coal
trading platform for further business development in the energy industry.

Complementary to the Wealth Wing Group acquisition, the Group entered
into the Sale & Purchase Agreement in connection with the Tiegang
Acquisition on 31 March 2012. Tiegang is principally engaged in coal trading
and transportation business in the Northwest region of the PRC. In light of
abundant coal reserve in Xinjiang and huge demand for coal in Gansu and
other provinces in Eastern China, Tiegang was set up to bridge the demand-
supply gap by building up a coal trading and transportation channel across
Xinjiang and Gansu. Tiegang leverages on the geographical advantage of
Jiayuguan (&4 ) in Gansu which is one of the major transportation hubs in
the PRC, it has put the concept of “Jiang Coal to Gan” (B4 A H) into practice
and will explore the opportunity of realizing “West-to-East Coal Transmission”
(PR X) to extend its sales network and geographical coverage. The Board
considers that the Tiegang Acquisition shall benefit the Group’s existing coal
trading business and strengthen the Group’s market position in the Northwest
region.

Unconventional Gas Business

Unconventional gas industry is highly supported by the PRC Government
as one of the emerging industries under the “12th 5-year plan”, in line with
the PRC Government’s development strategies and enjoys tax benefits.
Though China has abundant unconventional gas resources, it lacks skilled
manpower and advanced technology and equipment to explore and develop
unconventional gas. On top of the Group’s coal trading platform, the Board
continues to develop its unconventional gas business by formation of strategic
cooperation with the Heilongjiang CG Bureau, the collaboration extends from
R&D, technology consulting to service provision.

The unconventional gas business has effectively enhanced the Group’s

business profile and created competitive advantages over the Group’s rivals in
the energy sector.

5 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012
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Trade Shows and exhibition operation

The Group has further streamlined its exhibition business by entering into a
sales agency agreement with Kenfair Exhibition (Hong Kong) Limited upon
expiry of the previous Master Project Management Agreement on 5 April 2012.

Despite its steady contribution to the Group’s revenue, under today’s volatile
economic environment and inflationary pressure, the exhibition business is
facing more intense competition, lower profit margin and unappealing growth
prospects. The entering into of the sales agency agreement is in line with the
Group’s growth strategies which is to re-allocate its resources onto energy
and resources related businesses.

FUTURE PROSPECT AND GROWTH STRATEGIES

When Europe is in the midst of recession and the United States is facing
a moderate recovery, the PRC remains to be the only country enjoying
sustainable economic growth amid its GDP growth rate slightly down to 7.5%
for 2012. The PRC government’s development plans in 2012/2013, including
encouragement of internal consumption and continued support to the new
energy sector, are expected to be in favour of the Group’s overall business
development given its PRC-based business operations and its focus in the
energy and resources sector.

The Board will use its best endeavours to enhance revenue mix, improve
operational efficiency and maximizing profit margin of the Group by
implementation of appropriate growth and cost control strategies.

CONCLUSION

In light of the volatile economic environment and signs of slowdown of PRC’s
economic growth, it is expected that the financial year ending 31 March 2013
will be a challenging year to the Group’s overall business development. The
Board will seek to maintain a sustainable growth for the Group’s existing
businesses and explore inorganic growth opportunities in the energy and
resources industry at the same time.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
gratitude to all shareholders and business partners for their continuous
encouragement and support. The Board will continue to strive for improving
the Group’s results and maximizing shareholders’ return in the forthcoming
financial year.

Geng Ying

Chairman
28 June 2012, Hong Kong
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE TN

BUSINESS REVIEW

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries,
the “Group”) will continue to focus its business on the resources and energy
related sector as well as on being the sales agent of exhibitions, trade fairs
and provision of ancillary service.

1. COAL TRADING BUSINESS

The Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement on 8 August
2011, pursuant to which the Group proposed to acquire the entire
issued share capital of Wealthy Wing, which in turn, owns 55% of
Derong. Derong is principally engaged in trading of coal in Northeast and
Northwest region of PRC, which has entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with a PRC business partner who will coordinate and assist
in the sale of coal from Derong. The acquisition was completed on 30
November 2011.

On 31 March 2012, the Company entered into a sale and purchase
agreement in relation to the Tiegang Acquisition. Tiegang is principally
engaged in coal trading and transportation business in the Northwest
region of the PRC, its business shall create synergy to Derong’s coal
trading business and enhance the Group’s geographical coverage. The
long stop date for Tiegang Acquisition has been extended to 31 July
2012 but completion shall take place within a short period of time in the
next financial year.

The distribution of consideration shares issued under the acquisition
of Wealthy Wing Group is subject to a consideration adjustment
(“Consideration Adjustment”) mechanism based on Derong’s results
throughout the three years ending 31 December 2013. As detailed in
the Company’s announcement dated 5 April 2012, due to the delay in
completion of acquisition and injection of RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,500,000) initial capital, Derong’s results for the period from the
completion date (i.e. 30 November 2011) up to 31 December 2011 (“First
Year”) was far less than the First Year Consideration Adjustment of
RMB15,000,000. To save administrative cost, it has been agreed that no
consideration share will be delivered to the vendor for the First Year and
the First Year Consideration Adjustment will be rolled over to next year.

The Board considers that the Group’s coal trading business segment
shall become the main source of revenue for the Group in the next
financial year. With the Derong and Tiegang Acquisitions, the Group will
be able to participate in the fast-growing coal trading industry in the
PRC, which provides a solid platform for the Group’s further business
development in the energy and resources sector.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

TRADE SHOWS AND EXHIBITION OPERATION

During the year under review, the Group acted as show manager of the
“Mega Shows Part 1 & 2” held in October 2011 successfully. However,
the London Asia Expo was temporarily terminated from this year.

The performance of the Group’s exhibition business is deteriorated
for the year ended 31 March 2012 due to lower profit margin and
intense competition. Revenue from exhibition business dropped from
HK$82,368,000 to HK$69,480,000 whilst segment results for exhibition
business reduced from HK$11,359,000 to HK$9,788,000 comparing to
the last financial year ended 31 March 2011.

The Master Project Management Agreement with Group Idea
International Limited (“Group Idea”) was expired on 5 April 2012. On the
same date, the Company (through its subsidiary) entered into a sales
agency agreement (“Agency Agreement”) with Kenfair Exhibition (Hong
Kong) Limited (“Kenfair Exhibition (HK)”) in replacement of renewal of
the Master Project Management Agreement, pursuant to which Kenfair
Exhibition (HK) will be the show manager for all exhibitions and trade
shows organised by Group Idea.

Pursuant to the Agency Agreement, the Company will act as the sales
agent for Kenfair Exhibition (HK) to (i) identify and introduce potential
exhibitors for Mega Shows Part 1 & 2 to be held in October 2012; (ii)
provide all marketing and promotions in respect of the Mega Shows
at its own expenses; and (iii) follow up on all matters concerning the
exhibitors. The Company receives from Kenfair Exhibition (HK) 15%
commission fee on the revenue of every booth secured by the Company.

The Board intends to further streamline the exhibition business and
reallocate its resources onto energy and resources related businesses.

UNCONVENTIONAL GAS BUSINESS

The Group has close collaboration with Heilongjiang CG Bureau in
connection with its unconventional gas business.

The Group (through its subsidiary) and Heilongjiang CG Bureau entered
into a service contract on 5 June 2011, pursuant to which the Group will
provide coalbed methane (“CBM?”) stimulation technology consulting and
operation services. On 8 July 2011, both parties proudly pronounced
the grand opening of the Heilongjiang Unconventional Gas R&D Centre
(the “Centre”) in Harbin, which has further strengthened the strategic
cooperation between the parties in the exploration and development of
unconventional gas in the PRC.

Heilongjiang CG Bureau has been conducting CBM exploration work
in cities including Hegang (#f), Jixi (%) and Yilan ({&kEJ) within
the Heilongjiang Province; well drilling, completion and other testing
work are in progress. The estimated CBM resources are huge in these
cities, which is approximately 34.7 billion for Hegang, 79.9 billion for
Jixi and 9.3 billion for Yilan regarding CBM resources within 2,000m
underground. The Group expects to commence stimulation work once
the specialized equipments are transported to the PRC and installed at
the sites.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE TN

4. DISCONTINUED PROJECTS

Regarding the brown coal upgrading project of which the subscription
agreement was signed on 14 June 2011, the Group has not further
extended the long stop date of this acquisition and the subscription
agreement lapsed on 31 December 2011.

In relation to the memorandum of understanding dated 2 December
2011 (“MOU”) entered into for the proposed acquisition of Baiyin
Xinhua Cement Company Limited, upon negotiations on the terms and
conditions of the acquisition, the Company has decided not to proceed
with the acquisition and has mutually agreed with all other parties to the
MOU to terminate the MOU effective from 2 April 2012.

Notwithstanding the above, the Company would continue exploring
suitable investment opportunities in the energy and resources sectors.

5. LITIGATION OF THE GROUP AND THE COMPANY IN
HONG KONG

Detail of the litigation of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2012 were set out in Note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS ANALYSIS

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group recorded turnover of
HK$136,648,000 (2011: HK$82,368,000), representing an increase of
65.9% over last year. It is arisen from trade shows and exhibition operation
of HK$69,480,000 (2011: HK$82,368,000) and coal trading business of
HK$67,168,000 (2011: HK$ Nil). The increase in turnover was mainly due to
the acquisition of Wealthy Wing Group and contributed the coal sale revenue
to the Group, which represents 49.2% of total turnover, from the date of
completion (i.e. 30 November 2011) to 31 March 2012. This is a new business
segment shall become the main source of revenue for the Group in the future.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group recorded a loss attributable to
shareholders of approximately HK$34,145,000 (2011: HK$34,458,000); basic
loss per share was approximately HK$3 cents (2011: HK$3 cents). This has
included some non-cash items: (i) imputed interest expense of HK$14,920,000
(2011: HK$13,502,000) on convertible notes under finance costs; (ii) fair value
loss on derivative financial assets of HK$1,673,000 (2011: HK$Nil) and fair
value gain on derivate financial liabilities of HK$567,000 (2011: HK$Nil) in
relation to the acquisition of Wealthy Wing Group; and (iii) fair value on share-
based payment of HK$Nil (2011: HK$8,366,000).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

Despite the European debt crisis and uncertainties of global economic
development, the Group will use its best endeavors to improve its operating
results in the next financial year. While the Group will continue adopting
cost reduction strategies to improve its operating margin, it will also keep
redirecting its business focus to energy and resources related businesses
which are of higher growth potentials.

The Group will focus on the coal trading and unconventional gas business
in the coming future. As result of the European debt crisis, the economy
environment in China is definitely being affected. Despite the coal price is
decreasing recently in the PRC, the Board believes that it would not have
material effect to the Group. The decrease in coal price will be strengthened
the bargaining power of the Group to negotiate with the suppliers. As such,
the profit margin on coal trading still has a room for improvement and it
expects the revenue from coal trading will be increasing in the next financial
year. The Board expected the coal trading business will be contributed more
revenue after completion of the Tiegang Acquisition in a short period time.

For the unconventional gas business, the testing and installation of machinery
will be started and completed on the 3rd to 4th quarter of 2012. Revenue
from the unconventional gas will be generated in the next financial year and
become new source of revenue to the Group.

The Group will continue to explore investment opportunities in the resources
and energy related sector to achieve inorganic growth, on top of its existing
unconventional gas and coal trading business platform.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

On 28 September 2011, the Company has successfully placed 30,000,000
shares of HK$0.01 each at a placing price of HK$0.36 for a total
consideration, before expenses, of HK$10,800,000. At the same date, the
Company issued 230,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue price of HK$0.01
per warrant. The total consideration of warrants received, before expenses,
approximately HK$2,300,000. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to
subscribe for one ordinary share of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.39 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment from the date
of issue of the warrants to the expiry, which is 36 months from the issue of the
warrants.

Without taking into account the exercise of the subscription rights attaching to
the warrants, the gross proceeds from the placement of shares and warrants
are approximately HK$13,100,000. Approximately HK$5,500,000 is used as
initial capital injection to Derong and the remaining proceeds will be utilised
by the Group as its general working capital.

BERENWE DN

MRREE

BEBMNEBAERZREEBRRIAY - EXEH
BBBENREEATENRFEZELEEE - HASX
EBBRMAAH R UARSHEERBER X
TERSHHEBERHEEFRSERE N ZER
RERBBEER -

FEBRREEINEREENFERRARER -
HRBNEBEHE  TE2EEREEREZIZE
BERPELRERERETHREBE  HESSHE
TEHAEEELEEANE FAEEEAREHETE
BZRERENEREE  KMESREREE - At
BxBEEZABRDAREZR  LTRABERKEEZ
BARTESBFEREHEN ESERBERE
BEBRRERATREBRBEREZEEHMES WA -

o

BAFRARRERMS  BRAERZEER=-F
—CHEE-ZENEFEMBERTHK  REBFERRA
RZBWARTEMBFESELE - WRBEEBEHD
L ON Y

FREEFAERAHRERRARRERRZ XK TS
BRERSEREEREBTECRERS - LIRE
SERER o

Bt %5 B B8

BERin

RZZE-——FAAZ+TNB A2ARDEER
0.367% T 2 Kt & 18 At £30,000,0008% &= A% [ {£0.018
TG RS R 2BRE (RMBRE R &
10,800,000/ 7T ° REH @ A2 RREHFEREF0.01
7B T 2 #1783 17230,000,0001) 3F £ R IR HERE o 2
W Bz R AR R AU E (RRRE AT 4%52,300,000
BT SORREZFETASEARINTRNZRES
BITAMEEERmZE (HRBRREFRRITAHES6
BR)#&ER0.398B T 2RBERE - RS RKREE0.01
BRL2EBR  AUBREXM  LAMEHAZE -

BARAREIFTMNT 2RABEZTE BERD
KRR R 2 1S R AR 213,100,0008 T » K
5,500,000/ T AIEER c BHITEE - MR T TS
RESHAEERE-REBEES -

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012 10



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEENWE TN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The Group derived its working capital mainly from internal cash flow from
operating activities, share and warrants placement and shareholder’s loan.

As at 31 March 2012, deficit on shareholders’ funds of the Group aggregately
amounted to HK$219,926,000 (2011: HK$261,214,000). As at 31 March
2012, the Group’s assets-liabilities ratio (total liabilities to total assets) was
approximately 1.91 times (2011: 3.16 times). Net current liabilities of the
Group amounted to approximately HK$313,658,000 (2011: HK$118,430,000).
Current assets of the Group was approximately HK$148,594,000 (2011:
HK$116,459,000), of which fixed deposits, cash and bank balances
amounted to approximately HK$15,816,000 (2011: HK$90,379,000). As at 31
March 2012, trade receivables were approximately HK$71,212,000 (2011:
HK$22,000). Significantly increase was due to the result of acquisition of
Wealthy Wing Group and all the outstanding balances as at 31 March 2012
represented from the coal trading business. The following items with an
aggregate amount of HK$333,692,000 (2011: HK$320,354,000), which are
included in current liabilities and non-current liabilities, are related to the legal
proceedings with Mr. Hung in the High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”):
() HK$158,600,000 (2011: HK$158,600,000) was consideration payable for
the acquisition of Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited and its subsidiary;
(i) HK$15,358,000 (2011: HK$14,478,000) was the shareholder’s loan plus
interest from Mr. Hung; and (iii) convertible notes of HK$157,014,000 (2011:
HK$142,094,000), and respective deferred tax liabilities of HK$2,720,000
(2011: HK$5,182,000 under non-current liabilities). The Board considers that
the liquidity of the Group is good enough for the year ended 31 March 2012
and the Group would be turned to net assets position to HK$113,766,000
(2011: HK$59,140,000) if removal of (i) to (iii). Details refer to Notes 28, 29, 33
and 34 of the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s gearing ratio (total debts to total equity)
was 89.7% (2011: 72.9%).

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE RATES AND
ANY RELATED HEDGES

The Group’s sales and purchase are mainly transacted in Hong Kong dollar
and Renminbi and the books are recorded in Hong Kong dollar. Therefore,
it may be exposed to foreign exchange risk. However in view of the stable
currency policies adopted by the PRC government, the directors consider that
the foreign exchange risk is insignificant.

The Group currently has no foreign exchange rate hedging policy in respect
of commercial transactions denominated in foreign currencies. However, the
directors monitor exchange rate exposure regularly and will consider hedging
significant exchange rate exposure when necessary.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS OF THE GROUP
No pledge of assets of the Group as at 31 March 2012.

11 Sino Resources Group Limited ¢ Annual Report 2012

REBEE MERERBEERE

AEBEEXBNESTERBELTDHFE 2R
RERE BERORIREZRBRRERNR -

R-B-—ZH=ZA=Z+t-R F5EZRRESHAH
.:./\219,926 000/8 7Tt (=& — — % : 261,214,000/&
7)) R-ZE-—_F=ZA=t-R -AKEZEES

ﬁtl:FE(W@EF%?I:HQEF)EIJ%’J%1 9IIfE (=T ——
F 1 3.161%) ; REBF R E A E L 5H313,658,000/8
T (ZF——4 :118,430,00087T) ; RBEEN B
148,594,0005& 7t (=& — — £ : 116,459,000/& 7T)
HA#15,816,0008 TATHER RERBTEH
(=ZZ——%:90,379,0008 ) e R=F—=-H=4
=t+—HB ERERLHE71,212,0008 T (=T ——
F 122,000 7T) - KIEEMEBHRKBEKRER
MR-ZZE——F=A=+—AZEMRERELEHY
REBEREEET - T51EHB 4 #£333,692,0005% T
(=& ——% :320,354,000/8T) st ARBEBERIER
BHEfd WEELEREBESSER (5%5%EKR])
ZEERFAEE : (1)158,600,000/8 T (=& — —F :
158,600,000i8 T) NN B ERRRKREBRATARE
B A= 2 EAKE  (i)15,358,000/8 5t (=& — —
F 114,478,000/ T) DREAXEZBRRERER
B R(iNTEBREE157,014,0008 T (ZF——F :
142,094,0005% 7t ) LA K #8 & = IEFE R 18 & f&§2,720,000
BT (=F——4%F :5,182,000/8 Tt AFERBAME) -
EEERA AEECZRBESHBE T ——F=
B=+—BLFEHEERH i BEMEROZE)E - K
EBEFEEEMRRE AH113,766,0008 T (ZFE——F :
59,140,000/ 7t) - BB HN G A M HRE M &
2829 33%34 °

AEER=-Z-——_F=ZA=t—-HERLR(UEHKR
YDA B8IT% (ZF——F 1 72.9%) °

BE == % Y B % £ 77 F B 3 o

AEBEERBETEUBRRARBETRS M
A LB TR - Bt RS E R — E M IMER
Mo T ERPEIBSFRIBE2EBEE  WE
ERRNERBAETERK o

FEBRERIERUNEREM cHEIZREINE
ERHPHE - AW ESESREZRABFEEHMNE
B2 UHEREREREZBEPERERRR -

BEEW

AEER-E-——F=ZA=+—HUBEMEERKH -



Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2012 were set out in Note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board of the Company does not recommend any payment of final
dividend to shareholders for the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil).

OTHER EVENTS

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 March 2012, the Group had a total of 53 employees (2011: 38) in
Hong Kong and the PRC. All employees are remunerated according to their
performance, experience and the prevailing industry practices.

The Group also participates in retirement benefit schemes for its staff in Hong
Kong and the PRC. It adopted a new share option scheme on 8 October 2010,
with options to be granted to employees at the discretion of the Board. Except
1,300,000 share options were lapsed, 58,700,000 share options are remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2012.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

On 30 November 2011, the Company duly completed the acquisition of the
Wealthy Wing Group at a consideration of HK$69,929,000. Wealth Wing Group
is principally engaged in trading of coal in Northeast and Northwest region of
the PRC. Please refer to Note 40(a) of the consolidated financial statements
for details.

The Group did not have material disposal for the year ended 31 March 2012.

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of material related party transactions of the Group as at 31 March 2012
were set out in Note 44 to the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT

The Group did not hold any significant investment for the year ended 31
March 2012.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

BEENSREBEERBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. GENG Ying, aged 72, was appointed as the chairman and an executive
director of the Company on 1 August 2009. She has 11 years experience
in mining industry and over 21 years experience in commercial business in
the PRC and overseas. After her graduation fromith's & Bz 2 (Geological
Institute of Vocational Studies) in the PRC in 1961, Ms. Geng joined Beijing
Geological Team. Equipped with extensive knowledge in geology, Ms. Geng
had been exploring mines for ten years and gained extensive experience in
mining and resources industries. Subsequently, she was transferred to work
atdt THIZEHT 55 Fr (Beijing Institute of Pharmaceutical) anddt & fEE 2% (Beijing
Tumor Hospital). Ms. Geng was educated indt A EEp%(School of Chinese
Medicine of Beijing) and became a healthcare doctor after attaining medical
postgraduate qualification. Ms. Geng started her businesses in the PRC in
late 1984, and she went to the United States of America (“USA”) in 1986 for
further development. She was the chairman of Hely Development Corporation
in California, USA. Ms. Geng successfully acquired two manufacturing plants
in Malaysia during the years from 1992 to 2001. Ms. Geng has gained over
20 years experience in commercial business in the PRC and overseas. Ms.
Geng has all round talents and is a painter. Ms. Geng is also the chairman
and the secretary general of the China Cultural Heritage Foundation, and she
held public offices in the United Nations. Ms. Geng’s father was one of the
veterans of the Communist Party of the PRC, who was a principal leader in
military, diplomatic and political fields of the PRC. Ms. Geng and her family
have extensive and profound networks in political and economic fields in the
PRC and overseas.

Mr. GAO Feng, aged 42, was appointed as the vice chairman and an
executive director of the Company on 15 June 2009. He has extensive
management experience in particular for PRC businesses for over 11 years,
and has served various important roles in a couple of listed companies and
sizable financial institutions. From February 2008 to May 2009, Mr. Gao was
the executive director of China Infrastructure Investment Limited, a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 600), in which
he was responsible for fund management and investors relationship. From
February 2006 to May 2007, he was also an executive director of Premium
Land Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
with a stock code of 164. Besides, Mr. Gao was the former president of
North America for I.N.C. Financial Organization Ltd. and the former president
of Asia-Pacific for Morgan Funding Organization. Mr. Gao holds a master’s
degree in business administration from Keuka College in New York.

Mr. CHIU Sui Keung, aged 45, was appointed as the chief executive officer
and an executive director of the Company on 20 April 2009. Mr. Chiu has over
17 years’ experience in the financial industry and accounting field. He has
possessed extensive experience in corporate finance including initial public
offerings, takeovers, mergers and acquisitions, fund raising and corporate
advisory. Mr. Chiu graduated with a Bachelor’'s Degree in Commerce from
the University of Melbourne, Australia and has obtained a Master’s Degree in
Applied Finance from Macquarie University in Sydney, Australia. He has also
obtained a Diploma in Practices in Chinese Laws and Regulations Affecting
Foreign Businesses jointly organized by Southwest University of Political
Science and Law, the PRC and the Hong Kong Management Association. He
is a member of CPA Australia and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. At present Mr. Chiu is an independent non-executive director of
King Stone Energy Group Limited (stock code: 0663).
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Williamson, aged 37, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 January 2011. Mr. Lam is a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
member of the CPA (Australia). He holds a Bachelor of Business Degree from
Monash University, Australia and a Master of Professional Accounting Degree
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Lam had held directorships
and senior finance positions in various listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr.
Lam was an executive director of Seamless Green China (Holdings) Limited
(stock code: 8150) during the period from 2 October 2009 to 1 February 2010,
an independent non-executive director of Victory Group Limited (stock code:
1139) during the period from 28 September 2004 to 10 September 2008 and
China Post E-Commerce (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as Intcera High
Tech Group Limited, stock code: 8041) during the period from 5 February
2007 to 7 May 2008 respectively, the shares of all the three aforementioned
companies are listed on the Stock Exchange.

Mr. CHENG Wing Keung, Raymond, aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 25 August 2007.
Mr. Cheng is a solicitor practicing in Hong Kong and has over 22 years
of experience in corporate, company secretarial and listing affairs. He
is an associate member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators in United Kingdom and The Hong Kong Institute of Company
Secretaries in Hong Kong. He holds a degree in laws in the University of
London and a Master Degree in Business Administration in the University
of Strathclyde, Scotland. Mr. Cheng was an independent non-executive
director of Fortuna International Holdings Limited (stock code: 0530) from
27 September 2004 to 20 September 2006. At present, he is an independent
non- executive director in two listed companies in Hong Kong: Skyfame Realty
(Holdings) Limited (stock code: 0059) and Emperor Capital Group Limited
(stock code: 0717).

Mr. WONG Hoi Kuen, aged 51, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 9 May 2011. Mr. Wong is a practising
certified public accountant in Hong Kong and a chartered accountant in
the United Kingdom. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of both the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Certified
Public Accountants and an associate member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Wong has been an independent
non-executive director, chairman of audit committee and a member of
remuneration committee of China Gamma Group Limited (stock code: 164)
since 13 February 2006.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHOW Chi Fai, aged 41, who was appointed as the company secretary of
the Company on 29 December 2008 and possess over 17 years of experience
in accounting and finance field. Mr. Chow holds a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy from the University of South Australia and is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Directors & Senior Management Profiles
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HO Tak Yuen, Peter

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as an executive
director of Multi-Century Technology Development Limited. Mr. Ho is
principally responsible for the overall technical activities within Multi-Century
Technology Limited. Mr. Ho has more than thirty (30) years experience
in the petroleum industry. He is acknowledged to be a reservoir and
production engineering geological expert in coal bed methane development
and enhanced oil recovery in North America and the PRC. Mr. Ho also has
expertise in carbon dioxide capture and sequestration and the related various
applications.

During the past 15 years, Mr. Ho has been actively participating in the PRC
and international oil and gas industries and acting as the chief technology
transfer officer for various companies from North America. He also has
lectured various oil and gas development technology seminars including
thermal recovery, miscible flood, chemical flood, reservoir simulation, coalbed
methane exploration and development and many others in the PRC and
overseas.

Mr. Ho is the first person to initiate carbon dioxide capture and sequestration
in enhancing coalbed methane production in the PRC and bridge the
two governments, of the PRC and Canada in the ever first international
cooperation on this type of project in the PRC. The experimental project
has been conducted for more than 6 years (2001-2007) and successfully
implemented its first phase pilot with exceptional results. Mr. Ho is the chief
liaison officer for Canada and technical simulation expert in this project and
works closely with the executor China United Coalbed Methane Corporation of
the PRC and Alberta Research Council consortium.

Mr. Ho graduated with a Bachelor of Science degree in Chemical Engineering
from the University of Ottawa in 1979.

Mr. Ho is a member of the Association of Professional Engineer, Geologist
& Geophysicist of Alberta, Canada; and a member of Society of Petroleum
Engineer in the US.

Mr. Ken SINCLAIR

Joined the Group in February 2011 and was appointed as non executive
director of Multi Century Technology Development Limited on 9 February
2011. Mr. Sinclair is principally responsible for providing strategic planning
and technical advice to the group in overall CBM/Shale Gas development
directive. Mr. Sinclair has over 31 years of oil and gas experience in
over twenty countries and has advised numerous companies in areas of
research, exploration and development of unconventional and conventional
resources throughout the world. Mr. Sinclair is currently the President of a
newly formed private company KENGAS INC. which focuses on Western
Canada’s conventional and unconventional gas opportunities. Previously,
Mr. Sinclair founded Canadian Spirit Resources Inc., a public company who
raised Canadian Dollar 48 million for unconventional gas exploration and
development.

In Canada, Mr. Sinclair led the way in unconventional gas industry in the late
eighties and nineties and he developed and chaired the Canadian Coalbed
Methane Forum, a consortium that started with 13 companies and continues
today with over 150 members under the Canadian Society of Unconventional
Gas banner. The consortium’s main goal was to transfer technologies
within the group that would have companies having an advantage over
others outside of the group. This was accomplished by the biggest yearly
conferences in 2004, 2005, and 2006 in North America.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and its
shareholders. The principles of corporate governance adopted by the
Company enhance board practices, internal controls, transparency and
accountability to the Company’s shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Company had applied and
complied with all code provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance
Practises (the “Old Code”) as set out in the former Appendix 14 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

With respect to the recent changes to the Listing Rules on corporate
governance, the board of directors (the “Board”) has updated or established
various policies and procedures and the committees have updated their terms
of reference in compliance with the new Corporate Governance Code (the
“New Code”).

The Board has taken up the new corporate governance function stipulated in
the New Code and has included such function in its terms of reference. The
Board has reviewed the compliance status of the Company with both Old
Code and the New Code.

The Board will review the corporate governance practices and procedures
from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board
considers appropriate.

We have summarised the corporate governance practices and procedures
adopted by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2012 as below:

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD”)

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises a total of six directors,
including three executive directors and three INEDs. One of the INEDs has the
relevant accounting and related financial management expertise as required
by the Listing Rules. The names of the directors by category are as follows:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

Biographical details of each director are set out under the Directors and
Senior Management Profiles section on pages 13 to 15 of this annual report.
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Each of the executive directors has respectively entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial term of three years but is subject to
retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-election.

All of the independent non-executive directors have no fixed term of
appointment, but are subject to retirement by rotation and is eligible for re-
election.

None of the directors has any financial, business, family or other material or
relevant relationships among members of the Board.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all INEDs meet the independence rules and continues to
consider each of them to be independent.

The Board, as led by the Chairman and the Vice Chairman, is collectively
responsible for the set up of the Group’s overall strategies, operating and
financial policies, approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation
of the performance of the Company’s business, and oversight of the
management team. The management team is responsible for the day-to-day
operations of the Group under the supervision of the Managing Director.

TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

All directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Any new
appointed director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory regulatory obligations of a director of a listed
company. The Group also provides briefings and other training to develop
and refresh the directors’ knowledge and skills as well as responsible for
funding of the training. The Group continuously updates directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices, circulars or guidance notes are issued to
directors and senior management where appropriate, to ensure awareness of
best corporate governance practices.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
potential legal actions against its directors and officers.
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CHAIRMAN, VICE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of the Chairman, Vice Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer
are held by separate individuals with a view to maintaining an effective
segregation of duties regarding the management of the Board and the day-to-
day management of the Group’s businesses.

The Chairman and the Vice Chairman lead the Board and oversees the
functioning of the Board to ensure that the Board acts in the best interests
of the Company and its shareholders, and Board meetings are planned and
conducted effectively. The Chairman is primarily responsible for the approval
of the agenda prepared by the Company Secretary for each Board meeting,
and taking into account, where appropriate, matters proposed by members
of the Board and including them in the agenda. With the support of the
Vice Chairman, other executive directors and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman seeks to ensure that all directors are properly briefed on issues
arising at Board meetings and receive sufficient and reliable information
in a timely manner before the Board meetings. The Chairman and the Vice
Chairman also actively encourage directors to engage in the Board’s affairs
and make contribution to the Board’s decisions.

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Group’s businesses, the formation and implementation of operating
and financial policies among the Group and accountability to the Board for
all the Group’s operations. The Chief Executive Officer together with the
management team ensure that the Company’s business plans are consistent
with the strategies and objectives established by the Board. In addition,
the Chief Executive Officer ensures that the Company meets its funding
requirements and closely monitors the operating and financial results
against the Company’s business plans and budgets, and takes remedial
actions if necessary. The Chief Executive Officer is also responsible for the
establishment and maintenance of an effective management team to assist
him in the day-to-day management of the Group’s businesses.

BOARD PRACTICES

Regular Board meetings are scheduled in advance to give all directors an
opportunity to attend in person. Ten regular Board meetings had been held
during the year ended 31 March 2012. Each of the directors has full access
to information of the Company and has access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary in respect of compliance with board procedures
and all applicable rules and regulations. Each of the directors may also take
independent professional advice at the Company’s expense, if necessary,
in accordance with the approved procedures. The minutes of the Board are
prepared by the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered
by the Board and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
members of the Board or dissenting views expressed.
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The Board held 10 meetings during the year ended 31 March 2012 and the
attendance record of each member of the Board is set out below:

EEENBE T —_F=ZA=1+—BLFEREST
TI0OREH ESFERNESZHFEIHNOT

Attendance of
Board meetings

Directors in Attendance
2011/2012 Rate
RZB——%/
——ERHE
Et 3 0 1 PN &
Executive directors BITEE
Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman) Bzt (£5F) 5/10 50%
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) BlELE (BER) 10/10 100%
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer) HImEEE ((THAR) 10/10 100%
Independent non-executive directors BIUERTES
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bk ELE 6/10 60%
Mr. Lam Williamson MEEEE 3/10 30%
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen HEREELE 7/10 70%

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

In accordance with article 86(3) of the Articles, any director appointed by the
Board to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by Shareholders
at the first general meeting of the Company. In accordance with articles 87(1)
of the Articles, every director (including those appointed for a specific term
or holding office as Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director of the
Company) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years.

Under the Old Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for specific
terms, subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
Directors have no set term of office but are subject to retirement by rotation at
annual general meetings of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
articles of association.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS (THE
“MODEL CODE”)

The Company adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions as set out in the Model Code in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
on the terms no less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2012. After having made specific
enquiry to all directors of the Company, the directors are of the opinion that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code and
its code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions throughout the
year ended 31 March 2012.
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ACCOUNTABILITY

The following statement, which sets out the responsibilities of the directors
in relation to the financial statements, should be read in conjunction with, but
distinguished from, the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 46 to 159 of
the annual report which acknowledges their reporting responsibilities as the
external auditors of the Company:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Annual and Interim Reports and Financial Statements
The directors acknowledge their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for each financial year
which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at the year end and of the Group’s profit or loss and
cash flow for the year then ended.

Accounting Policies

In preparing the financial statements for each financial year, the directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies and apart from those
new and amended accounting policies as disclosed in the notes to
the financial statements, have applied them consistently with previous
financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been made that are
prudent and reasonable.

Accounting Records

The directors are responsible for ensuring that the Group keeps
accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy the
financial position of the Group and enable the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the HKICPA, accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and applicable disclosure provisions of the
Listing Rules.

Safeguarding Assets

The directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary
steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect
fraud and other irregularities.

Going Concern

The directors, having made specific enquiries, consider that the Group
has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements of the
Company and of the Group.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)
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BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established
the following Board Committees to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. A majority of the members of each of these Committees
is INEDs. Each of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Committee is
governed by its respective terms of reference.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The primary duties of the audit committee are to make recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and removal of external auditors, review the
financial statements and material advice in respect of financial reporting, and
oversee the internal control procedures of the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises the three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Lam
Williamson and the other two members of the Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing
Keung, Raymond and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee is based on “A Guide for the
Formation of an Audit Committee” and updated by “A Guide for Effective
Audit Committees” as issued by the HKICPA (previously known as the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants) in December 1997 and in February 2002
respectively. It sets out the powers and duties of the Audit Committee,
which includes those as set out in code provisions C.3.3(a) to (n) of the Old
Code and New Code, and is reviewed by the Board from time to time. The
Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference
which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.

The Audit Committee meets regularly with the management and the external
auditors of the Company and reviews matters relating to audit, accounting
and financial statements as well as internal control, risk evaluation and general
compliance of the Group, and reports directly to the Board. It reviews the
external auditors about their independence and objectivity and holds meetings
with, the external auditors to discuss the nature and scope of audit and
reporting obligations and also makes recommendations to the Board on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditors.
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The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March 2012
and the attendance record of each Audit Committee member is set out below:

Independent non-executive directors WIUFRITEE
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BR K 58 e
Mr. Lam Williamson MEELEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEERELE

The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year end 31
March 2012 is summarised below:

(i) Review of Financial Statements

The Audit Committee met and held discussions with the Group’s external
auditors and senior management, and reviewed the draft annual report
and financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2012 and interim
report and financial statements for the six months ended 30 September
2011 before making recommendations for the Board’s approval. It
reviewed and discussed the management’s reports and representations
with a view to ensuring that the Group’s consolidated financial
statements are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the applicable disclosure
requirements of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules.

(i) Review of the Company’s financial controls, risk

management and internal control systems

The Audit Committee reviewed the process by which the Group
evaluated its control environment and its risk assessment process, and
the way in which business and control risks were managed. It made
recommendations to the Board about the effectiveness of internal control
systems in the Group’s business operations. These controls and systems
allowed the Board to monitor the Company’s overall financial position
and to protect its assets.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two INEDs and one executive
director, chaired by Mr. Lam Williamson and the other two members of the
Committee are Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung.

The Remuneration Committee’s major responsibilities include the review of the
Company’s policy and structure for all remuneration of directors and senior
management and the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure
for developing policy on such remuneration, and the review and approval
of performance-based remuneration by reference to corporate goals and
objectives.

In addition, it has responsibility for reviewing and making appropriate
recommendations on the remuneration policy to the Board, as well as
reviewing and making recommendations on the Group’s share option
scheme, bonus structure, provident fund and other compensation - related
issues. The Committee shall consult with the Chairman on its proposals
and recommendations, and has access to professional advice if deemed
necessary. The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms
of reference which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the
Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee did not hold any meeting during the year ended
31 March 2012.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs, chaired by Mr. Cheng
Wing Keung, Raymond and the other two members of the Committee are Mr.
Lam Williamson and Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen.

The Nomination Committee’s major responsibilities include:

(i) to review of the structure, size and composition of the Company’s
Board of Directors including, inter alia, the skills, knowledge, integrity,
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industry;

(i)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and
make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship;

(i) to assess the independence of independent non-executive directors; and

(iv) to make recommendations to the Board on relevant matters relating to
the appointment or reappointment of directors and succession planning
for directors.

The Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of reference

which are publicly available on the website of the Group and the Stock
Exchange.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2012.

Directors
BT

Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BRIk GREE
Mr. Lam Williamson mEEEE
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BEERELE

The Nomination Committee has reviewed and discussed (1) the prevailing
structure, size and composition of the Board; (2) the independence of
the INEDs; and (3) nomination of directors for re-election at the forth
coming annual general meeting. The Nomination Committee has made
recommendations to the Board.

In selecting a suitable candidate to become a member of the Board, the
Nomination Committee will consider various criteria such as education,
qualification, experience and reputation of such candidate.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Company’s corporate governance functions are carried out by the Board
pursuant to a set of written terms of reference adopted by the Board, which
include:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Group;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees of the Group and the directors;
and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the financial year, the Board reviewed the current changes to corporate
government requirements of the Stock Exchange and current were practices.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND GROUP RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
internal control systems of the Group. The Group’s systems of internal control
include a defined management structure with limits of authority which is
designed to help the achievement of business objectives, safeguard assets
against unauthorised use or disposition, to ensure the maintenance of
proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information
for internal use or for publication, and to ensure compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations. The system is designed to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of
the Group’s objectives.

(i) Organisational Structure
An organisational structure with operating policies and procedures, lines
of responsibility and delegated authority has been established.

(ii) Authority and Control
The relevant executive directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities with regard to key corporate strategy
and policy and contractual commitments.

(iii) Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting
Proper controls are in place for the recording of complete, accurate
and timely accounting and management information. Regular reviews
and audits are carried out to ensure that the preparation of financial
statements is carried out in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, the Group’s accounting policies and applicable
laws and regulations.

(iv) Group Risk Management
The Group has developed and implemented risk mitigation strategies
including the use of insurance to transfer the financial impact of risk
upon directors and senior management.

The Board, has reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s system of
internal control over financial, operational and compliance issues for the
year 2012 and concluded that the Company has set up a sound control
environment and necessary control mechanism to monitor and correct non-
compliance. The Board is satisfied that the Company in 2012 fully complied
with the provisions on internal controls as set out in both Old Code and New
Code.
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng (“HLB”) are currently appointed as the external
auditors of the Company, which provides audit and non-audit services to
the Company. In order to maintain HLB’s independence and objectivity and
the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with the applicable
standards, the Audit Committee, under its terms of reference, holds meetings
with HLB to discuss the nature and scope of their audit and related fees,
and to approve the nature and scope of non-audit services requested by the
Company and related fees.

The nature of audit and non-audit services provided by HLB and fees paid
to HLB (including any entity that is under common control, ownership or
management with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed
third party having knowledge of all relevant information would reasonably
conclude as part of the audit firm nationally or internationally) are set out
below:

SREABE

b 1% 4% By B

RESTMEEM(RFH) REZERER QT 2ZHE
BEE  MARARUZBRIFELBRE - HESHE
FEREAZAETRBEFZBY FERAEXN
EREESTHBREENEEARTERUTWE
BREHERBEUREERER  AERAFQITER
ZHBRBRB 2 HEREENREEER -

BEERHEIRBRIELERE 2MERZN TEE (&
FHESTMBBMZHEES FEREE 2 E A%
B RAEAEBENCEENBEE =AU EEN
ERZSTTMEB 2B ARER D32 EMHEE) 2
BRAWT :

HK$’ 000

Auditors’ remuneration: BB : FExT
- Audit services - ZE R 630
- Tax services — R A5 IR 7% =
— Other services — H AR 300
930

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. In
March 2012, the practice of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. The Audit Committee has recommended
to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for
appointment as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

AFEECZREEREFSTMEBMER  HEHHK
REERREBFASRER BEESMEBAN=
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CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The directors have been informed of the requirement under A.6.5 of the
New Code regarding continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company is responsible for arranging
and funding suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles,
functions and duties of the directors.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining clear, timely and
effective communication with shareholders of the Company and potential
investors. Therefore, the Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of
transparency to ensure the potential investors and the shareholders of the
Company receive accurate, clear and comprehensive and timely information of
the Group by the regulatory publications such as publish financial statements,
results announcements and circulars, press release and new articles, general
meetings and other investment market communications such as roadshows
and media interviews.

The primary platform for publication of all announcements and circulars
made by Company in accordance with applicable regulatory requirements
is through a financial printer who maintains a site for the Company at http://
www.capitalfp.com.hk/eng/index.jsp?co=223&ppage=contents&doc=&date1
=&date2=8&pageno=1. In addition, the Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on its website http://www.sinoresourcesgp.com as an
additional communication channel to the shareholder.

The Board maintain regular dialogues with the institutional investors
and analysts to keep them informed of the Group’s strategy, operations,
management and plans. The directors and the members of various
committees would attend and answer questions raised at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Separate resolutions would be proposed at the
general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

The Chairman of the general meetings of the Company would explain the
procedures for conducting a poll before putting a resolution to vote. The
results of the voting by poll would be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders’ rights to requisite for and convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”)

According to the Articles 58, any one or more shareholders holding not
less than 10 per cent of the paid-up capital of the Company may by written
requisition to require an EGM to be called by the Board or the Company
Secretary of the Company. The Board or the Company Secretary must
proceed to convene an EGM as soon as possible, within 21 days from the
date of deposit of the requisition. The meeting shall be held not later than
2 months after the date of deposit of the requisition. If the Board fail to
convene the EMG as requisitioned by the shareholders within 21 days after
the date of requisition was received, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Shareholders’ rights of procedures for sending enquiries to
the Board and making proposals at shareholders’ meetings
Shareholders have the right to send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board or make proposals at the shareholders’ meeting by addressing
them to the Company Secretary of the Company by mail at the Company’s
correspondence address in Hong Kong or by email to the Company’s official
email address. The Company Secretary forwards all enquiries and proposals
relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions, inquiries and
consumer complaints to the Board.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chow Chi Fai. Details of
the biography of the Company Secretary are set out in the section headed
“Directors & Senior Management Profiles” of this annual report. The Company
Secretary has been informed of the requirement under rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules and his compliance with such requirement for the year ended 31 March
2012.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There had been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 March 2012.
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Report of the Directors

EEZE®RE

The board of directors (the “Board”) submit herewith their report and
the audited financial statements of Sino Resources Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2012.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements. There were no significant changes in the
nature of the Group’s principal activities during the year.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012 are set
out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2012 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 46 to 159.

The directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend (2011: Nil) in
respect of the year to shareholders of the Company.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the

assets and liabilities of the Group:

Report of the Directors

EEEHRG

MERTHEBE

UTAREBECHRz2GREXEREERAEEHE

RESULTS X\
For the year ended 31 March 2012 BE-T-_F=A=1+-HILFE
2012 2011
—Eg—_F —E——F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Bt EE FHET FHET
Turnover =EX 7 136,648 82,368
Cost of sales SHER A& (119,494) (68,612)
Gross profit EF 17,154 13,576
Other revenue H b = 7 3,630 1,450
Other income Hag A 8 5,290 2,668
Other operating expenses Hih & EM X (49,942) (38,110)
Fair value gain on derivative financial fTEemBBEZATERSE
liabilities 30 567 -
Fair value loss on derivative financial assets TTESMEEZ A FEEE 21 (1,673) =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEME ARz W s 39 9 991
Loss from operating activities BEXBER 8 (24,965) (19,245)
Finance costs BhE A AR 9 (15,873) (18,167)
Loss before tax BRRMEE (40,838) (37,412)
Taxation Big 12 2,462 2,228
Loss for the year TEEZER (38,376) (35,184)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax Hth 2@\ (BRR)
Exchange differences on translating BEBMEER 2EHER
foreign operations 242 (46)
Total comprehensive loss XEEZEBGIREHE (BRR)
for the year, net of tax (38,134) (35,230)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) MESISHEE @
2012 2011
—Ee—_%F —E——fF
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
B 5 FHET FHET
Loss attributable to: BERTIHIALZER:
Owners of the Company ELFEBA (34,145) (34,458)
Non-controlling interests FERES (4,231) (726)
(38,376) (35,184)
Total comprehensive loss BERTIIALTZ
attributable to: 2HEGAEE:
Owners of the Company ELFEHEBA (33,915) (34,504)
Non-controlling interests RS (4,219) (726)
(38,134) (35,230)
Loss per share attributable EAFHS AR
to owners of the Company BEESR 15
- Basic —EHK (3) centsiE{l (3) centsiE il
- Diluted — 8 (3) cents# {ll (3) centsiE Al
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) MESITHEE &
As at 31 March
R=B=+—H
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
—E-—F —E-—F ZE-ZF ZETLEFE ZEZEEZNE
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
THET FExT FExT FiExT FET
Assets and liabilities BEHAR
Non-current assets ERBEE 94,209 4,492 1,886 1,234,355 1,030,397
Current assets REEE 148,594 116,459 192,747 159,907 142,012
Current liabilities REBBEE (462,252) (234,889) (362,251) (582,320) (689,400)
Non-current liabilities FERBEE (477) (147,276) (136,002) (204,846) (303,569)
(219,926) (261,214) (303,620) 607,096 179,440
Note: The results of the Group for the two years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 Kl . NEFEBRE-_E——F=HA=+—RAE=ZF—_—&F

March 2012 and its assets and liabilities as at 31 March 2011 and 31 March
2012 are those set out on pages 46 to 159 of the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year and
details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Notes 35 and 37
to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company or any of its subsidiaries had not purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

BORROWINGS

Details of the borrowings of the Group are set out in Notes 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during
the year are set out in Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements and in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2012, the Company did not have any reserves (2011: Nil),
available for cash distribution and/or distribution in specie, calculated in
accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the Cayman Islands,
and no final dividend (2011: Nil) has been proposed out of such reserves
for the year. In accordance with the Companies Law (2003 Revision) of the
Cayman Islands, a company may make distributions to its members out of the
contributed surplus accounts under certain circumstances. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account, in the amount of HK$593,700,000 (2011:
HK$521,531,000) may be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 79% (2011: 28%) of the Group’s turnover for
the year and turnover attributable to the largest customer included therein
amounted to approximately 27% (2011: 13%). Purchases from the Group’s
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 51% (2011: 92%) of the
Group’s cost of sales for the year and the fees paid to the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 33% (2011: 50%) of the Group’s cost of sales for
the year.

None of the directors of the Company, or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group'’s five largest customers or suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report
were:

Executive directors

Ms. Geng Ying (Chairman)

Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Sui Keung (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond

Mr. Lam Williamson

Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen

In accordance with articles 86(3) of the Articles, Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu
Sui Keung will be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Company has received confirmation from each of the INEDs about his
independence pursuant of rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is of
the view that all INEDs meet the independent rules and continues to consider
each of them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 13 to 15 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The executive directors, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui
Keung have entered into service agreements with the Company for an initial
term of three years commencing on 1 August 2009, 15 June 2009 which has
already been renewed for another 3 years and 20 April 2009 which has already
been renewed for another 3 years respectively.

All INEDs have no fixed terms of appointments. No service agreement has
been or will be entered into between the Company and either of the INEDs.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, directors’ remuneration, comprised payments to the directors
of the Company and its subsidiaries in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Group, is as follow:

Report of the Directors

EEZEHRE
EFREAEERZME

AANEERAEEBREEE 2 ME RN FHE
1325 15H °
EEZRBED

BITESUELLT SEBEEERERBETECEHELR
RAFTLIRBEN NSTARP=ZF  2H-ZZNEF

NE—R - ZZZNFARATER(HEEES —E=
FIRZZEZENFOA-TH(RBEEZSE —E=F)

FA o

FREBLFITESHEBEEMEY - NARAHMETS
TEEBYFATESTURBEEH -

BREEN  BREERRBFASLEEEECE
EMBEERQFRTLARAINER-—FRLILMEBR
EH B E CEERERMN 2RBEH -

ESHe

FR ESHS (BEREBAKEEBEMIAFAA
AREMBARSEST ZRE)MNT :

Basic Other  Discretionary MPF
Name of director Fees salaries allowances bonuses  contributions Total
-t 4.3 fig EXHe it ML HEAER Akt
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
THR THER TiER TiER TR TR
2012: —E-CTF:
Executive directors BiTES
Ms. Geng Ying BEzt - 1,000 - 1,208 - 2,208
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) SBEE(FZE) - 3,686 184 3,750 12 7,632
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BRBEE (THEF)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 1,751 - 1,139 12 2,902
Independent non-executive BUERTESR
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond BREEE 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson H28EE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BSELE 107 - - - - 107
407 6,437 184 6,097 24 13,149
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) EEME @
Basic Housing  Discretionary ~ Share-based MPF
Name of director Fees salaries allowances bonuses payment  contributions Total
ETp
1.2 e ExFe RERE R ERAR WREHR &t
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T TR TR TER T TiEn TER
2011: —2——-F
Executive directors BTER
Ms. Geng Ying BEzt - 125 - - 1,813 - 1,938
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) B kL (FLE) - 402 223 130 1,813 12 2,580
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BIRRAE (THAER)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 901 - 64 1,813 12 2,790
Mr. Sun Wei BREE(K-E-F%
(Resigned on 2 August 2010) NNA=AEHE) - 38 - - - 3 41
Independent non-executive BUFUTES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond ~ Bbki& %4 120 - - - 181 - 301
Mr. Lam Williamson MEBRE(K-FE——%
(Appointed on 1 January 2011) —fA-HEZH) 45 - - - 181 - 226
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BREAE(K-F——£
(Appointed on 9 May 2011) ZHNAEZE) - - - - - - -
Dr. Lam Lee G. HREBEL(K-F-F£
(Appointed on 24 November 2010  +—H=FHAEZF
and resigned on 23 March 2011) TK-E-—-%
ZH=FZHEF) 98 - - - 181 - 279
Mr. Lu Xin EREE(K-F-FF
(Retired on 8 October 2010) +ANAERE) 62 - - - - - 62
Mr. Tang Ping Sum BRELE(K=-F——£
(Resigned on 1 January 2011) —-A—-HEE) 90 - - - - - 90
415 1,466 223 194 5,982 27 8,307
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly or indirectly,
in any contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year. Save as disclosed in this report, none of the director has had any
direct or indirect interest in any assets which have been acquired or disposed
of by, or leased to, or which are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or
leased to, any member of the Group during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31 March 2012, none of the directors had
any beneficial interests (including interests or short positions) in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including the interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which will be required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
in that section, or will be required, pursuant to the Model Code in the Listing
Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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Interest in shares/ Number of shares/
Name of Directors Underlying shares Capacity underlying shares held
E=qiE RER HARERHRES {3 FrisRin,HMKR B A
Geng Ying Share options Beneficial owner 13,000,000
Bk& iR AE ERBEREA
Gao Feng (Note 1) Shares Beneficial owner 178,000,000
=& (faE1) (i g} BmBEEA
Shares Interest of a controlled corporation 178,000,000
g BEZESINR Z2ER
Shares options Beneficial owner 13,000,000
iR AE BESBEEA
Chiu Sui Keung Share options Beneficial owner 13,000,000
iz Bk BB BREEA
Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Share options Beneficial owner 1,300,000
15 LR EREAA
Lam Williamson Share options Beneficial owner 1,300,000
meeE IR ERBEAA
Note: Ktat -

1[5

Mr. Gao Feng is beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of

ACE Channel Limited.

1. BigLE4EBEZHEAACE Channel Limitedz 220 2

FRA -
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the share option scheme as set out in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements, at no time during the year was the
Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in Note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, except 1,300,000 share options were
lapsed, no share option was exercised by the Company’s directors and
employees.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Board has approved the adoption of the share award scheme (“Scheme”)
on 11 February 2011 (“Adoption Date”), pursuant to which existing shares
will be purchased by the Bank of East Asia (Trustees) Limited (“Trustee”)
from the market at the cost of the Company and be held in trust for the
relevant selected participants (“Selected Participants”). Selected Participants
may cover any Director (including executive and non-executive Director),
employee, officer, agent, advisor or consultant of the Company and of its
subsidiaries.

The purpose of the Scheme are (i) to recognise the contributions by the
Selected Participants and to give incentives thereto in order to retain them for
the continuing operation and future development of the Group; and (ii) attract
suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

If the Board selects a Director as the Selected Participant, the grant of the
Awarded Shares to the Director may constitute a connected transaction
of the Company. However, since the grant of awarded shares to Director
forms part of the remuneration of the relevant Director under his/her service
contract, such grant of awarded shares is exempted from all the reporting,
announcement and independent Shareholder’s approval requirement under
Rules 14A.31(6) of the Listing Rules.

For the award of Shares to Selected Participants who are connected persons
(excluding Directors), the Company will comply with the relevant provisions of
the Listing Rules in relation to the reporting, announcement and independent
Shareholders approval requirements. However, any grant to any Director
or senior management of the Company must first be approved by the
Remuneration Committee.

Subject to any early termination as may be determined by the Board pursuant
to the rules relating to the Scheme, the Scheme shall be valid and effective for
a term of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date provided that no further
contribution to the Trust shall be made by the Company on or after the 10th
anniversary date of the Adoption Date.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 9 March 2011, the Board approved and transfered HK$5,000,000 to
Trustee. During the year ended 31 March 2012, 10,100,000 shares were
purchased and held by the Trustee, representing approximately 0.62% of the
issued share capital of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, no award shares have been released to
Selected Participants.

PLACING OF NEW SHARES AND WARRANTS

On 28 September 2011, an aggregate of 30,000,000 placing shares (“Placing
Shares”) have been successfully placed by the Company to not less than six
share placees who are third parties independent of and not connected to the
Company and its connected persons, at the placing price of HK$0.36 per
share.

On 28 September 2011, an aggregate of 230,000,000 unlisted warrants
(“Warrants”) at the initial subscription price of HK$0.39 have been successfully
placed by the Company to not less than six warrant placees who are third
parties independent of and not connected to the Company and its connected
persons, at the issue price of HK$0.01 per Warrant. The exercise period
for the Warrants is from 28 September 2011 to 27 September 2014, which
is 36 months from the issue of the Warrants. Assuming the full exercise of
the subscription rights attaching to the Warrants at the subscription price,
it is expected an additional amount of HK$89,700,000 will be raised. The
additional funds will be utilised by the Group for its general working capital
and as funds for future development of the existing business of the Group and
other business when investment opportunities arise.

The aggregate net proceeds from the placing of the 30,000,000 Placing
Shares and the 230,000,000 Warrants at an issue price of HK$0.01 per
warrant were approximately HK$12,533,000.

As at 31 March 2012, no warrantholders have exercised the subscription
rights attached to the Warrants.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND

INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 March 2012, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued

share capital of the Company were recorded in the register of interests

required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

Number of

Name of shareholders Notes shares interested

BEEE &8 MiE #BEERBMHBAE
Mega Wealth Capital Limited 1 100,000,000
(“Mega Wealth”)
Webright Limited (“Webright”) 1 98,000,000
Mr. Hung Chen Richael 1 423,640,000
(“Mr. Hung”)
HHEAE (HEE]D 198,000,000
Mr. Zheng Xue Feng (“Mr. Zheng”) 2 270,000,000
BEWRLE (TEEE])
Toeca National Resources B.V. & 215,200,000
(“Toeca National”)
118,000,000
Ramphastos Investments N.V. 3 215,200,000
(“Ramphastos Investments”)
118,000,000
Boekhoom Marcel Martinus 3 215,200,000
Jacobus Johannes
(“Boekhoom Marcel”) 118,000,000
ACE Channel Limited 4 178,000,000
(“ACE Channel”)
Mr. Gao Feng 4 191,000,000
o1 ik
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Nature of interests

Long positions
BR

Long positions

"R

Long positions
R
Long positions
"R

Long positions

"R

Long positions
L3y
Short positions
A

Long positions
TR
Short positions
RE

Long positions
L5y
Short positions
KA

Long positions
WA

Long positions

"R

FERFEEBEFRURGHARA
THEZHEZ

REZEB-ZHZA=+—-0 KRFAEHTRA%R
UEZTHEBDIERAXAREZZRBEMRME
BeIRAFE 2 EBZETMA :

Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

Capacity capital of the Company
FAFRAERTHER

S1{n BERZHFREENESL

Beneficial owner 6.11%

BREAA

Beneficial owner 5.99%

BERERA

Beneficial owner 25.89%

BREAA

Interest of a controlled corporation 12.10%
BEZEGARZER

Beneficial owner 16.50%
BEREEA

Beneficial owner 13.15%
EREBA

Beneficial owner 7.21%
BEREEA

Interest of a controlled corporation 13.15%
BEZEFARZER

Interest of a controlled corporation 7.21%
BEZEFARZER

Interest of a controlled corporation 13.15%
BEZESARZESR

Interest of a controlled corporation 7.21%
BESEAARzER

Interest of a controlled corporation 10.88%
BEXEFAR 2 ER

Beneficial owner 10.88%

BREAA



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
INTERESTS DISCLOSABLE UNDER THE SFO

(continued)

Name of shareholders
BEEgEEHB

Mr. Mak Wai Chun
(“Ms. Mak”) HaE

Number of

Notes shares interested  Nature of interests

MiE BEESZEABE

118,000,000 Long positions

B8 uL((FLt)) 118,000,000
Mr. Wan Chuen Chung, Joseph 118,000,000 Long positions

(“Mr. Wan”) HE

FREXE(TFEE]D 118,000,000 Long positions
&

Sun Investment Development ) 105,484,000 Long positions
(“Sun Investment”) HE

Mr. Sun Hui (“Mr. Sun”) 5 105,484,000 Long positions

BELE((HREED

"R

Notes:

1.

These 423,640,000 shares include the aggregate of 76,640,000 shares is
beneficially owned by Mr. Hung, a former executive director (Resigned on 1
August 2009), and the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes
as at 30 September 2011 was HK$173,500,000, which can be converted into
347,000,000 ordinary shares at a convertible price of HK$0.5 shares.

Mr. Hung is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital
of Mega Wealth and Webright. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be
interested in the 100,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Mega Wealth and
98,000,000 shares beneficially owned by Webright. Accordingly, Mr. Hung is
deemed to be interested in these 621,640,000 shares under the SFO.

The Company signed a sale and purchase Agreement (“the Agreement”) with
Mr. Zheng on 8 August 2011. Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company will
issue and allot of 270,000,000 consideration shares at the issue price of
HK$0.45 per share to Mr. Zheng at the completion subject to the terms and
conditions of the Agreement in relation to the consideration adjustments.
(Details refer to the Company circular dated on 28 September 2011).

Boekhoom Marcel has the ultimate beneficial interest in the entire issued
share capital of Toeca National and Ramphastos Investments. By virtue of
the SFO, Boekhoom Marcel is deemed to be interested in these 215,200,000
shares beneficially owned by Toeca National.

Mr. Gao is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
ACE Channel. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
178,000,000 shares beneficially owned by ACE Channel.

Mr. Sun is the beneficially interested in the entire issued share capital of
Sun Investment. By virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in the
105,484,000 shares beneficially owned by Sun Investment.

This percentage is calculated based on the existing issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2012.

FERFREEEESFRUR
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Approximate
percentage of
existing issued
ordinary share

Capacity capital of the Company
FAERAERTEER

. S RENZHERANEI L

Interest of a controlled corporation 7.21%

BEXER ARz ER

Interest of Spouse 7.21%

BB ez

Interest of Spouse 7.21%

[l

Interest of a controlled corporation 7.21%

BEXERAR cER

Interest of a controlled corporation 6.45%

BEZEGARZER

Beneficial owner 6.45%

BREEA

MiEE

1.

% %423,640,000 R A BIEHABAIITES R
%4 (R=ZBAEND— A BRE) ﬁ—ﬁﬁz
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&4 B R EAEMega Wealth & Webright 2 258 31T
BARZERZ -REBHFRPERG R AES
100,000,000/% % 98,000,0004% % Bl FHMega Wealth
RWebright BB 2 R0 2w o Bt RIEF
5 R EAE AR - o 5 4 AR 53 72621,640,000/%
Rzt o
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the year, save for the service contracts of the directors, the Company
had not entered into any contract with any individual, firm or body corporate
to manage or administer the whole or any substantial part of any business of
the Company.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

(1)  Unsecured loans from Mr. Hung Chen, Richael, a former executive
director and a substantial shareholder who resigned on 1 August 2009,
under the followings terms:

()  principal amount of HK$3,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

(i)  principal amount of HK$8,000,000, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

(2) On 15 August 2011, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$20,000,000 with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially
owned by Mr. Gao Feng, a director of the Company, is unsecured,
bearing interest at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. 6%) per annum and due on
14 August 2012. The Company has already drawn down a total amount
of HK$1,300,000 as at 31 March 2012.

Save as disclosed above, no contracts of significance, to which the Company,
its holding companies, its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance for the provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

No contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiary
companies and a controlling shareholder of the Company or may compete
with the business of the Group.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Master Project Management Agreement - Continuing
Connected Transactions

On 6 April 2009, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, Pro-Capital
Investments Limited (“Pro-Capital”), entered into a master project
management agreement (“Management Agreement”) with Group Idea
International Limited (“Group Idea”) for a term ending on 5 April 2012.
Notwithstanding Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai and Mr. Javed Igbal Khan had
resigned as executive directors of the Company on 6 April 2009, Mr. Cheung
Shui Kwai and Mr. Javed Idbal Khan shall remain a connected person of the
Company for the 12 months following his resignation under the Listing Rules.
In addition, upon completion of the disposal of Group Idea, Group Idea will
become wholly owned by Mr. Cheung Shui Kwai and Mr. Javed Idbal Khan. As
such, Group Idea will become a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.
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Pursuant to the Management Agreement, Group ldea shall appoint Pro-
Capital or its subsidiaries to provide certain management service from time
to time and Pro-Capital accepts the appointment to provide Group ldea
with such management services for the exhibitions managed by it during
the term. As the project manager, Pro-Capital and/or its subsidiaries shall
provide the management services and procure the provision of such services
to Group lIdea, including but not limited to providing human resources
support; providing advertising, marketing and other promotional support;
managing and overseeing the operation of the exhibition; arranging for
construction, removal and selling of booths; keeping proper books and
records for the exhibition and such other matters as the project manager shall
consider necessary to carry out or perform its duties under the Management
Agreement. Group Idea will share 20% of the revenue in respect of each
exhibition managed by Pro-Capital and/or its subsidiaries. The Board
proposed that the annual cap amounts of the sums of such shared revenue
for the three years ending 31 December 2011 will be HK$38 million, HK$41
million and HK$41 million, respectively. For the year ended 31 December
2011, the transaction amount under Management Agreement is approximately
HK$15,205,000 (2010: HK$15,308,000).

The continuing connected transactions have been reviewed by the INEDs who
have confirmed that the transactions had been entered into:

(a) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company;
(b) on normal commercial terms;
(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the transactions

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole; and

(d) have not exceeded the relevant maximum amount capped in
accordance with the annual caps as set out in the relevant public
announcements.

Hodgson Impey Cheng, the Company’s independent auditors, were engaged
to report on the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance
with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance
“Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Listing Rules” issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Hodgson Impey Cheng
have issued a letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect
of the continuing connected transactions disclosed above by the Group in
accordance with relevant clauses of Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS
So far as the directors were aware, none of the directors or their associates

had any interest in a business that competes or may compete with the
business of the Group.
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COMPLIANCE WITH OLD CODE AND NEW CODE

The Company is committed to ensuring high standards of corporate
governance through the establishment and adoption of good practices
and procedures which are in the best interests of the Company and
its shareholders. The Company has applied the principles and complied with
all code provisions of the Old Code and New Code throughout the year.

COMPLIANCE WITH MODEL CODE

Details of compliance with the Model Code by directors of the Company is
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 16 to 28 of this annual
report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the directors of the Company as at the date of this report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing
Rules.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Details of the composition of the Company’s Audit Committee and the major
work performed by the Committee during the year is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 16 to 28 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The accounts for the year were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng whose
term of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general meeting. In
March 2012, the practice of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng was reorganised as
HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited. The Audit Committee has recommended
to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be nominated for
appointment as the auditors of the Company at the forthcoming annual
general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Geng Ying
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 June 2012
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Independent Auditors’ Report

y e 2 5
HLB B &t w FH A
Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

31/F Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

11 Pedder Street
Central

Hong Kong

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
SINO RESOURCES GROUP LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Sino Resources
Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 159, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. We
conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report
BYZBEHRES

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2012
and of the Group’s loss and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly
prepared in accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY CONCERNING GOING
CONCERN BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(a) in the
consolidated financial statements which indicates that the Group incurred
a net loss of approximately HK$38,376,000 during the year ended 31
March 2012 and, as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$313,658,000 and net liabilities of approximately
HK$219,926,000. These conditions, along with other matters as set forth in
Note 3(a) in the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng
Chartered Accountants
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 June 2012
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

REEZHERRKR

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE

2012 2011
—E—_F —_E——fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 3£ FET FHET
Turnover EEX 7 136,648 82,368
Cost of sales SHE R A (119,494) (68,612)
Gross profit EF 17,154 13,756
Other revenue Hi = 7 3,630 1,450
Other income Hapg A 8 5,290 2,668
Other operating expenses Hit @ X% (49,942) (38,110)
Fair value gain on derivative financial liabilities T4 &®ME &2 A FEK R 30 567 -
Fair value loss on derivative financial assets TEemEEZ AT EEE 21 (1,673) -
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HENE ARzl 39 9 991
Loss from operating activities BEXBER 8 (24,965) (19,245)
Finance costs Rl & B AN 9 (15,873) (18,167)
Loss before tax RBRNEE (40,838) (37,412)
Taxation BE 12 2,462 2,228
Loss for the year *FEEBR (38,376) (35,184)
Other comprehensive income/(loss), Htt2 @ E  (BR)
net of tax (B&#)
Exchange differences on translating BREBIEEXRB 2 ERLEZMA
foreign operations 242 (46)
Total comprehensive loss TEEREEBGIREE (BRR)
for the year, net of tax (38,134) (35,230)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

SEZHERRK

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

2012 2011
—E—-F —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 T#T TER
Loss attributable to: BERTIALZEIR:
Owners of the Company E-XNE RPN (34,145) (34,458)
Non-controlling interests FEEER (4,231) (726)
(38,376) (35,184)
Total comprehensive loss BERTIIALZ
atiributable to: 2EEGIRAHE
Owners of the Company ELFHEBA (33,915) (34,504)
Non-controlling interests JEiERRE D (4,219) (726)
(38,134) (35,230)
Loss per share attributable ERFEB ARG
to owners of the Company BRER 15
— Basic —EK (3) centsi#fll (3) centsiE Al
— Diluted —-#8 (3) centsi# (il (3) centsi#E Al

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

5 B3RO 3R

Goodwill

At 31 March 2012 —Z——F=A=+—H
2012 2011
—E—_"% —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$' 000
i =% THERT THET
Non-current assets FimEEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 16 4,595 2,792
Intangible assets BREE 18 = =
GRS 19 71,689 1,700
Derivative financial assets TEERERE 21 17,924 -
Available-for-sale financial assets JEEESRERE 22 1 -
94,209 4,492
Current assets mEEE
Trade receivables 2 5 EWFIE 23 71,212 22
Deposits, prepayments and Re - AARER
other receivables H fth FE WL R 1B 24 61,532 25,980
Amount due from a director Elh—E{EERE 25 34 78
Deposits with banks BITER 26 10,786 69,159
Cash and cash equivalents BeRBEL£EEER 26 5,030 21,220
148,594 116,459
Less: Current liabilities W RBAR
Trade payables BESEMFIE 27 69,426 =
Accrued liabilities and other payables R EERAEMENRE 28 193,387 169,952
Amounts due to shareholders T REFRIE 29 16,670 14,478
Derivative financial liabilities fTEERERE 30 4,159 -
Borrowings & 31 18,414 33,872
Obligations under finance leases BMEBLNER 32 462 -
Deposits received in advance AWEE - 16,587
Convertible notes RREE 33 157,014 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEREERE 34 2,720 =
462,252 234,889
Net current liabilities RBRREE (313,658) (118,430
BEHEREDAR (219,449)

(113,938)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e B AR O 3R

At 31 March 2012 =ZZ—=F=/F=+—H

2012 2011
—s——f -2 _&
Notes HK$’000 HK$' 000
M 3E FERT FET
Less: Non-current liabilities wcERBRR
Convertible notes R EE 33 - 142,094
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEEE 34 - 5,182
Obligations under finance leases MEHRANEE 32 477 =
477 147,276
Net liabilities AEPE (219,926) (261,214)
Equity attributable to owners FOTBEAABGRS
of the Company
Share capital IR 5 16,365 13,365
Reserves e (233,064) (272,219)
(216,699) (258,854)
Non-controlling interests FRBES (3,227) (2,360)
Total equity Haun (219,926) (261,214)
The consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to 159 were approved and BAZISVECERUBRRER=Z—Z=Fx<A8
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2012 and signed on ZHN\REEEEHERBENE  YATIHALK
its behalf by: REE
Gao Feng Chiu Sui Keung
= g IR 5A
Director Director
EE EE
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEM 2B A G S M MR R — 21D -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
SARRAARERE
Convertible ~ Shares held
Share notes  for share Share Non-
Share  premium  Exchange Accumulated equity award options Sub  controlling Total
capital  account  reserves losses  reserve  scheme reserve total interests equity
ke
THERE  RDHd BB ik
kx BHERE  EREE  RAGR  HGEE  FERG ] it 2 HReR
HK$ 000 HK$"000 HK$ 000 HK$" 000 HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$" 000 HK$000
TEn T TEx TEn TR Thn T Thn T Tin
[Note 36(a))
(H3E36(a))
At 1 April 2010 R=E-FEMA-R 11,138 448713 538 (794,577 30,568 - - [303,620) - [303,620)
Exchange differences on ARGARERERED L
franslation of overseas BEENNRAR
subsidiaries not recognised in ZELER
the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income - - (46) - - - - (46) - (46)
Net income and expense ERREREDZ
recognised directly in equity WARBZ 78 - - (46) - - - - (46) - (46)
Net loss for the year AEEHERE - - - (34,458 - - - 34,458) (726 (35,184)
Tofal comprehensive loss AEEREER
for the year 't - - e (34459 - - - (34504 78 520
Release upon disposal of HENEAARER
subsidiaries (Nofe 39(b) (B239) - - ) - - 3 ; ) _ 1418)
Acquisition of subsidiaries KEHELR
INoe 40} (w40) - - : - ; : : N I
Share options granted BRLBRE - - - - - - 8,366 8,366 = 8,366
Shares purchased for ARGEDTHERRG
share award scheme - - - - - (3.723) - (3.723) - (3.723)
Placing of shares RERR 2227 75,737 - - - - - 77 964 = 77,9684
Share issuing expenses ERHEX - 2,919) - - - - - (2,919) - (2.919)
At 31 March 2011 R=28--%=A=t-A 13365 921,331 74 (829,03)) 30,568 (3,723) 8360 (258,854 (2,360)  [261,214)
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
= 32

REERBE X

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
FLFRFABERE
Convertible ~ Shares held

Share nofes  for share Share Non-
Share  premium  Exchange Accumulated equity award options  Warrant Sub controlling Total
copital ~ account  reserves losses reserve scheme reserve reserve fofol inferests equity
Ef
TRRRE  %Witd BE  EREE 31

Bx RRERE  ERRW  AtER  MEEE KRR L ] it LR
HKE000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'O00  HKF'OO0  HKE'O00  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK§'000  HK$'000
Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin Tin

Note 36(a)
(HiE36[a])

At 1 April 2011, o per above ALR-%--EBA-R 13,365 321,831 74 (629,039) 30,568 (3.723) 8,366 - (258,854) (23600 (261,214
Exchange differences on FNGRETEERRDL

franslaion of overseas BEBHHELE

subsidiaries nof recognised in ZENER

fhe consolidated stofement of

comprehensive income - - 230 - - - - - 20 12 242
Net income and expense ERRERETL

recognised direcly in equity YAREXEE - - %0 - - - - - 20 12 242
Net los fo the year FEEEERE - - S /AT - - - - [y B3I (8374
Tofol comprehensive loss REEREEE

Bt e 85 - i W e - : i B T TV I A
Acquisiton of subsidiares WEhELE

Nl 40 W10 - 3 - : : ) - - R T K
Share opions lapsed BANERE - - - 181 - - (181) - - - -
Shares purchased for ARMERHERERR

share award scheme - - - - - [1,263) - - [1,263) - [1,263)
Placing of shares RERD 300 10,500 - - - - - - 10,800 - 10,800
Considerafion shares RERH 2,700 62,100 - - - - - = 44,800 = 44,800
Share issing expenses BRAET - 431) - - - - - - [#31) - 431)
Placing of warranfs REDRER - - - - - - - 2,300 2,300 - 2,300
Warrans issuing cost ARERRAAK = - - - - - - [136) (136) - 136)
At 31 March 2012 RZg-T§2R=1-A 16365 593,700 0 (062999 0568 (4986 BIBS 2l (66 (27 [299%)
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial BEMY 2 B EB AR S IS SRR BB 2 — 34D o
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Hz—-%

GRERERNER

—F=A=T—HILEFE

2012 2011
=53 —E-——fF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Mt 2 FHET TET
Cash flows from operating activities BEXBZHRERE
Loss before tax BRE A& 18 (40,838) (37,412)
Adjustments for: EHUT R
Finance costs B AR AR 15,873 18,167
Bank interest income RATRI B WA (144) (281)
Reversal of other payables HAth FE S FIB R (5,290) (2,592)
Share options granted 2R B R RE - 8,366
Depreciation of property, plant and M- BER
equipment REZIE 16 662 429
Fair value gain on derivative financial TEcmBBEAFE
liabilities W 2= 30 (567) -
Fair value loss on derivative financial TEemMEEQATE
assets B8 21 1,673 =
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMB ARzl R 39 (9) (991)
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BER
plant and equipment RfEZEE 340 -
Loss on written off of property, MsEM % - BB
plant and machinery kEHEZER 297 55
Operating loss before working capital REEE  RTEE
changes B2y (28,003) (14,259)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables B 5 W IE (8 m) R (69,158) 1,043
Decrease in inventory FERD 5,908 -
(Increase)/decrease in deposits, 7e - BARER
prepayments and other receivables H At FE W skE (48 m) R (5,908) 159,307
Decrease/(increase) in amount Bl —E2EERERLD, (L)
due from a director 44 (78)
Increase in trade payables B 5 A FIRE 55,409 -
Decrease in accrued liabilities 2tEEREMEM
and other payables I (2,261) (46,837)
(Decrease)/increase in deposits FERE Ofd) /i
received in advance (16,587) 14,633
Decrease in deferred revenue IR 3 U 2= R - (32)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KREXE(BA) /EEzRS (60,556) 113,777
Interest received 2WFHE 128 143
Hong Kong profits tax refund EREIFBREHR = 723
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from BEXBZRSE
(W) RABE (60,428) 114,643
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow
mEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Hz—-%

—F=A=1+—HItFE

2012 2011
-5 —E——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt 2 THET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BREEDZRERE
Decrease/(increase) in deposits with banks RITFERZHD (3G n) 58,373 (69,159)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from acquisition WENBARZEE
of subsidiaries G/ FANEEE 40 (4,730) 147
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEYE  BERK (2,461) (935)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWME BERZE
and equipment P8R IE 814 -
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets BERHHESREE (1) -
Net cash outflow from HEWBAREEZ
disposal of subsidiaries REeEREFHE 39 (2) (269)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from REFHZRER/A
mveshng activities () #8E 51,993 (70,216)
Cash flows from financing activities MEETDMZRER
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to EARRR —BESNIE
shareholders and a director i, G A) 1,300 (88,684)
Proceeds from new borrowings BB 2 T8 50T 8,593 10,000
Repayment of borrowings EERERE (28,500) (15,000)
Repayment of obligations under finance lease  EERER N FE (490) =
Interest paid on borrowings BEENFE (32) (6,313)
Payment for purchase of shares RIR 0 BT 3
for share award scheme BERMDZAR (1,263) (3,723)
Proceeds from placing of shares EE R D 2 Fi 15T 10,800 77,964
Share issuing expenses BRMDETHX (431) (2,919)
Proceed from placing of warrants B ERRER 2 PS5 FIE 2,300 —
Warrants |ssumg cost -”HQE%E?%?TEZZ'K (136) =
Net cash outflow from METEZRE
financing activities mHBHE (7,859) (28,675)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash BeRB&FERAE
equivalents (D), 8B (16,294) 15,752
Cash and cash equivalents at FOZBEeREAS
beginning of the year ${EEHH 21,220 5,514
Effect of foreign exchange EFxgncvE
rate chcnges 104 (4¢)
Cash and cash equivalents at end FRZBESRAS
of the year FEEH 5,030 21,220
Analysis of balances of cash and BeRBeFERAE
cash equivalents BERO
Cash and bank balances BHERBITER 5,030 21,220
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial MEM M B A GE R REE Y — 25 o

statements.
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Statement of Financial Position

B 75 AR &

At 31 March 2012 —Z——F=A=+—H
2012 2011
—E—_-F —E——F
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’000
Fff =E THET FET
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries REB AT 2R 17 84,187 30,498
Derivative financial assets TTESHMEE 21 17,924 -
Available-for-sale financial assets AfHEEmEE 22 1 =
102,112 30,498
Current assets e E
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE -~ FBMAFRIERE it B W R IE 24 15,783 14,212
Amount due from a director N —BESRIE 25 34 78
Deposits with banks RITER 26 10,786 39,159
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEEE 26 117 1,324
26,720 54,773
Less: Current liabilities i mEAER
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMENSRIE 28 175,841 162,375
Amounts due to shareholders FEfF BIRERFRIE 29 16,670 14,478
Derivative financial liabilities TTEemEE 30 4,159 =
Borrowings EEN 31 = 33,872
Convertible notes R EE 33 157,014 =
Deferred tax liabilities ELEBBERE 34 2,720 =
356,404 210,725
Net current liabilities RBRAREHE (329,684) (155,952)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHMEBERBRARK (227,572) (125,454)
Less: Non-current liabilities i ERBAR
Convertible notes AR = 33 - 142,094
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 34 - 5,182
- 147,276
Net liabilities ARPE (227,572) (272,730)
Capital and reserves BXRGER
Share capital N 85 16,365 13,365
Reserves R 36(b) (243,937) (286,095)
Total equity an (227,572) (272,730)

The consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to 159 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2012 and signed on

its behalf by:

Gao Feng

= g

Director

EZE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ—=-%

—F=A=1+—HItFE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sino Resources Group Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
registered office of the Company is located at Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company is located at Suvite 2502,
25/F, No. 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are acting as show manager of exhibitions
and trade shows with related ancillary services as well as investing in
unconventional gas business and coal trading business. The principal
activities, other particulars of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the same as the functional currency of the Company and dll
values are rounded to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when
otherwise indicated.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
has issued certain new and revised standards, amendments and
interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) that are mandatory for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 April 2011. The new HKFRSs adopted in the
current year are referred to as new and revised HKFRSs. A summary of
the effect on initial adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs is set out
below.

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2010

HKFRS 1 (Amendments) Limited Exemption from Comparative
HKFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time
Adopters

HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14
(Amendments)

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement

HK(IFRIC) = Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(continued)

The application of the above new HKFRSs had no material effect on
the results and financial positions of the Group for the current or prior
accounting periods have been prepared and presented. Accordingly, no

prior period adjustments has been required.

The Group has not applied in advance the following new and revised

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKAS 1 (Amendments)

HKAS 12 (Amendments)

HKAS 19 (as revised in 2011)
HKAS 27 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2011)

HKAS 32 (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)

HKFRS 1 (Amendments)
HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 7 (Amendments)

HKFRS 9

HKFRS 10
HKFRS 11
HKFRS 12

HKFRS 13
HK(IFRIC) - Int 20

Presentation of ltems of Other
Comprehensive Income®

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Underlying
Assets?

Employee Benefits*

Separate Financial Statements*

Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures*

Financial Instruments: Presentation —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities®

First-time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards —
Severe Hyperinflation and Removal of
Fixed Dates for Firsttime Adopters'

Government Loans*

Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Transfers of Financial Assets!

Financial Instruments: Disclosures —
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities*

Mandatory Effective Date of HKFRS 9
and Transition Disclosures®

Financial Instruments®

Consolidated Financial Statements*
Joint Arrangements*

Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities*

Fair Value Measurement*
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine#
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2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
9 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014
® Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1 of a
comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses on the classification
and measurement of financial assets. Instead of classifying financial assets
into four categories, an entity shall classify financial assets as subsequently
measured at either amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both
the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This aims to
improve and simplify the approach for the classification and measurement
of financial assets compared with the requirements of HKAS 39. The
application of the standard is unlikely to have any material financial
impact on the Group.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all entities
including special purpose entities or structured entities. It includes a
new definition of control which is used to determine which entities are
consolidated. The changes introduced by HKFRS 10 require management
of the Group to exercise significant judgment to determine which entities
are controlled, compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements and HK(SIC) — Int 12 Consolidation
— Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the portion of HKAS
27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements that addresses the
accounting for consolidated financial statements. It also includes the
issues raised in HK(SIC) — Int 12. The application of this new standard is
unlikely to have any material financial impact on the Group.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HK(SIC) — Int
13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers.
It describes the accounting for joint arrangements with joint control. It
addresses only two forms of joint arrangements, i.e. joint operations
and joint ventures, and removes the option to account for joint ventures
using proportionate consolidation. The application of this new standard is
unlikely to have any material financial impact on the Group.
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(continued)

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint
arrangements, associates and structured entities that are previously
included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements,
HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and HKAS 28 Investments in
Associates. It also introduces a number of new disclosure requirements for
these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 as a
result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and HKFRS 12. The Group
expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11, HKFRS 12, and the consequential
amendments to HKAS 27 and HKAS 28 from 1 January 2013.

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single source
of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across
HKFRSs. The standard does not change the circumstances in which the
Group is required to use fair value, but provides guidance on how fair
value should be applied where its use has already been required or
permitted under other HKFRSs. The Group expects to adopt the standard
from 1 January 2013. The application of this new standard is unlikely to

have any material financial impact on the Group.

HKAS 1 (Amendments) change the grouping of items presented in other
comprehensive income. ltems that could be reclassified (or recycled) to
profit or loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or
settlement) would be presented separately from items which will never be
reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the amendments from 1 January
2013. The amendments affect presentation only and have no impact on

the Group's financial position or performance.

For other new and revised HKFRSs which are issued but not yet effective,
the Group is in the process of making an assessment of the impact upon
initial application. The Group is not yet in a position to state whether they
would have a significant impact on the Group's results of operations and

financial position.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable HKFRSs, which is a collective term that includes all
applicable individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”), and Interpretations issued by the HKICPA
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(a) Basis of preparation
The measurement basis used in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements is historical cost except for certain financial
assets and financial liabilities which are carried at fair value.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group in light of the Group’s net loss
of approximately HK$38,376,000 for the year ended 31
March 2012 (2011: HK$35,184,000), the Group’s net current
liabilities and net liabilities of approximately HK$313,658,000
(2011: HK$118,430,000) and HK$219,926,000 (2011:
HK$261,214,000) at 31 March 2012 respectively. In preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the impact of the current and
anticipated future liquidity of the Group and the ability of the
Group to attain profitable and positive cash flows operations in the
immediate and longer term.

In order to strengthen the capital base of the Group and to improve
the Group's liquidity and cash flows in the near foreseeable future,
and to sustain the Group as a going concern, the Company has
entered into a loan facility agreement of up to HK$20,000,000
with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially owned by Mr. Gao Feng,
a director and the substantial shareholder of the Company. The
Company has already drawn down a total amount of approximately
HK$1,300,000 as at 31 March 2012.

On 18 June 2012, the Company signed a subscription agreement
with Growing Around Holdings Limited to issue a convertible notes
(the “CNs”) with a principal amount of HK$15,000,000. The coupon
rate of the CNs is 12% per annum and expired on the second
anniversary of the issue date. The Stock Exchange has already
approved the issuance of CNs on 27 June 2012. The estimated net
proceeds from the issue of the CNs will be used for (i) financing
the capital commitment in connection with the acquisition of Hubei
Tiegang Trading Company Limited (“Tiegang Acquisition”); and (i)
the Group's general working capital purpose.

Moreover, the substantial shareholders of the Company have agreed
to provide continuing financial support to the Group.

In the opinion of the directors, after taking into account of the above
procedures, the Group will have sufficient working capital for its
current requirement. Accordingly, the directors consider that it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a
going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to restate the values of assets to
their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which
might arise and to classify non-current assets and liabilities as current
assets and liabilities respectively. The effects of these potential
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial
statements.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation

(b) FFERBZEE

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities (including special purpose
entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is
achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its
activities.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income/income statement from the effective date of acquisition
and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in
the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance (effective from 1
January 2010 onwards).

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

61

POLICIES (continued)
(b) Basis of consolidation (continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the
Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to
reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received
is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the
Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest in
the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including any
components of other comprehensive income attributable to them), and
(iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest, with any
resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in profit or
loss attributable to the Group. When assets of the subsidiary are
carried at revalued amounts or fair values and the related cumulative
gain or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted
for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained
earnings as specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of
any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition
for subsequent accounting under HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled
entity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)
(c) Business combination (c) EBaH

Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and
measured in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and
HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase
gain.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business combination (continued)
Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010
(continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets
in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair
value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the
recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The
choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction
basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are measured at their
fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
HKFRS.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is
measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that
existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
seftlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at
subsequent reporting dates in accordance with HKAS 39, or HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as
appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the
acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c) Business combination (continued)
Business combinations that took place on or after 1 January 2010
(continued)

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

The policy described above is applied to all business combinations
that take place on or after 1 January 2010.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d) Subsidiaries

(e)

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Company. Control exists
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain
benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting
rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether the Company control another entity.

In the Company’s financial statements, the investments in subsidiaries
that are not classified as held for sale are stated at cost less provision
for impairment losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits
will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be measured
reliably, on the following bases:

(i)  Participation fee income is derived from the letting of exhibition
booths and the provision of decoration facilities for the
exhibition booths, and is recognised when the decoration
facilities are provided and when the shows are held;

(i) Revenue from hotel and travel package services provided is
recognised when the services are rendered;

(iii) Advertising fee income earned from the publication of trade
show and exhibition booklets is recognised when the trade
show and exhibition booklets are published;

(iv) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method.

(v) Sales of coal and other goods is recognised as follows:

-~ the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the coal;

- the Group retains neither continuing managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the coal sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

— it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the Group; and

—  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EX®

POLICIES (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment (f) % BER®H

Building held for own use which are situated on leasehold land,
where the fair value of the building could be measured separately
from the fair value of the leasehold land at the inception of the lease
and all other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at
cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated
residual value, if any, over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

20%
Over the lease terms
20% to 33‘/3%

Plant and equipment
Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment

Fixtures and fittings 20%
Computer equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 20%

The residual values and useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

(g) Goodwiill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any, and is presented
separately in the consolidated statement of financial position.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is indication
that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit on a
pro- rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in profit
or loss in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or
loss on disposal.

(9)
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(h) Intangible assets

E-commerce platform

Acquisition costs of purchasing an E-commerce platform are stated at
cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives.

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite
or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever
there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible
asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at the end of each
reporting period.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment
annually either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such
intangible assets are not amortised. The useful life of an intangible
asset with indefinite useful life is reviewed annually to determine
whether indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not,
the change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to definite is
accounted for on a prospective basis.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEMHREE (W)

POLICIES (continued)
(i) Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the

(i) MBI R
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EEBAENIZAANBREGS2EES

consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition

of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised immediately in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

i Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets that requires delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. The accounting policies adopted in respect of
each category of financial assets are set out below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments other than those financial assets designated as at
fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is
included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. At the end of each reporting period subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables including trade receivables,
other receivables, amount due from a director, deposits with
banks and cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any identified
impairment losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on
financial assets below).
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)
i.  Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as any of the other
categories. At the end of each reporting period subsequent
to initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in
equity, until the financial asset is disposed of or is determined
to be impaired, at which time, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in equity is removed from equity and
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Any impairment losses on available-for-sale financial assets are
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments will
not reverse in subsequent periods. For available-for-sale debt
investments, impairment losses are subsequently reversed if an
increase in the fair value of the investment can be objectively
related to an event occurring after the recognition of the
impairment loss.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at cost less
any identified impairment losses at the end of each reporting
period subsequent to initial recognition. An impairment loss is
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive income
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. The
amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the carrying amount of the asset and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment losses will not reverse in subsequent periods.

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the
financial assets have been impacted.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

(i)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

(ii) default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
(iii) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter

bankruptcy or financial re-organisation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

i

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on
a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for
a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number
of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average credit
period over 180 days, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the
original effective interest rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows
discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in
subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been
recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.  Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
other financial liabilities. The accounting policies adopted in
respect of financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liabilities designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, of which the interest expense is included
in net gains or losses.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade payables, accrued
liabilities and other payables, amounts due to shareholders,
borrowings and obligations under finance leases, are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method.

Convertible notes

Convertible notes issued by the Company that contain both
financial liability and equity components are classified
separately into respective liability and equity components on
initial recognition. On initial recognition, the fair value of the
liability component is determined using the prevailing market
interest rate of similar non-convertible debts. The difference
between the gross proceeds of the issue of the convertible loan
notes and the fair value assigned to the liability component,
representing the embedded call option for the holder to convert
the notes into equity, is included in equity (convertible notes
equity reserve). Transaction costs that relate to the issue of
the convertible notes are allocated to the liability and equity
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i) Financial instruments (continued)

ii.

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Convertible notes (continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the convertible
notes is carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. The equity component, representing by the option
to convert the liability component into ordinary shares of the
Company, will remain in convertible notes reserve until the
embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance
stated in convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium). Where the option remains
unexercised at the expiry date, the balance stated in convertible
loan notes equity reserve will be released to retained profits.
No gain or loss is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income upon conversion or expiration of the
option.

If the conversion option of convertible notes exhibits
characteristics of an embedded derivative, it is separated from
its liability component. On initial recognition,
component of the convertible notes is measured at fair value

the derivative

and presented as part of derivative financial instruments. Any
excess of proceeds over the amount initially recognised as the
derivative component is recognised as the liability component.
Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and
derivative components when the instruments are initially
recognised. The portion of the transaction costs relating to the
liability component is recognised initially as part of the liability.
The portion relating to the derivative component is recognised
immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by
other than a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments are derivative financial
instruments. Warrants classified as derivative financial
instruments are recognised at their fair values at the date
of issue. Changes in fair values in subsequent periods are

recognised through profit or loss.

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled by a fixed
amount of cash for a fixed number of the Company’s own
equity instruments are equity instruments. The net proceeds
received from the issue of warrants is recognised in equity
(warrant reserve). The warrant reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium accounts upon the exercise of
the warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the warrant
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial instruments (continued)
iii.  Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Repurchases of the
Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and deducted
directly in equity.

iv.  Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss
that had been recognised directly in equity is recognised in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid or payable is recognised in consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items of consolidated statement of comprehensive
income that are never taxable or deductible.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability
method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary difference can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill (or negative goodwill) or from the initial
recognition (other than a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor
the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investment in subsidiaries and associates,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2012

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

(k)

(

Taxation (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the liability is settled or the asset realised.
Deferred tax is charged or credited to the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred tax is also
dealt with in equity.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events and it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation,
and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.
Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the
time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the
present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligations.

Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation
arising from past events that is not recognised because it is not
probable that outflow of economic resources will be required or the
amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements. When a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so
that outflow is probable, they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and
whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly within
the control of the Group. A contingent asset is not recognised but is
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an inflow of
economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an
asset is recognised.

(m) Dividends distribution

Final dividend proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the consolidated statement of financial position, until they have
been approved by shareholders in a general meeting. When these
dividends have been approved by the shareholders and declared,

they are recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements.

Interim dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
proposed and declared.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(n) Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date
when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
refranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the seftlement of monetary items,
and on the translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case, such
exchange differences are recognised in equity in the consolidated
financial statements. Exchange differences arising on the
refranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included
in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the
refranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised directly in equity, in which cases, the exchange
differences are also recognised direcily in equity.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong
Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at
the average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates
fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate component
of equity (the translation reserve). Such exchange differences are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the foreign
operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired
arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January
2005 are treated as assefs and liabilities of that foreign operation
and translated af the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EXEHBEREE(E)
POLICIES (continued)
(o) Employee benefits (o) EBEMEH

i Paid leave carried forward

The Group provides paid annual leave to its employees under
their employment contracts on a calendar year basis. Under
certain circumstances, such leave which remains untaken as
at the end of the reporting period is permitted to be carried
forward and utilised by the respective employees in the
following year. No accrual is made at the end of the reporting
period for the expected future cost of such paid leave earned
during the year by the employees and carried forward as the
amount is immaterial.

ii.  Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income as they become payable
in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of
the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s employer
contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operates
in Mainland China are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The contributions are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment

transaction
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme

The fair value of share options and awarded shares granted to
employees in an equity-settled share based payment transaction is
recognised as an employment cost with a corresponding increase
in the employee share-based compensation reserve within equity.
In respect of share options, the fair value is measured at grant date
using the Black Scholes pricing model, taking into account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. In respect of
awarded shares, the fair value is based on the closing price at the
grant date. Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions
before becoming unconditionally entitled to the share options and
awarded shares, the total estimated fair value of the share options
and awarded shares is spread over the vesting period, taking into
account the probability that the share options and awarded shares

will vest.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p) Equity-settled share-based payment
transaction (continued)
Share Options Scheme and Share Award Scheme (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options and awarded
shares that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the statement of comprehensive income for the year of the review,
with a corresponding adjustment to the employee share-based
compensation reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an
expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options and
awarded shares that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
employee share-based compensation reserve).

The equity amount for the share options is recognised in the
employee share-based compensation reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account) or the
option expires (when it is released directly to retained profits).

Shares held for Share Award Scheme

Where the shares of the Company are acquired under the Share
Award Scheme, the consideration paid, including any directly
attributable incremental costs, is presented as “Shares held for Share
Award Scheme” and deducted from total equity.

When the awarded shares are transferred to the awardees upon
vesting, the related weighted average cost of the awarded shares
vested are credited to “Shares held for Share Award Scheme”, and
the related employment costs of the awarded shares vested are
debited to the employee share-based compensation reserve. The
difference between the related weighted average cost and the related
employment costs of the awarded shares is transferred to retained
profits.

Where the Shares held for Share Award Scheme are revoked and
the revoked shares are disposed of, the related gain or loss is
transferred to retained profits, and no gain or loss is recognised in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Where the cash or non-cash dividend distribution is declared in
respect of the shares held for Share Award Scheme, the cash or
fair value of the non-cash dividend is transferred to retained profits,
and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(q) Related party transactions
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group if:

(A)

(B)

(C)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to
the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other

entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to
the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

(vii) A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i)  that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

(1)

(v)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits and shortterm, highly liquid investments which
are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are interests and other costs incurred in connection
with the borrowing of funds. All borrowing costs are charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in
which they are incurred.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets
of the Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if
lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and
reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses
are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are directly
attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised
in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs
(Note 3(s)). Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which they are incurred.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent
rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense
in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating
leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The aggregate
benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense
on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is
more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits
from the leased asset are consumed.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources to, and
assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business
and geographical locations.
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(u) Segment reporting (continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar economic characteristics
and are similar in respect of the nature of products and services, the
nature of production processes, the type of class of customers, the
methods used to distribute the products or provide the services, and
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND

SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, management is
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
The following are the critical judgments, apart from those involving
estimations, that management has made in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions.
Significant judgment is required in determining the worldwide
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises
liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(i) Impairment of assets

The Group tests annually whether the assets have suffered any
impairment. The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating
unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require

the use of assumptions and estimates.

3.

4.
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4.

81

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies
(continued)

(iii) Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group performs annual tests on whether there has impairment
of goodwill in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note
20. The recoverable amounts of cash generating units are determined
based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the
use of estimates and assumptions made by management on the
future operation of the business, pre-tax discount rates, and other
assumptions underlying the value-in-use calculations.

(iv) Share-based payment

The valuation of the fair value of share options granted requires
judgment in determining the expected volatility of the share price, the
dividends expected on the shares, the risk free interest rate during
the life of the options and the number of share options that are
expected to become exercisable, details of which are set in Note 37
to the consolidated financial statements. Where the actual outcome
of the number of exercisable options is different from the previously
estimated number of exercisable options, such difference will have
impact on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the
subsequent remaining vesting period of the relevant share options.

(v)  Estimated impairment of trade receivables

When there is objective evidence of impairment loss, the Group takes
into consideration the estimation of future cash flows. The amount
of the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate |i.e.
the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition). Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, impairment loss
may arise. As at 31 March 2012, the carrying amount of trade
receivables is approximately HK$71,212,000 (2011: HK$22,000).

(vi) Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses
its judgment to select a variety of methods and make assumptions that
are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each
reporting period.

(vii] Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with HKAS 16, the Group estimates the useful lives of
property, plant and equipment in order to determine the amount of
depreciation expenses to be recorded. The useful lives are estimated
at the time the asset is acquired based on historical experience, the
expected usage, wear and tear of the assets, as well as technical
obsolescence arising from changes in the market demands or service
output of the assets. The Group also perform annual reviews on
whether the assumptions made on useful lives continue to be valid.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2012

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include borrowings and cash

and cash equivalents. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed

in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial instruments

and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The

management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate

measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

(i)

Foreign currency risk

The Group operates mainly in the People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) and Hong Kong and majority of transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”).
The Group is exposed to limited foreign exchange risk as most assets
and liabilities are denominated in HK$ and RMB. Therefore the
Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from the assets
and liabilities which are demoninated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entity to which related. The conversion of
RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the rules and regulations of
foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government. The
Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency assets and liabilities. The Group will
monitor its foreign currency exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated

B AR MY EE
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FEBCTEVRTABEEEURRERERT
EER o REMBTACHBEIREEMERE -
EZEUBET AR zARRNMABREZSR
BrBRERTX EEESEERERZRZEEA
B UBERARKEERBETEE R -

h 15 M bR

(i)

S EE JL
FEBIEATEREBLEXELK B
BORXZUEBT (BT RARE (AR
BDEE -HRABLEEREBRUE
TRARETE  AEBEH 2 NERARE
PR o Hit - ANEBEE LZE R 25
EBMUNCEREECEEREEEEZ
SNERE o ARE ZIRBINEAETPEIK
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monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of the reporting REMEEIREENT :
period are as follows:
31 March 31 March
2012 2011
—E—CF —E——F
=B=+—H A==
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTHExT FE T
Assets BE
RMB AR - 868
Liabilities &f&
RMB AR - 237
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. i
Financial risk management objectives and 7 ]
policies (continued)
Market risk (continued) #H
(il Foreign currency risk (continued) (i)

Sensitivity analysis on foreign currency risk management

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
and decrease in HK$ against the relevant foreign currencies.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items, and adjusts their
translation at the year end for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A negative number below indicates a decrease in profit where
the Hong Kong dollars strengthen 5% against the relevant currency.
For a 5% weakening of the Hong Kong dollars against the relevant
currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit
and balances below would be positive.

HGREEE (#|)
LCRARETEARRBE (W)

% W PR (8)
SHEE R (4E)
SMNE [ P B 2 BURE DA
TREJNAEBEB BT L EEMNE A ERE
BS%ZBRBRE AABEZEBEASHE
SMNERE R PIERA 2 BURE L R /5% » H
REBBIMTRSELR CEXRSE - &
RESTEEEREE ZIIEFEERE
B YEHARENFREZBETER LFEH
5% FAEE o T Xz 8 B i 8 T AR
E M THES B R 2 5 A B o i 78 T
REBAEMEES% A SEHEMERA
B2EREE  MTHZEREDBESR -

31 March 31 March
2012 2011
-z -z
=A=+—H EBET=[
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TH#T FTET
Impact of RMB AR 288
Profit or loss (note) % sk 5 18 (BT EE) - 32
Note: o=

This is mainly atfributable to the exposure outstanding on receivables and
payables denominated in respective currencies at the year end.

(ii)  Price risk (ii)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any

financial assets which are measured at fair value. The Group does
not have significant exposure to price risk.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

(iii)

Interest rate risk

The Group's cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable
rate borrowings. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at
floating rate of interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of HSBC prime rate arising from the
Group’s Hong Kong dollar denominated borrowings.

Sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk management

No sensitivity analysis on interest rate risk for the year ended
31 March 2012 because there is no borrowings bear interest at
variable-rate for the year.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for derivatives and non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole year. A 50
basis points increase or decrease in HSBC prime rate is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all other
variable were held constant, the Group's:

e  post tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2011 would
decrease/increase by HK$143,000. This is mainly attributable
to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate
borrowings.
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3.

#H7=m—F
BE—=

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2012, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount
of the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

—F=A=1+—HIFE

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts. In this regards, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade or other
receivables. The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk. The
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The credit risk on liquid funds in limited because the counterparties are
banks which are reputable in the opinion of management.

Liquidity risk

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash and cash
equivalents, monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The liquidity risk is under continuous monitoring by management. Reports
with maturity dates of borrowings and thus the liquidity requirement are
provided to management for review periodically. Management will raise
or refinance bank borrowings whenever necessary.

The table below analyses the Group’s financial liabilities that will be
settled into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period
at the end of the reporting period to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts disclosed in the table are based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, as follows:

5.

MEREETE (&)
MBERBREDRHRRBR (W)

{5 & W B2

REZEB-—Z-F=A=+—H BEXSZH5RE
TEEMAUAAEEFRUBBREZARERK
EERR  DREGSMBRTRASSECHE
RUBEEZIREE -

REEERREERE AEEZEREITERE
EftERAMEERF  URARKINRETDHE
WaER -BUMS  ARAAESRR/AEE

ZEERBE KERE -

FEBZEERABRIEHE S REMERRIRE
FoAEBYREREEETRAR - AEESHE
BEETEH2EFERR -

RBELEHABRER  FEAEEERAYS
BEBEZHT

i B W & W B
AEEBBERARRSRBITEL  BERR
REBRRSHE URREHBEERERZE
HEBEE BLEERDESER -

EREREEERDESRR BHECGEIHA
RAERBESTERZBESEHREEBRRU
HER o  NER EEESENRTEERHE
ETHRE -

TRETAEBEEEE 2 HBEE - LIREME
REIBARN  BRERREHTEBAEZSNEHA
ZHRGHEETON - RAKBEZSBEREEYN
ERNBANREE  HBOT -

The Group At 31 March 2012
350 RZE-Z£=B=+-H
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest less than 1to3 3 months 1 year than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1year  to 5 years 5years  cashflow  amount
migFy BEXE HRER
ERFIE% —-fEARK —E=fAf Z=[ERE-% —-£ERF BRLE ReR dkmEE
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
THEL TR TR TR T TR TR
Non-derivative FiTEMBAR
financial liabilities
Trade payables ECL eSS - 10,741 2,769 55,916 - - 69,426 69,426
Accrued liabilities Rt EERA M
and other payables A - 174,863 - - - - 174,863 174,863
Amounts due fo shareholders BT RRFHIE 6.9 15,358 - 1,341 - - 16,699 16,670
Borrowings & 8.5 - - 19,531 - - 19,531 18,414
Obligations under finance MERNER
leases 1.7 41 81 368 490 - 980 939
Convertible notes TEREE 10.5 - - 173,500 - - 173,500 157,014
Total @t 201,003 2,850 250,656 490 - 454,999 437,326
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERARERE (#)
Financial risk management objectives and HERBEEAEREE (8)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) REES MBS ()
The Group At 31 March 2011
350 RZ8-——%ZA=+-8
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest less than 1to3 3 months 1 year than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1year  to 5 years 5years  cashflow  amount
mEEY EEXE BRET
ER#E% —fEAR —-E=fER ZERE-¥ —FELF BénF BaR AREE
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$ 000 HK$' 000
TER TER TR TR TER TR TER
Non-derivative FHEMBRR
financial liabilities
Accrued liabilities 2 BEREMY
and other payables EfHE - 169,952 = = = = 169,952 169,952
Amounts due fo EfRRR
shareholders HE 8.0 14,478 - - - - 14,478 14,478
Borrowings & 1.5 33,872 - - - - 33,872 33,872
Convertible notes TRREE 10.5 = = = 173,500 = 173,500 142,094
Total a5t 218,302 - - 173,500 - 391,802 360,396
The Company At 31 March 2012
307 RZ2-ZF=A=+-H
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest less than 1to3 3 months 1 year to than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1 year 5 years 5years  cashflow  amount
mEEY BEXE P E
ER#2% —EAM —Ezfif Z@AE-% —-E£ELF BaLF Rék  #BEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TER TAR TAR TR TAR TER
Non-derivative financial FiEemesE
liabilities
Accrued liabilities and ZitEERH
other payables FEf 78 - 162,980 - - - - 162,980 162,980
Amounts due fo shareholders T IRRFE 6.9 15,358 - 1,341 - - 16,699 16,670
Convertible nofes TRREE 10.5 - - 173,500 - - 173,500 157,014
178,338 - 174,841 - - 353,179 336,664
The Company At 31 March 2011
F4F N=8——%=A=1+-H
Weighted
average On demand
effective or Between Between Between More Total Total
interest  less than 1to3 3 months 1 year to than undiscounted  carrying
rate % 1 month months to 1 year 5 years 5 years cash flow amount
mEEY BEXE P E
ER#12% —ERA —-E-fif Z@AE-¥ —-£E1F BaLF RéiR AGEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Non-derivative financial FirEemet
liabilities
Accrued liabilities and Zit8ERE
other payables Ef5E - 159,646 = = = = 159,646 159,646
Amounts due to shareholders  FE{YIRRFIE 8.0 14,478 - - - - 14,478 14,478
Borrowings &8 15 33,872 - - - - 33,872 33,872
Convertible notes TRREE 10.5 - - - 173,500 - 173,500 142,094
207,996 - - 173,500 - 381,496 350,090
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 5. MERARERE(#)

Fair value of financial instruments MEBEIARZALAFE

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as BREERBEEZAFERUTARNERE :

follows:

e the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (including o BEEEGRRGY  TRRBEFRBMEE
derivative instruments) with standard terms and conditions and traded BB EERMBAGB (BEMETR)
on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted ZAFE NARSERBEARBEHRE
market bid prices and ask prices respectively; and BEE R

e the fair value of other financial assets and financial liabilities e HMMBEERMBEMGE(BETEIAR)
(including derivative instruments) are determined in accordance ZAFE > DRBEAREERN - WIRITR
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash REREBDN  RAEABA ZTBRRE
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market TSR ZERIEBRTE - sHEAE
transaction as input. For an option-based derivative, the fair value is EZHTETEMS » AFEDFAHEEE
estimated using option pricing model. B A5 o

Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider that the BRT R RARESRAE  RESTH

carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in BERCBRZYBEERVEEE2RMERE D

the consolidated financial statements approximate to their fair values. FEMEE -

At 31 March 2012 At 31 March 2011
R-E—Z-F=A=+—H R=Z——%=A=+—H
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
R (B DFEE BREIE DNFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
FHET FHET FET FHET

Financial liabilities MBAR

Convertible notes (Note) IR Z 5 (KAL) 157,014 159,506 142,094 155,514

Note: it -

The fair value of the liability component of convertible notes is determined ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁz’R?Eﬂﬁ%ﬂg?ﬁ?ﬁ@ﬁ'ﬁ

assuming no redemption will be occurred and using a 11% interest rate with Eﬁ;ﬂﬁ%‘%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁﬁﬁl&ﬁaﬁfm 1%

reference to the Hong Kong Exchange Fund Notes yields. Rt E -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of
financial position

The following provides an analysis of financial instruments that are
measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, grouped into
Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable:

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices
(unadijusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other
than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices); and

- level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not
based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

5. MERBER (#)
MEBEIRZAFEGHE)
REGE BN IFAERZ R FHTE

o DREAFEZIBERESIRE —E5
e

- E-RLTVEFEDEHEREEREEBE
RIS ZRE CRERR) B

- FIRAVEFEMEE-RAEBEUIS
ZAUBZEERNEEHEEE (BER) R
B (BRBER)FH 0 R

- BZRLATVEAEHRABEHAFUTERED
SHE (FUEEHE) AER2EEHR
BHE 2 AERMEE -

As at 31 March 2012
N _E—_F=A=+—H

Level 1 Level 2 level 3 Total
£—8 E_® E=® Mt
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FBT FET FET FET
Financial assets SREE
Derivative financial assets f#TE£E£@EE - = 17,924 17,924
Total et - - 17,924 17,924
Financial liabilities SRER
Derivative financial TTESRERE
liabilities = = 4,159 4,159
Total #at - - 4,159 4,159
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) S.

Fair value of financial instruments (continued)

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 in the current year.

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets and

MEREETE (&)
MEBEIRZAFEGHE)
RAFE  F-REAF_FoBALEGE -

THEEREEE=RATEFEZHIR

liabilities
Derivative Derivative
financial financial
assets liabilities
TEEMEE TESMAR
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
FET FET
Balance as at 1 April 2011 R=Z——FWA—-Bz#&eH - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40(a)) W B ffd /& 2 =] (Pt 5£40(a)) 19,597 (4,726)
Fair values (loss)/gain through profit or loss FABRZATE(EE) ke (1,673) 567
Balance as at 31 March 2012 R-ZE-—-—F=ZA=+—HZ&& 17,924 (4,159)

There are no financial instruments that are measured subsequently at fair
values for the year ended 31 March 2011.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts (which includes
amounts due to shareholders, borrowings, obligations under finance leases
and convertible notes), cash and cash equivalents, and equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on an annual
basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is calculated as
either total borrowings divided by total capital or net borrowings divided
by total capital. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

5. MERBER (#)

"HFERETE
AEEERHES  URASEEZBRETE
EEE WEBEEBREREHARN AN

ETRERER - NEB2EERBEFTE
BEEAFHER-

FEBCEAEROERER (HEBERETRER
HoEE REENEARTRRER) HE
RRESEERERAQRAFEEAERGER (HE
FEBRITRARERE) -

FEBESTERIELLEE - FRUBFT 2 —
B AEEESERESKAREHE AR
ZERE -

FEBRAEAEELRERER  BAREER
DBEARFEERNBER - RIBEHTER
REXREBLEMT

31 March 31 March

2012 2011

e —=__

=A=+—H =A=+-—8H

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET TET

Total debt (i) o R ) 193,037 190,444
Less: Cash and cash equivalents W BRERREEHEER (5,030) (21,220)
Net debt R E 188,007 169,224
Equinlil 2 i) (219,926) (261,214)
Net debt to equity ratio R ES L SR N/AFEH N/ATE A
Total debt to equity ratio BERE R N/A%iEHR N/AT &

Notes:

(i)  Total debt comprises amounts due to shareholders, borrowings,
obligations under finance leases and convertible notes as detailed in
Notes 29, 31, 32, 33 respectively.

(i)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

KiaE -

iy #EEEEEMBRRZE S8 BEHNE
ERABRKRER (FEFED A9
31-32K33)

i) MEEEAEEZFEERR R -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the chief operating decision maker for the

—F=A=1+—HIFE

purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group organised into three operating divisions: trade shows and
exhibition operation, unconventional gas business, and coal trading
business. These divisions are the basis on which the Group reports its
segment information.

The three operating and reportable segments under HKFRS 8 are as
follows:

Trade shows and exhibition
operation

Trade shows and exhibition operation
and providing ancillary services in
Hong Kong and the United Kingdom

Unconventional gas business Provision of services in connection
with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment for the
unconventional gas industry

Coal trading business Trading of coal in the PRC

Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segment:

SEHRH
MEREBERREREZERNSEMMELERE
HeEmBRBETERAL KT -

FEESR=FELEDH  RESEL - kER
ERHEDBEREE -

REEEBMBHRELENES  —AEERKRE

DEWMT

BEXK REBRREEPE S R
BEerRESRREMHR
ER®

il

FERRARRES RBREEIBRRAR
HERBRIFEFERRA

RAT B AR R

RxBEXE RAEEERX
SEA R R\
FEBRAREEZARFLMBE D 220
T

2012 2%
Trade shows
and exhibition Unconventional  Coal trading
operation  gas business business  Consolidated
RESES FERAXREES BREERS ReE
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER TER TER TER
Turnover ExE
Turnover from external customers REMAEE2E£5 69,480 - 67,168 136,648
Result £
Segment profit/(loss) 2EEF (FE) 9,788 (8,859) 534 1,463
Unallocated income RABUA 8,197
Unallocated corporate expenses APBEELH (33,528)
Fair value gain on derivative fEERBEEZATERS
financial liabilities - - 567 567
Fair value loss on derivative TEERBEEZATEER
financial assets - - (1,673) (1,673)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—BRE ARz HE - - - 9
Finance costs il & AR (15,873)
Loss before tax BREL A 8 (40,838)
Taxation A 2,462
Loss for the year rEERE (38,376)
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6.

Segment revenues and results (continued)

SHMEHRE)

—F=A=T—HILEFE

S A B R ()

2011 —E——F
Trade shows
and exhibition Unconventional  Coal trading
operation  gas business business  Consolidated
REERH FERAXRERY RREERH we
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TERT TET TER TEx
Turnover ExE
Turnover from external customers RENMAEE2E£5 82,368 = = 82,368
Result £
Segment profit/(loss) FBEF/ (EE) 11,359 (1,485) - 9,874
Unallocated income ROBEA 242
Unallocated corporate expenses ROBMEEE (21,98¢)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HE KB A B 2 W 991 - - 991
Share-based payment DRGBAER 2 HK (8,366)
Finance costs AMERAK (18,167)
Loss before tax BRI 18 (37,412)
Taxation I8 2,228
Loss for the year REEFE (35,184)

Turnover reported above represents revenue generated from external

customers. There were no inter-segment sales in the year (2011: Nil).

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as

the Group's accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment results

represent the profit/(loss) generated by each segment without allocation of

corporate expenses, fair value gain on derivative financial liabilities, fair

value loss on derivative financial assets, gain on disposal of subsidiaries,

share-based payment expenses, finance costs and taxation. This is the

measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of

resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

EXREHRCEXBERBIRETF 2 W - B
FEEANLBEANHEE(ZF——F 1 HF) -

AHRBDMeEtBHREASEWEIMML S
STEBCRAARE - D EREIEARDE AR - T4
EREBEZATEKE  fTEEMEEZ L TE

BB HENBARZWE  UROAER 2
MBI MERARBIEAN S HDEEZHEF,

(BR) - hARNFTELERRERS UL BER
Rt EMRR 2 E -
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<

—F=A=A

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Segment assets and liabilities

BIEFE

SHMEHR &)
SHRERAR

2012 —2——f
Trade shows
and exhibition Unconventional  Coal trading
operation  gas business business  Consolidated
REERY FERAXREARE RREERH we
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TERT TER TER TEx

Assets BE

Segment assets DEEE 2,459 20,210 188,818 211,487

Unallocated corporate assets RABMEEEE 31,316

242,803

Liabilities AR

Segment liabilities PBEE 11,478 708 95,779 107,965

Unallocated corporate liabilities AABMEEEE 354,764

462,729

2011 —E——F

Trade shows
and exhibition Unconventional  Coal trading
operation  gas business business  Consolidated
REERY FERAXREARE RREERH we
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TET TET TER TEx

Assets BE

Segment assets DEHEE 4,953 15,679 = 20,632

Unallocated corporate assets ROBMEEEE 100,319

120,951

Liabilities ffe

Segment liabilities THERE 23,440 496 = 23,936

Unallocated corporate liabilities ROBMEEER 358,229

382,165

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating MEESRMEREAR IO FEEREMS :

resources between segments:

e all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than corporate e REXEBEN MEEEIBRETHED
assets. Goodwill and derivative financial assets are allocated to HoBERTELHEEIBREATRRS
reportable segments; and =t Ay

e all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than e RKROEXEBE EBARRAE BMEHIE

corporate liabilities, amounts due to shareholders, obligations under

finance leases, convertible notes and deferred tax liabilities.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. HWEH ()
Other segment information H fth 5 8B &

Depreciation and
amortisation

Additions to
non-current assets*

hERMS ERBEEZBM*

2012 2011 2012 2011
—=B——f —E——fF —2—Cf —E——F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
TER FET FTHET TR

Trade shows and RESXK
exhibition operation 7 69 - -
Unconventional gas business FERRARFER 83 14 1,297 4
Coal trading business R EEXK 5 - 11 -
Unallocated Ko 567 346 2,553 931
662 429 3,861 935

*

* OERDEEZENTEERE  TEEREE
RAUMtHESREE -

Additions to non-current assets excluding goodwill, derivative financial
assets and available-for-sale financial assets.

ith 1= ¥ ¥

KRB ETELEXEMBURER -BEZZT-—Z-F
ZA=ZT-HLEFE FAREEZELEFTEZUR
EERTE BE—T-——F=B=t+—-HLHF
E AEERETBZUREBRKE - TRE
HEBET S D 2 AEBEXR 2 OMN - AE
ZRER/RBZRR

Geographical information

The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations are
mainly located in Hong Kong and the PRC for the year ended 31 March
2012. The Group's operations are mainly located in Hong Kong and the
United Kingdom for the year end 31 March 2011. The following table
provides an analysis of the Group’s turnover by geographical market,
irrespective of the origin of the goods/services:

Turnover by
geographical market

RUWETSHSZERA
2012 2011
—E—_%F -5
HK$’ 000 HK$" 000
TERT TR
Hong Kong B8 69,480 75,925
UK RE = 6,443
The PRC H 67,168 -
136,648 82,368
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information (continued)

The following is an analysis of the carrying amount of non-current assets
(excluding derivative financial assets and available-for-sale financial
assets) analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are located:

6.

SEHEH (]|

WERHE)

TRAFRDEE (TEFRITESRMERTHH
EEREER) REEMTHED ZHBED I :

Carrying amount
of non-current assets

ERDEEZREE
2012 2011
—z-=% —g—-&
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FT#ET FHE T
Hong Kong i 3,252 2,778
The PRC h 73,032 1,714
76,284 4,492

Information about major customers EREERFRZEH

For the year ended 31 March 2012, included in revenues arising
from trade shows and exhibition operation of HK$69,480,000 (2011:
HK$82,368,000) are revenues of approximately HK$36,881,000 (2011:
HK$10,607,000) and included in revenue arising from coal trading
business of approximately HK$67,168,000 (2011: HK$ Nil) are revenues
of approximately HK$65,897,000 (2011: HK$ Nil) which arose from the
Group's largest three (2011: one) customers.

BE-Z-—F=-A=+—-HLFEE RES%
FEEEAE 2 W A69,480,0008 T (=& ——4F :
82,368,000/ ) BIERBAEBM=ATF (=
Z——F BREF) 2l A#%36,881,000/% T
(ZZ——%:10,607,0008 )  MERESH
ERFREEZWALG7,168,0008T (=T ——
F EBT)EBREREELEEA=ZAZTELPZERAN
65,897,000 T (=T ——F : BB ) °

2012 2011

—E—_"F —E——fF

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

TH#T FHET

Customer A ZEFH 49,240 =
Customer B BEFZ 36,881 10,607
Customer C EFR 16,657 =
Others Hith 33,870 71,761
136,648 82,368
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TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUE

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2012

7.

Turnover represents the aggregate of participation fee income, hotel and
travel package income, advertising fee income and coal sale.

An analysis of the Group’s turnover and other revenue is as follows:

B AR MY EE

BE-2-—F=A=T-AILFE
ERXRTRAMYE
EXPERORNERESRRGZERAN
A EERREEREA - & B R 8
WA Z@H -

FEBzEEEREMBSEIMMT ¢

2012 2011
—g——% —E— %
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FHET FET
Turnover BExm@
Participation fee income ZRBIA 69,445 77,398
Hotel and travel package income B ERREEZERA - 4,392
Advertising fee income BEEERA 35 578
Coal sale HRHE 67,168 =
136,648 82,368
Other revenue Hfth iy &=
Bank interest income $RAT RS WA 144 281
Forfeited deposits received BERERE R ziRE 240 479
Refund of legal and professional fee REGEEREXER 2,799 -
Sundry income RIEWA 447 690
3,630 1,450
Total revenue B 140,278 83,818
LOSS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 8. BERBER
2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#T FTET
The Group’ s loss from operating activities AEEZREEKER
is arrived at after charging: SRR :
Cost of inventory sold eEFERR 66,003 -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M- - BERRKEBEZITE 662 429
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYWE - BEKZE2EE 340 -
Loss on written off of property, plant and equipment #EE# % ~ BE R R E 2 E51E 297 55
Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration BETHA (BREESHWE (F:210))
(Note 10))
— wages and salaries —-IERFS 24,931 15,626
— share-based payment — R4 BER Z AR = 8,366
— refirement benefits scheme contributions — 3B IREE 5t &l 5K 330 606
25,261 24,598
Auditors’ remuneration 2% SAm B &
— current year —ERFE 630 630
— under-provision in previous year —ETFERETR 16 -
646 630
Minimum lease payments under operating lease ErRgeals
rentals of office premises ZRIEBAESR 2,190 2,484
and after crediting: I AEFTA
Other income: Hhlr A -
Exchange differences, net EXREZRFHE = 76
Reversal of other payables HAh fE A FOREE 5,290 2,592
5,290 2,668
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. MERF
2012 2011
—F—_F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
T#T FET
Interests on borrowings wholly ARDLFANBHEEREZFE
repayable within five years 32 2,520
Interests on obligations under finance leases ERLFABHEERE
wholly repayable within five years HABEZFE 29 =
Interests on amounts due to shareholders AREFABHEEEMNKRR
wholly repayable within five years MIEZF B 892 2,145
Imputed interest expense on convertible notes AR RS 2 EER SR
(Note 33) (H3£33) 14,920 13,502
15,873 18,167
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 10.EXEM&
Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2012, disclosed RIBETRAREEDBRRBGIE1611&Z KR E M
pursuant to the Listing Rules and Section 161 of the Hong Kong ARBBE_F - _—F-A=FT-ALFEZE
Companies Ordinance, is as follows: FHEMT :
P ,
Basic Other Discretionary MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances bonuses contributions Total
Eupg g Exfd Hfh 2R RR AL WEEHR &t
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
TR THER TR THAT THET TR
2012: 2-CF:
Executive directors HiTES
Ms. Geng Ying BExt - 1,000 - 1,208 - 2,208
Mr. Gao Feng (Vice-Chairman) REEE(FZE) - 3,686 184 3,750 12 7,632
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung BRBEE (THAH)
(Chief Executive Officer] - 1,751 - 1,139 12 2,902
Independent non-executive BUFMTEE
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Bk %% 120 - - - - 120
Mr. Lam Williamson "2 EEE 180 - - - - 180
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen BRRLE 107 - - - - 107
407 6,437 184 6,097 2% 13,149
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waive any remuneration during the years ended 31 March 2012 and

2011.

During the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, no emoluments were

paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join, or upon

joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office. None of the

directors has waived any emoluments during the year (2011: Nil).

For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE
10. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 10.EFB & (48)
Share-based
Basic Housing  Discretionary payment MPF
Name of director Fees salaries  allowances bonuses UBRE  contributions Total
3.5 fig 23] EERR BT ERZHR HERHR ait
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén Tén T
2011 5%
Executive directors BTES
Ms. Geng Ying HEzt - 125 - - 1813 - 1938
Mr. Gao Feng(Vice-Chaiman) BELE(FZE) - 402 223 130 1,813 12 2,580
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung HERBLL (TREH)
(Chief Executive Officer) - 901 - 64 1813 12 2790
Mr. Sun Wei BRiE
[Resigned on 2 August 2010) (R=E-Z£/ A= &) = 38 > > = 3 4]
Independent non-executive BUFMTES
directors
Mr. Cheng Wing Keung, Raymond Btk 120 - - - 181 - 301
Mr. Lam Williamson H2ERE(H-F--%
(Appointed on 1 January 2011 -A-FEZE) 45 - - - 181 - 226
Mr. Wong Hoi Kuen ERREE(H-F--F
(Appointed on 9 May 2011) BTALREEE) = = = = = = =
Dr. Lam Lee G. HERBL(H-E-8£
[Appointed on 24 November 2010 T-A=THAEES
and resigned on 23 March 2011) IH-8--%
ZAZTZAEH) 98 - - - 181 - 279
Mr. Lu Xin EMAE(H-2-5%
[Retired on 8 October 2010) THNAER) 62 - - - - - 62
Mr. Tang Ping Sum BRRRLE(H-E--£
[Resigned on 1 January 2011) -A-HE#f) 90 - - - - - 90
415 1,466 23 194 5,982 27 8,307
There was no arrangement under which a director waived or agreed to BE-—ZT——HER-ZFE——F=A=t+—HLHE

ENTEZEERRIRAIRREAHMES 225 -

BE-Z—

—ER-_E——E=A=+—H1t

FER  AEBEWESRS| MERRMBRES
B RERBBEEDESIXAMNE - FRILE
EETHREAHE (ZE——F &) -
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

11.FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
The five highest paid employees during the year included three (2011:

N.AEEEHES
FAREBRSH EERE=8(ZF——F: =
F)EE  EMEHBRRESPBHERMTI0

the consolidated financial statements. R o

three) directors. Details of whose remuneration are set out in Note 10 to

The details of the remuneration of the remaining two non-director, highest

HBEMEAFESESFHES - HMEFHOT

paid employees are as follows:

The Group
%M

2012 2011

—E——F —E——F

HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000

THET FHET

Basic salaries and allowances EXRFHe K2R 2,637 1,463
Share-based payment LXHQ@%EWZ'TTE" = 1,841
Rehrement benefits scheme contrlbuhons W?ﬁa Azt E ﬁi\#\ 24 24
2,661 3,328

HENFUTSHEE 2 EEABNT :

The number of employees whose remuneration fell within the following
band is as follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2012 2011
—B—_fF —E——F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 T £2,000,0007% 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001t £1,500,0007% 7T =
Nil to HK$ 1,000, OOO Z#E T £1,000,000% T 1 -
2 2
During the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, no emoluments were BE-_E-——-—ER-=E——E=H=+—H1t
paid by the Group to the non-director, highest paid employees as an FER AEEIEARIMERIAMERES
inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss B S EAMBEEnEESRSHF ES S

of office. )
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE

12. TAXATION 12. 1R\
The Group
3L
2012 2011
—®—_F —E——F
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
T#T THET
Current tax NEABE
- Hong Kong Profits Tax —BEBFNEH - -
— PRC Enterprises Income Tax —HE TSR = -
— Overseas Income Tax —BINREH = =
Deferred tax (Note 34) BEERE — BRI FE (#aE34) (2,462) (2,228)
Tax credit for the year REEBEEK R (2,462) (2,228)
Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2011: 16.5%) on the EBFESHEMAFEMERB ERRBH R
estimated assessable profit for the year. 16.5% (=B ——5F : 16.5%) {EHEHE -
Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) REFBECEMSHE(EEMEH L) RE
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC EEMEC2ERME  B=-=EENE—HF—H
subsidiaries is 25% from 1 January 2008 onwards. B PEMREAR 2 RHER25%
Taxation on overseas profits are calculated on the estimated assessable SN R 2 B IE TR AR E (S SRR R R AR
profit for the year at the rate of taxation prevailing in the countries in EEREEBTERR 2B THEE -

which the Group operates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE
12.TAXATION (continued) 12. 1R 1A (#])
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax per FRARESHRGEEEERRANERFAIEE
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows: HIRMT :
2012
Hong Kong The PRC Total
8 PE e
HK$’ 000 %  HK$’ 000 %  HK$’ 000 %
FET FET FTET
Loss before tax Bt Al &5 18 (36,596) (4,242) (40,838)
Tax at applicable tax rate REABEGE 2HE (6,039) (16.5) (1,060) (25.0) (7,099) (17.4)
Estimated tax effect of expenses FARE TE B 3R B 2 A By
not deductible in determining AR X 2 hEt
taxable profit mEseE 2,738 7.5 2,536 59.8 5,274 12.9
Estimated tax effect of income FARE TE JE SR B A B
not taxable in determining BARBBA 2 &5
taxable profit BgEye (1,450) (4.0) (2,867) (67.6) (4,317) (10.6)
Estimated tax effect of unrecognised ~ KERFIBEEZ
tax losses CRE%s% 3,900 10.7 1,391 32.8 5,291 13.0
Utilisation of tax losses BAMEER (1,611) (4.4) - - (1,611) (3.9)
Tax credit at the Group's BARERAFEZER
effective rate for the year BEAE2HEER (2,462) (6.7) - - (2,462) (6.0)
2011
it b2
Hong Kong The PRC The USA Macau Total
- FE XE A 1
HK$' 000 % HK$' 000 % HK$' 000 % HK$' 000 % HK$' 000 %
TER TR TR TR THET
(Loss)/profit before tax B (B8) /&7 (40,584) (2,092) 4,879 385 (37,412)
Tax at applicable tax rate REAREIE 2 HE (6,696)  (16.9) (523)  (25.0) 732 15.0 45 120 (6,442) (172
Estimated fox effect of expenses B R B R A
not deductible in defermining TR B 2 i 5t
faxable profit nEye 4211 10.4 653 31.2 11 0.2 = - 4,875 13.0
Estimated tax effect of income REEERBEH R
not faxable in determining BARBMA 2 5t
o Hhpe @) (80 (62 743 (52 W) (120 59 [24)
Estimated tox effect of unrecognised KBAFEFE 2
tax losses EEHETE 2,710 6.7 - - - - - - 2710 7.3
Utilisation of fax losses BAREER (2,412) (5.9) - - - - - - 2412 16.5)
Tax credit at the Group's RAEERAEEZER
effective rate for the year RESEZHERS (2,228) (5.4) - - - - - - (2,228 16.0)
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 HZE=Z——-F=/A=+—HItFE

13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS 13. X AF T ABREFTEEER
OF THE COMPANY
The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 BE-Z—-—H=A=+—HLEE KxAFL
March 2012 which has been dealt with in the financial statements of BHEFERPEAADNEEABREREEESBLNAE
the Company amounted to approximately HK$30,912,000 (2011: 30,912,000 5Tt (=& ——F : 74,165,000/
HK$74,165,000). JT) °

14.DIVIDENDS 14.85 8
The directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend in respect of AN AMERBE—_T——F=A=+—HItF
the year ended 31 March 2012 (2011: Nil). EERJFWREMBE(ZZ——F : &) o

15.LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF 15.FAFIHFTAEESRER
THE COMPANY
The calculation of basic loss per share amounts is based on the loss STEERERNEEBREDURQATNEBARE
for the year attributable to owners of the Company of approximately (HEERE 34,145,000 T (=& ——F:
HK$34,145,000 (2011: HK$34,458,000) and the weighted average 34,458,000 T) R F AN BT MEFHH
number of ordinary shares in issue during the year is 1,351,766,302 BERKRE,351,766,302KR (=& — —&F :
(2011: 1,144,892,652). 1,144,892,6528%) 5t & °
Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011 BE-E——_ER-F——F=A=+—HIF
were the same as the basic loss per share. The Company’s outstanding EzERBEEEESRENEIEAR - XA F
consideration shares, warrants, convertible notes and share options were HARTERERD  RRER  TRREZERE
not included in the calculation of diluted loss per share because the effect BRERAEMAGTESRBESEZRN > BALQH
of the Company’s outstanding consideration shares, warrants, convertible EARTERERSD  RREE - AIRREERE
notes and share options were anti-dilutive. REAREETE -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. M% - BE R &R

The Group &M
Furniture Fixtures
Plant and  Leasehold and and Computer Motor
equipment improvements  equipment fittings  equipment vehicles Total
BERRE HEMREE RARERG  KEREH# L1 Ed RE &t
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$* 000
TERL TARL TARL TARL AR TER TERL
Cost: HBEE:
At 1 April 2010 R=Z2-ZEMA-H - 953 365 39 1,256 1,752 4,365
Additions R - 693 242 - - - 935
Writen of s - (319) (207) - (615 . (1.341)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - 239 45 70 137 - 491
At 31 March 2011 R=B--%=p=t-HK
and 1 April 2011 ZE2--5MA-H - 1,566 445 109 578 1,752 4,450
Additions A 992 20 230 75 64 2,480 3,861
Witten off e - (673) 158) (109 (1 . (1,041)
Disposals HE - - - - (215) (1,752) (1,967)
Acquisifion of subsidiaries WENEA R - - 67 - - - 67
Exchange realignment ESAE 11 - 3 1 1 - 16
At 31 March 2012 BWZB-Z%=B=t-H 1,003 713 687 76 427 2,480 5,386
Accumulated depreciation RiFERRE :
and impairment:
At 1 April 2010 R=Z2-ZEMA-H - 953 251 9 1,004 262 2,479
Provided during the year FRER - 70 83 15 84 177 429
Writen of 3 . (319) (200) 767) - (1,286)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEME A E - 17 3 4 12 - 36
At 31 March 2011 R-E--%=A=t-HRK
and 1 April 2011 —E--%MA-A - 721 137 28 333 439 1,658
Provided during the year ERER - 87 97 18 89 371 662
Written off s - (674) (34) (36) - - (744)
Acquisifion of subsidiaries WENE A - - 27 - - - 27
Disposals HE - - - - (204) (609) (813)
Exchange realignment ERAZ - - 1 - - - 1
At 31 March 2012 R=B-Z#=ZA=1-H - 134 228 10 218 201 791
Net book value: IRESE:
At 31 March 2012 RZ8-Z%=A=t+-H 1,003 579 459 66 209 2,279 4,595
At 31 March 2011 R-8-=%=B=1=H - 845 308 81 245 1,313 2,792

The net book value of the Group’s motor vehicle held under finance lease
as at 31 March 2012 was approximately HK$ 1,629,000 (2011: Nil).
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Hz—-%

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

B AR MY EE

—F=A=T—HILEFE

17.REBARZER

The Company

F: 3/
2012 2011
—E—_% —=F—— £
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FHET
Unlisted investments, at cost FEMBE  ERAIE 767,533 697,604
Less: Impairment loss recognised in W RIRERAER Z
respect of investment cost WAEE B (696,421) (696,421)
71,112 1,183
Amounts due from subsidiaries AL NG E e 85,317 123,453
Less: Impairment loss recognised AR R A R
in respect of amounts due from IR 2B EE R
subsidiaries (72,242) (94,138)
84,187 30,498
The amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and EUHMBARREDLDERR RERZRERE

repayable on demand. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Company will not demand repayment within one year from the end of the
reporting period and are therefore considered as non-current.

The carrying amounts of interests in subsidiaries are reduced to the
recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to the estimation
of future cash flows expected to be generated from the respective
subsidiaries.

The carrying amounts of amounts due from subsidiaries are reduced
to their recoverable amounts which are determined by reference to
the estimation of future cash flows expected to be generated from the
respective subsidiaries.

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2012:

Nominal value

B ARNARESRA  ARAHABREHTHEARE
—FRABFEERER  FRARERMBPERF
RBEE °

RMEQ Rz BENREAEREJWERKIE T

SRAHMEMBARELEZMFTRRREREE
F o

FE U Ff 8B X R RROE 2 BRIEMEDR E A B RRIE - T3
SREMBLAAEEZG RRREEREE °

UTBR=B——£=A=+-A2TEWEL
AL :

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

and proportion of

Place of of issued voting power held
incorporation share capital/ FLFEERR
Name and operations paid up capital BRLRFFRFELA
&% gMEIR CEBTRF EME Direct Indirect Principal activities
BEBR BimE HE H# FEEH
Pro-Capital Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Us$50 100 - Investment holding
RBELHS 50% 7T REZR
Wealth Gain Global Investment Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
EERBRREARLT RBEZHE 127 REZER
Sino Talent Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100 Operation company
HEEBERAR BB 187 ZENTF
Kenfair Infernational (Overseas) Limited Hong Kong HK$10 - 100 Organisation of overseas
53 107 exhibitions and trade shows

ERBNREERESRES
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A 7S — T
BEZT

—F=A=A

17.INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name

1]

Kenfair Publications Limited

Bright Top Investment Holdings Limited

Place of
incorporation
and operations

EMmEILR

Hong Kong
Bi#

British Virgin Islands

EeREERERAH RBELHES
Profull Int'l Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands
REEBRERERAF RBELHE
Twinkle Win Limited British Virgin Islands
HBELHES
Sino Giants Group Limited British Virgin Islands
RREZEHE
Multi Century Technology Development Limited Hong Kong
AENRBERERAR EE
Multi Century Engery Technology (Beijing) Limited (i) The PRC
(“MCT (B))") HE
AR BRERRAE (b 3) AR 2 &) (TR H 4 (1 R) )

Wealthy Wing Limited (iii) (“Wealthy Wing")
EXAERD i) TEX])

Western Spark Investments Limited {iii)

FEREHRA (i

British Virgin Islands
EBELHE

Hong Kong
B8

Heilongjiang Derong Coal Industrial Co., Ltd (iii)/(iv) (“Derong”) The PRC

BETERBEERDE i)/ (iv) ([ER )

Notes:

i

BIEFE

17. RIBB ARz ()

Nominal value
of issued

share capital
/paid up capital
RiTRE BRRE
BRFEE

Us$1
127

US$1
127

Us$1
1%

Us$1
[ES5
HK$490
490 7

RMB12,032,288
AK#12,032,2887T

Us$1
1%t

HK$10,000
10,0005 7T

RMB14,400,000
AE#14,400,0007

(i)  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the Group. To
give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors,

result in particulars of excessive lengths.

(i)  The registered capital of MCT (BJ) is RMB15,000,000. As at 31 March

200}

the Group had injected RMB12,032,288 and the remaining

RMB2,967,712 will be injected to MCT (BJ) in the coming year.

(iii)  Acquired during the year ended 31 March 2012.

(iv) The registered capital of Derong is RMB22,220,000. As at 31 March
2012, the Group had injected RMB4,400,000. The Group will inject
RMB17,600,000 to Derong in the coming year of which RMB7,820,000
is for the reglstered ccpno? and RMB9,780,000 is for additional cc:plfal

contribution.
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Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
and proportion of
voting power held

FLFEGHR

BALRAFRFELE

Indirect
G

Direct
EE

100 -

100 -

100 -

100 -

- 100

(i) A4

(iii) REBZE=Z
(iv)

Principal activities
TEEH

Provision of advertising services
and publication of trade
show and exhibition booklets

REESRERHREZRES5T

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

RERR

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Provision of services in connection
with unconventional gas and
import of technical equipment
for the unconventional gas
industry

RERHEFZRAREHE
BERFERXAR
TEBARIM R E

Investment holding

REER

Investment holding

REER

Trading of coal in the PRC
RPREER R

——HF=A=t—RAILFERWKE -

EEoFMERE ARY22,220,0007T °
——#=H=+-0 AEEEX

A #4,400,0007% « 1A 55 » A % B



Notes to the Financial Statements

B AR MY EE
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18.INTANGIBLE ASSETS 18. |MLEE
The Group TKE
e-commerce
platform
EFERFR
HK$' 000
TR
Cost: %3\
At 1 April 2010, 1 April 2011 and RZB-ZFNA-B -Z2——-F
31 March 2012 NA-BR-ZE--f#=HA=+—H 34,219
Accumulated amortisation and RetMBAREE:
impairment:
At 1 April 2010, 1 April 2011 and RZZ-ZFMNA-H Z2——F
31 March 2012 ME-AR-E-—#=fA=+-A 34,219
Net book value: RESE:
At 31 March 2012 R-B--%£=A=+-H =
At 31 March 2011 RZE——5=ZA=+-H -

The e-commerce platform represents “Kenfair.com” held by the Group.
Kenfair.com is widely used in the Group’s operation and generates income
through membership fee, advertising fee and on-line application from its
users. It acts as a virtual exhibition-sourcing platform for the suppliers
to search for the target buyers. Members receive the latest information
related to trade shows and exhibitions held by the Group. The cost of
the e-commerce platform is amortised on a straightline basis over the
estimated remaining useful life of seven years. During the year ended 31
March 2009, the Group has fully impaired the e-commerce platform.

ETHEFEEHRAEEFREAE 2 Kenfair.
com | o Kenfair.comEZEANRAEE 2 & E -
WEREEE BEEERHEAFZESHBMT
KU ° Kenfair.comBHEFREERRESH
BYe UHESHEZER SEUEREGEASE
EEFEEESRECSRREGCRHNEN BT
BMEF A ZRARUBESERG T A5 A FH
tFEFUEHE  RBE_ZFTZIF=A=+—H
IEFE  AEERETHEFEELEERE
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19. GOODWILL 19. 5 &
The Group . 3. |
HK$’000
FET
Cost: 5.
At 1 April 2010 R=ZZB-ZFMA—H =
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40(b)) W Mt 8 A B (BfaE40(b)) 1,700
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 R-E——F=A=+—HK=ZE——FMA—H 1,700
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40(a)) KB B BB A B (K 7£40(a)) 69,989
At 31 March 2012 R=Z—=—5=ZA=+—H 71,689
Impairment: WE -
At 1 April 2010, 31 March 2011, R-B-ZEFNA-H -ZB——5=ZA=+—8"
1 April 2011 and 31 March 2012 —E-—HfNA-BR=ZFE-—=-F=ZA=t+—H -
Carrying amounts: IRERE -
At 31 March 2012 W-—ZE——_%=HA=+—H 71,689
At 31 March 2011 R-ZE——F=HA=+—H 1,700
Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill are disclosed in Note BB R AR 2 R R M 20 E
20.
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20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

As explained in Note 6, the Group uses business segments as its primary
segment for reporting segment information. For the purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill with indefinite useful lives set out in Note 19 has been
allocated to following cash generating unit (CGUs). The carrying amount
of goodwill (net of accumulated impairment losses) as at 31 March 2012
and 2011, is allocated as follows:

FERRARER
R BB

Unconventional gas business
Coal trading business

B AR MY EE

—F=A=+—AILER

EHm—=
BExE_—=

20. i & i 8 A

MRS - AREBMBRBEB I BEREED
HERZETEDH - METRENAMS @ M
1O BYBREANEAFH2BHECIET T
REELEN((REELEN]) - R=F-—=F
E—Z2-——%=ZA=1+—H BB (HERHE
BER) 2REBEIEBERMT :

2012 2011
—E2—_fF —F——F
HK$’000 HK$'000

THER TExT

1,700 1,700

69,989 -
71,689 1,700

Unconventional gas business

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 21% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been exirapolated using a steady
3.31% per annum growth rate. The directors believed that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount
is based would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the
unconventional gas business are as follows:

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.

FERXRAARE

ReEEENZTRESEIREBEEAHER
SEEE  HERAZRERBAEANERES
HAESREBBRAE  WASF2I%ITRE -

RERRZRERBRADREREN RN ZHEE
AHENRAE ZAFHRRZAESRECHKA
3.31%zREFERRIEL -EEHFE - E5E
AREEE 2 TERRAER 2 EFNSE RS
B ATy BeEL SN REEBHET
Yol 4 2E -

AEFRERARAREBEVNEREBERAZER
BRWT :
BEEMSEAER ERARZERRZEERBR
BELER  WHEBBSZTH
ZEM S 2 KENTEER
—B - EEME 0 RRAF
Mt BB A AR FRRE
A S E U R o

BEEANE SRS A E ARG
ZFIEFR - BRGNS
BEMIEI o bR BRBER

B MERBR BRI o
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20.IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL (continued) 20. & & E B (8)

Coal trading business

The recoverable amount of this cash-generating unit is determined based
on a value-in-use calculation which uses cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by the directors covering a five-year period,
and a discount rate of 24% per annum.

Cash flow projections during the budget period are based on the same
expected gross margins throughout the budget period. The cash flows
beyond that five-year period have been extrapolated using a steady
3% per annum growth rate. The directors believed that any reasonably
possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amount
is based would not cause the carrying amount of the unit to exceed the
aggregate recoverable amount of the cash generating unit.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the coal
trading business are as follows:

Budgeted market share ~ The values assigned to the assumption reflect
past experience, except for the growth factor,
which is consistent with the Directors’ plans
for focusing operations in these markets. The
directors believe that planned market share
growth per year for the next five years is
reasonably achievable.

Budgeted gross margin ~ Average gross margins achieved in the
period immediately Before the budget
period, increased for expected efficiency
improvements. This reflects past experience,
except for efficiency improvements.
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21.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Group and the Company

Balance as at 1 April 2010,

31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40(a))
Fair values change

AT ES

Balance as at 31 March 2012

AZE-——F=ZA=t+—HB2Z#&&

B AR MY EE

HE-_T—=A=1+—HBLFE
21.FTEEMEE

FEERFLT

Derivative

financial assets

TESMEE

HK$' 000

FHET

R-ZE-—ZHEWNA-RB - —ZT——F=A=+—8K
—E-—FEmMA-—RAz&H -
W B Y 8 1 B (4122 40(a))

Derivative financial assets represented the amounts receivables when
the Group dispose or place the Remaining Consideration Shares to
independent third parties. For details, please refer to Note 40(a). The
fair value is measured using the binomial option pricing model at initial
recognition and at the end of each reporting period.

22. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

TELREEERAEBHERRERTRER
DTE=FHRWZRE - BEFE  F2HMW
#£40(a) ° 2 FER T R RN &R S8R
RA-EAHEEEEAE -

22. fHHESMEE

The Group The Company
T5E 3
2012 2011 2012 2011
- —E2——§F T ZEB-——F
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FE T FET FET
Unlisted equity EBFLEMRAES -
securities in B
Hong Kong, at cost 1 - 1 -

The unlisted availablefor-sale equity securities do not have a quoted market
price in a active market are measured at cost less impairment at each reporting
period because the range of reasonable fair value estimates is so significant
that the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the fair value cannot
be reliably measured.

FEHARBERARSZNERM S ELEH S
BE REIB/EWBERIARBESE  RES
SEATEMFTZEENLELR  UHAQFE
ERREETEFELNTHE
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23.TRADE RECEIVABLES 23. 25 EIRIE
The Group
=%H
2012 2011
—E—_"%F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, e T Pt
Trade receivables g 5 B WRIE 71,212 22
As at 31 March 2012, included in trade receivables arising from coal RZZE-——-—F=ZA=+—H EXAKEREEX
trading business and trade shows and exhibition operation approximately BREEBSXEZEBIKERER D A14%71,212,000
HK$71,212,000 (2011: Nil) and HK$Nil (2011: HK$22,000) BR(CBE——F W) REET(—E——&:
respectively. As at 31 March 2012, the outstanding balances of trade 22,0008 ) - R=ZF—=—F=HA=+—H &
receivables comprise of 8 customers (2011: Nil) from coal trading WERRZ E A EBAHBEEREERETEK 2

business and none of outstanding balances of trade receivables from trade
shows and exhibition operation (2011: 3).

The aged analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

0 to 30 days 0Z=30H
31 to 60 days 31E260H
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H
91 to 180 days 91Z180H
Over 180 days #iB180H
Total Azt

BEEF (=2 ——% &) MUBERARES
ﬁ?ZEH&E&%ﬁ%*EE%%(:%——ﬁ C=

BH BRI ZREDTMT :

The Group
%H

2012 2011
e Y
HK$’000 HK$" 000
FTET TR
59,180 -
10,096 4
- 18
1,936 -
71,212 22

According to the credit rating of different customers, the Group allows a
range of credit periods not exceeding 180 days to its trade customers.
Trade receivables are all denominated in RMB.

Up to the date of this report, there is approximately 10.4% trade
receivables subsequently settled for the balances as at 31 March 2012.
According to the credit period granted to the customers, it expected the
remaining balances will be settled on the 3rd and 4th quarter of 2012.

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see below for aged
analysis) which are past due at the end of the reporting period for which
the Group has not recognised an allowance for doubtful debts because
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts
are still considered recoverable.

Age of trade receivables that are past due but not impaired

RBEFAREF 2EEFR  AEBRTESEFP
ZIEEHTHEBI180H - EZEUHIEEHIUA
RUEEHE-

BEAREAHLE R=FT-——_F=F=+—
B AI04%EWIRREHAREEE - RIER
FERRTZEEH  BHMRNTHESKER -2 —=
FEZRENZEEEE -

LTI 2 B 5 W SIR B R S B AR A
MASEREEE=TES XL REERIED
AR A AT U B T 3 B R IR FERR BB 2 TR (R
TXEBEKRRDN) o

BRMEXRBEZR R ERRAZIRE

Overdue by: B
Over 180 days BiB180H
Total Rst

The Group
F5H

2012 2011

—¥——F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

TAx T

,,,,,,,,,,,, et k.
1,936 -

In determining the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors of
the Company consider any change in the credit quality of the trade
receivables from the date credit were initially granted up to the reporting
date. Accordingly, the directors of the Company considered that provision
for impairment is value be made in respect of trade receivables to their
recoverable values and believe that there is no credit provision required in
excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.
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24.DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2012

RECEIVABLES

Deposits b
Prepayments N RIE
Other receivables H A fE W k1B

B AR MY EE

“FZA=tT—HIFE
24.#%&  RAARBARHEMEKRRE

CEt

The Group The Company
T5E AT

2012 2011 2012 2011
—E—_"%§ —E——F —E—"f —E——iF
HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
FHET THET TR FTHET
19,216 8,997 2,000 52
11,994 6,365 3,377 3,597
30,322 10,618 10,406 10,563
61,532 25,980 15,783 14,212

As at 31 March 2012, included in other receivables, approximately
HK$10,000,000 (2011: HK$10,000,000) was the deposits previously
paid into High Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) for an injunction

order mentioned in Note 41(b).

R-ZEB-Z—F=ZA=+—-—HB st AHMEK
MIEEHK10,000,0008 T (=ZF——F:
10,000,00038 7T ) T3 2 A MFE4 1 (b) Pt 2 221
TMEAEESEER (BE5ER ) XNT2RE -

25. AMOUNT DUE FROM A DIRECTOR 25. Bl —BREFRRA
The Group and the Company
FRERFLT

2012 2011

—2—=% —2——F

HK$’000 HK$'000

TFHET FTHET

B+ 34 78

Ms. Geng Ying

The amount due from a director was unsecured, interest-free and

recoverable on demand.

26.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND CASH AND CASH

EQUIVALENTS
The Group

As at 31 March 2012, the fixed interest rate on deposits with banks of
HK$10,786,000 (2011: HK$69,159,000), with maturity over three month
but less than one year at 1.0% (2011: 0.94% to 1.03%) per annum. The

deposits with banks were denominated in HK$.

As at 31 March 2011, included in deposits with banks, approximately
HK$10,659,000 and HK$28,500,000 were deposited into designated
interest-bearing bank account opened into the name of the Company as
security for the litigations mentioned in Note 41(d) and 41(g) respectively.

R —-—2ESHELERR RERRFERE
% o

26. BITHEREEGRASSERE

x5EE
R-ZZE—-HE=F=+—H RBB=@AE
R—FEREYP 2 EERITERE10,786,0008
T (ZB——5:69,159,0008T) ' ERRE
1.0% (=8 ——4 :0.94%%1.03%) ° FRLLE
TLEE °

R-E-——5=ZA=t+—H ' st ARTERE
#910,659,0005% 7Tt }% 28,500,000 7T J3 7 Bl 7
Mt E41(d) B 41 (o) AL FT AT A A AR A B B &
MY ZEEFERTHRFAFRARES -
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26.DEPOSITS WITH BANKS AND CASH AND CASH 26 BTHERERBERAELFEHEE ()
EQUIVALENTS (continued)
The Company . /N
As at 31 March 2012, the fixed interest rate on deposits with banks R-EBE——F=A=+—H ABE=EAREZE
of HK$10,786,000 (2011: HK$39,159,000), with maturity over three HeEBHRTERE10,786,0008 T (=8 ——
months at 1.0% (2011: 0.94% to 1.03%) per annum. The deposits with £ :39,159,000/8w)  ERNREI1.0% (==
banks were denominated in HK$. —— & F0.94%ZF1.03%) o FRUBTEE
As at 31 March 2011, included in deposits with banks, approximately R-E——E=HA=+—8 st ARBRTERE
HK$10,659,000 and HK$28,500,000 were deposited into designated #10,659,000% 7T % 28,500,000 7T J3 5 Bl 5
interest-bearing bank account opened into the name of the Company as MisE41(d) %41 (g)fFisi sAMEA LR DT B &
security for the litigations mentioned in Note 41(d) and 41(g) respectively. BV ZIEEERTHREFRNIESRES o
At the end of the reporting period, deposits with banks and cash and cash RIBERK BT ESRESREHSZHEEERS
equivalents comprise of the followings: FELTRIE :
The Group The Company
xEE - /N
2012 2011 2012 2011
—E—_-F —E——-fF —2—_F —E——-F
HK$’000 HK$' 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
THERT FTART THET TART
Deposits with banks RITER 10,786 69,159 10,786 39,159
Cash and cash equivalents B& KR & EEEE 5,030 21,220 117 1,324
15,816 90,379 10,903 40,483
Cash and cash equivalents were denominated in the following currencies: RELARESSEEBUTHERER :
The Group The Company
xEE 3/
2012 2011 2012 2011

B 25 C"B-°%F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FERL TET THET TERT
RMB ARE 4,119 727 - -
HK$ BT 777 19,625 117 1,324
Others Hith 134 868 - -
5,030 21,220 117 1,324
The remittance of cash and cash equivalents denominated in RMB out of UANREEECESRESZEEEEELTERE
the PRC is subject to the foreign exchange control restrictions imposed by BYPERFERERE2INESYS -
the government of the PRC.
Cash and cash equivalents carry interest at market rates which range from HARELLAEERRTEMNRSE  NFEE
1% to 2% per annum. 1%22% °

113 Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012



27.TRADE PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade payables by age based on the

invoice date.
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—F=A=T—HILEFE

HE-T

27. B HEMAREA

LT RRBER

HIE 5 BB Y SR0E 2 Bk 0 4T ©

The Group
*EE

2012 2011

0 to 30 days 0=30H

31 to 60 days 31HZE60H
61 to 90 days 61HZE90H
91 to 180 days 91HZ=180H
Over 180 days H#iB180H
Total 5t

—E—C_f
HK$’000

=&
HK$’ 000

TER

55,916

2,769
10,741

FTEx

69,426

The average credit period on purchases of certain goods is 180 days. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all

payables are paid within the credit timeframe.

28. ACCRUED LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES

BEETEMZTHEENRI80R - AEEE
BEZUBERREERE  UERAEENSHRE

REERBERAZM -

28. RetARRHEfEMRIF

Accrued liabilities
Other payables

The Group The Company
FEMm FaH

2012 2011 2012 2011
=== —E—-F —E——%F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET TER FET TiEx
ZitaE 177,123 162,015 171,461 161,329
Hi A RRIE 15,896 7,937 4,380 1,046
Amount due to a related company ENEEARNRE 368 - - -
193,387 169,952 175,841 162,375

Included in accrued liabilities of HK$158,600,000 (2011:
HK$158,600,000) was consideration payables for acquisition of Wealth
Gain Global Investment Limited (“Wealth Gain”). On 15 December 2009,
the Company issued legal proceedings against Mr. Hung in the High Court
of Hong Kong in connection with the acquisition of Wealth Gain and also
filed a statement of claim against Mr. Hung for, inter alia, the rescission of the

Agreement on 1 February 2010. Details please refer to Note 41.

As at 31 March 2012, amount due to a related company, which has a
common director with the Company, was approximately HK$368,000 (2011:
Nil). The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

258 EH  §158,600,0008 T (=& — —
£ : 158,600,000 ) BB ERRRRES
RAR(ERD 2EARE - R=ZZZAF =
AtHE AR AEEBSSERARLERM
EERF NBRARWBER -3 STR=Z
—ZEF-A-BEMEERHARFBIAEL (A

e B E (FRERME4]) °

REZZE-ZF=ZA=Z+—H EN—HBEEAF
(HREAQNTEAHRBES) 2HKIEHR368,000
B (ZF——F 1 ) - ZEARRTIEER

RERAREREE -
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BE—%

—F=A=1+—HItFE
29. AMOUNTS DUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

29. BB RBRIEA

The Group and the Company

FEERFLT
2012 2011
—2—=F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FET FTHET
Amount due to Hung Chen, Richael FEASHEE (T R4 D)
(“Mr. Hung”) (Note i) IR (Hati) 15,358 14,478
Amount due to ACE Channel FE{FACE Channel Limited
Limited (Note ii) RIE (Hiatii) 1,312 =
16,670 14,478
Notes: HiaE -
(i)  The amount due to Mr. Hung is the principal amount and interests and (i) EAREEEZRBBREASRIEL - FHEHLEN
detail terms are summarised as follows: T

1) HK$3,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 3 December 2009;

2)  HK$8,000,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at a fixed rate of
8% per annum due on 8 March 2010; and

3) HK$1,600,000 advance is unsecured, non-interest bearing and

repayable on demand.
(i)  On 15 August 2011, the Company signed a shareholder’s loan facility
agreement of HK$20,000,000 with ACE Channel Limited, beneficially
owned by Mr. Gao Feng, a director of the Company, is unsecured,
bearing interest at a prime rate plus 1% (i.e. %) per annum and due on
14 August 2012. The Company has already drawn down a total amount
of HK$1,300,000 as at 31 March 2012.

1) 3,000,000 tEHRABEKA REE
FRE8UNTE  R=BZhFE+=A=
HEH

2) 8,000,000 TERAERKA  RETE
FRNE8%E R=ZE—ZFFE=FN\R
2H R

3) 1,600,000 t#RAEKF  RER
REREE-

R-ZZE——FNB+HH  &~2A7HEACE
Channel Limited (R AR EES R CEBERHE
B KA F) #35]20,000,0005 Tt 2 BERE K
EEmS ZNEARER RENXRER
FZEM1% (B16%) 5t E  RR=ZZE—=—FN\A
THEES R=ZB—=F=ZA=+—H &
AR B A HIEE,300,000/8 5T ©

(i)

30.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 30.5TEEMmEE

The Group and the Company FEERELT
Derivative
financial liabilities
TESMAR
HK$’ 000
FHET

Balance as at 1 April 2010, R-ZE-—ZFNAE-A -—ZE——F=HA=+—H8HK
31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011 —E-——FWA—BZ&R -
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 40(a)) U BB IS 1B 2 B (B12£40(a)) 4,726
Fair values change AT EZH (567)
Balance as at 31 March 2012 HN—ZE——"F=H=T—Hz#&e 4,159

Derivative financial liabilities represented the cash bonus additionally
granted to the Vendor of Wealthy Wing by the Group as the contingent
consideration of acquisition of subsidiaries. For details, please refer to
Note 40(a). The fair value is measured using the binomial option pricing
model at initial recognition and at the end of each reporting period.
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31.BORROWINGS 31. 68
The Group The Company
*5E 3N
Original
Notes  currency 2012 2011 2012 2011
g R —2-C%F —E-—F —B-C¥F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
FERT TEx FET TER
Current liabilities nERE
— Bank borrowings -RITEE
- secured -BEA ) RMBARM 18,414 = - =
— Other borrowings -HifE g
- unsecured —EIE AR (ii) HK$E 7t - 33,872 - 33,872
Total borrowings HEESH 18,414 33,872 - 33,872
Notes: Mfat

(i)

(i)

Bank borrowings of HK$18,414,000 are repayable within one year,
bear fixed interest rate at 8.528% per annum and secured by the
properties owned by a non-controlling shareholder of Derong.

On 28 July 2010, Mr. Hung informed the Company that a sum of
HK$31,500,000 plus interests under the loan agreement dated 16 July
2009 made between Mr. Hung and the Company was assigned to Mr.
Wong Ching Ping Alex (“Mr. Wong”).

On 7 August 2009 at the request of Mr. Hung, the Company made
repayment of a sum of HK$3,000,000.

The amount of HK$28,500,000 loan is unsecured, bearing interest at
prime rate plus 5% (i.e 10%) per annum due on 15 October 2009. The
Company repaid the amount of HK$28,500,000 to Mr. Wong on 8 June
2011. For detail, please refer to Note 41(g).

(ii)

RITHEE18,414,0008 T AN —FREE
BB F8.528% 2 BIEFRTE - WATERLIE
BERRRTER 2VHEFERR -

REZB-ZFELA=-+NH HEEEHMER
A HEEERADNAR=ZZAFELA+A
RIS 2 B EET 25 E31,500,0005% T
MERMBEHBEFEEFLEE(ELRED -

REZZENFNALE BHREEZER X
A E]{E383,000,00058 7T °

28,500,0005% 7& 2 & 5 J fEIE 1 - B EE
FIZM5% (B10%)5H 8 BR=BERES A
+ERM - AAFAR=B——EAANAM
T EAEEE28,500,0008 - BEEFEE  F
SHMEA(g) °
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32. OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES 32. MEHRNER
During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group leases a motor vehicle BE-_ZE——_F=F=+—HIEE  A&EEMA
and this lease is classified as finance leases having remaining lease terms E—WHaE MEEHEHEIEAREHE &
of 24 months. The interest rate is 1.7% per annum. As at 31 March 2012, THH-tHNER - MNEEBESE1 7% - R
the total future minimum lease payments under finance leases and their ——H=ZA=+—0 BERESHEYENZ KK
present value were as follows: BREASERBEZRENT :
The Group
T5E
2012 2011
—E—_%F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$"000
THT FET
Total minimum lease payments REHEFIELHE
— Due within one year ——FRIH 490 =
— Due in the second year —HE-F3H 490 -
980 -
Less: future finance charges on W REHEZRRBEER
finance leases (41) -
Present value of lease obligations HYNEEZRE 939 -
Present value of finance lease liabilities MEHSAE2RE
— Due within one year - —FREH 462 -
— Due in the second year —EZFEH 477 -
939 -
Less: Current portion due within one W EFARBEE - FREH
year included under current 2 B B 4D
liabilities (462) =
Non-current portion included under STAFERBEEZIRE I
non-current liabilities 477 -
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33. Wik R i#
—EEN\F=A=+-B AAFET
345,000,000 THE L THRRER ([ATRRE
B FRAKBERRENBAR (EREE)
2 EE o

33. CONVERTIBLE NOTES
On 31 March 2008, the Company issued HK$345,000,000 zero
coupon convertible notes (the “Convertible Notes”) which as part of the

consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Gain and its subsidiary (the

“Wealth Gain Group”).

The Group and the Company

FRERFLF
2012 2011
—B——F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TER FET
Liability component BEEHH 157,014 142,094
Derivative component TTET ARG = -
157,014 142,094
Liability component REBR

At beginning of the year REA] 142,094 128,592
Imputed interest expense charged B RIS RX 14,920 13,502
At end of the year RER 157,014 142,094

Derivative component EIRBG
At beginning of the year REHD = =
Fair value change NEEEH = =
At end of the year RER - -
Carrying amount IR E 157,014 142,094

The terms of the Convertible Notes are as follows:

a. convertible at the option of the note holders into fully paid ordinary
shares on or after 31 March 2008 and up to and including 30
March 2013 at a conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;

b. redeemable at the option of the Company at 100% of their principal
amount at any time and from time to time, by written to notice to
redeem the whole or part of the outstanding principal amount of the
Convertible Notes; and

c. convertible at the option of the Company to request the note holders
for mandatory conversion of the prescribed amount of the Convertible
Notes on or after the fifth anniversary of the issue date.

ARERREZFRROT

RERAATERER-ZEZENF=A=1—
HREZE—_Z—=F=RA=+H (BF%
B EZEBROSBTZEREAIRRREE
BABREER

RN B AR B A A B R R R B E SRR A
SR 100%ETEE > AXNARBERR
HAEE 2R IHAIRREEZKREE
e R

AABRAEERBTRHMEFREBFR
HEBERZERFAABTERRESHEZ
ABERE -
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33.CONVERTIBLE NOTES (continued) 33. AT R R (#8)

The Convertible Notes do not bear interest on the principal amount of the
notes outstanding. The Convertible Notes will be redeemed on maturity at
a value equal to the aggregate of its principal amount outstanding.

The Convertible Notes are denominated in HK$ which is the same as the
functional currency of the note issuing entity. As such, the exercise of the
conversion option will give rise to the settlement by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of shares of the Company. The
conversion option is therefore accounted for as an equity instrument and
is determined after deducting the liability component and the derivative
component from the total proceeds.

The embedded derivatives relating to the Company’s redemption option in
note (b) above which are not closely related to the host contract shall be
separately measured and included together with the liabilities component
as a financial liability. The fair value of the derivative component is
determined based on the valuation performed by Savills Valuation and
Professional Services Limited (“Savills”) using binomial option pricing
model. The fair value of the liabilities component is determined based on
the valuation performed by Savills using discounted cash flow method. The
effective interest rate of the host contract is determined to be 10.5%. The
residual amount is assigned as the equity component for the conversion
option and was included in the convertible notes equity reserve.

The liability component is carried as a current liability (2011: non-
current) on the amortised cost basis until extinguished on conversion
or redemption. The derivative component of the Convertible Notes is
subsequently measured at fair value with changes recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. The value of the equity
component is not remeasured in subsequent years.

As at 31 March 2012, the fair value of the derivative component
embedded in the convertible notes is approximately HK$Nil (2011:
HK$Nil). Details of the variables and assumptions of the model are as

AR EET T EREZEZANSETE c TR
EEEREBRZEEREREZRASBEZE
EmEE o

ARBREEUBTE KTARATNINEES
oA BRREZITESEBUEESE R
SHRNEEHE 2 AQA KM o BRIRER I ZE
mITAZARNAR TRMEBRELEREAE
HORITETEFDEEE ©

B LEXHEbzARBTEREZHRARNITE
I8 HEFENITEZRYBEEFE EIHTEN
U BEEE2HATABERR - TETEZA
TEHEREE-ATBENGERSEERER
AR ([E—ATFE S ) U—BXHEEEER
ETZEEMEE -BEIHZAFERRES
—AFBAEHT AT RIS R A RET 2 EEME
EoFEHNZEBRMNEDNEER0.5%  Ftre
BERABEBRE BRI WAFATRRE
BRESMHE-

EF*B@J’.‘I&TQK%EXZISEEEIH’E,;.LEJJEE(:g
——F Ry  HERRIBEEH L AR

miFZmiIE:uBﬁ/H\éFE’D\SFE”rg 25
RS RER - BERDZEEFTERIRFE
EHMEE-

RZBE—Z-—F=A=1+—H TEIEHB2 22
FEAAZTET(ZE——F T8 T) - ZER
ZEBRBRAEBOT :

follows:
31 March 31 March
2012 2011
—E——F —E——F
=A=+—H EFEG=[
Share price: IRAE : HK$0.231#& T HK$0.5007% 7t
Remaining life: FIERFHR ¢ 1 yearff 2 yearstE
Risk free interest rate: 35 [ B A =€ 0.16% 0.524%
Expected volatility: FAHDR IR ¢ 56% 35.512%
Expected ordinary dividend yield: EHEERRKREE NilF&H Nil -~ 3E A

During the year ended 31 March 2009, convertible notes with an
aggregate amount HK$171,500,000 was converted into the ordinary
shares of the Company. Total number of ordinary shares converted was
343,000,000.
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34.DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised by the
Group and the Company and movements thereon:

At 1 April 2010
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011
Credit to consolidated statement of comprehensive
income for the year

At 31 March 2012

B AR MY EE

—F=A=T—HILEFE

4. RERMAAR

R-ZZE—Z=FWMA—H
FERFAGEEHEBERER

UTAEEERALDER Y F BEERIESE
REFED :

The Group and
the Company
FRERFLTE

Convertible
notes

AR RE
HK$"000
FET

R=2——%=A=+-BR-B——FMA—A
ERHAGESERRE

R-E—Z-%=ZA=+—H

At 31 March 2012, the Group had unused estimated tax losses
of approximately HK$94,799,000 (2011: HK$87,656,000)
available for offset against future profits. Tax losses of approximately
HK$13,225,000 (2011: HK$1,130,000) will expire after five years from
the year of assessment they relate to while tax losses of approximately
HK$81,574,000 (2011: HK$86,526,000) can be carried forward
indefinitely. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to the
unpredictability of future profit streams.

At 31 March 2012, the Company had unused estimated tax losses of
approximately HK$35,716,000 (2011: HK$35,424,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

R-ZZE-—ZH=ZA=t+t—-H FA5BEARHY
94,799,000% 5Tt (=& — —F : 87,656,000/&
JT) Z K Ep A ik 5 B 1R 5 18 T A DUIE 8% R BROE
A o HIEEE 13,225,000 T (= F——F ¢
1,130,000/ ) #NXER B 2B FERA
FRE®  MKIEEELS1,754,0008 7T (==
——% :86,526,0008 7T) AT ERHLEE - R
RHE R T 2 AR FEE - I B SRR SE B IR
&E

R-ZZE-—Z-H=ZA=+—-H FA2FAREL
35,716,000/ T (=& — — £ : 35,424,0008
T0) Z ARE AR (B IE S 18 R A DU S R HOS R
B R R RS Rl SRR 2 A AT RESE » 3 R SRR S
BIBERE °
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35.SHARE CAPITAL 35.8%F
The Group and the Company
FREARFLF
Number of shares Amount
BB E HE
2012 2011 2012 2011
—g--§ —E--§ CZB-Z§ CZEB--Ff
000 000 HK$’000 HK$' 000
T TR TET TET
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 BREEC.O1ET
each ZEBR 6,000,000 6,000,000 60,000 60,000
Issued and fully paid: EBRTRAR:
At beginning of the year RE 1,336,520 1,113,768 13,365 11,138
Placing of shares (Note i) RERD (#i) 30,000 222,752 300 2,227
Consideration shares (Note ii) RER®D (Hi) 270,000 - 2,700 -
At end of the year REL 1,636,520 1,336,520 16,365 13,365
Notes: et -

()  On 28 September 2011, the Company, through a placing agent,
placed 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at a placing price of
HK$0.36 for a total consideration, before expenses, of HK$10,800,000.
Part of the proceeds of approximately RMB4,400,000 (equivalent to
HK$5,500,000) is used for initial capital injection to Derong and the
remaining proceeds will be utilitised by the Group as its general working
capital.

On 8 February 2011, the Company, through a placing agent, placed
222,752,000 shares of HK$0.01 each at a placing price of HK$0.35
each for the purpose of financing subscription of shares in acquisition of
Sino Giants Group Limited (“Sino Giants”), the shareholder’s loan to Sino
Giants, future business development and general working capital of the
Group.

(i)  On 30 November 2011, the Company completed the subscription of
100% equity interest of Wealth Wing Group. The Company issued
270,000,000 consideration shares (the “Consideration Shares”) as part
of the consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Wing. The fair value of
the Consideration Shares, determined based on the closing market price
of the Company on the acquisition date of HK$0.24 per share, amounted
to approximately HK$64,800,000. The issue of the Consideration Shares
has resulted in the increase in share capital and share premium amount of
the Company by HK$2,700,000 and HK$62,100,000 respectively.
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(i)

(i)

REZE-——FNAZ+N\B XRAEBRE
REZRZREEE0.368 TE E30,000,000
REREEO.IOCETZRM  REMIR
ZHAE (RMNBREMAAT) 510,800,000
JT o ERDRE L AN KH4,400,0007T (165 R
5,500,000/8 %) R ERB BEHMTER
MEATABREERAEEAE-—REEES -

2 —f5-ANR ARREBRERER
#5KR0.35% T 2 B % E222,752,0008
BREEO.O1B T 2R » UEEEWESIno
Giants Group Limited (['Sino Giants |) 72§
R4 > Sino Giants ZIRRERK ~ RREHHR
RAGEE-REEEST -

RZB-——F+—-A=Z+H A2ARZR
RBEKEBEZI100%KRE - ARAF BT
270,000,0008% X f& iz 0 (THRER B ) 1F A
WEEK 2BHRE RERG 22 FEGR
BARARGRKE R B 2R T ESR0.24
B THEE) #8564,800,000/8 T © HITRER
BEBHAR R ZRA KR EERRD BIE 0
2,700,000 5t} 62,100,000 7T °
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36.RESERVES 36. f# i
(a) The Group (a) =KHE
Exchange reserve EZ#E

FESAEEEIEBEEFERHLNE
EMBREEAEE2I G (BExT) 2E
AERHEEREMEEKSERILRFTR
ERLHE  ZERELRFBRIA ZELZR
EHEBIXBREHR D MEIEE -

Exchange differences relating to the translation of the net assets
of the Group’s foreign operations from their functional currencies
to the Group's presentation currency (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) are
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in
the exchange reserve are reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal
of the foreign operation.

(b) EAH
AATHBENFASENT -

(b) The Company

The detail movement of reserves of the Company is as follows:

Convertible Shares held
Share notes for share Share
premium  Contributed equity Accumulated award options  Warrant
account surplus reserve losses scheme reserve reserve Total
THEERE RRERHE L1 RRiE
ERERE BARR 1] RitER Fiis R 1] 1] 1]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$" 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$"000 HK$000 HK$' 000
Téx ThT TEn Th ThT TEn ThT THT
[Note ) [Note iif [Nofe iii (Note iv] [Noe v)
(i) (fitii) (fitiii) (fitiv) (i)
At 1 April 2010 RZE-3EMA-A 448713 7,076 30,568 [775,748) - - - (289,391)
Net loss for the year ERERFE - - - (74,165) - - - (74,165)
Placing of shares RERR 75,737 = - - - - = 75,737
Share issuing expenses RABTES 2,919 - - - - - - 2919)
Share opfions granted ERLERE - - - - - 8,366 - 8,366
Shares purchased for share ARGEDHHBERS
award scheme - - - - 3,723) - - (3,723
At 31 March 2011 and RZF--£=fA=t-H
1 Apil 2011 §-%--%mA-A 521,531 7076 30568 BN (728 836 o860
Net loss for the year FRERRE - - - (30,912 - - - (30,912)
Share options lapsed BMERE - - - 181 - (181) - -
Shares purchased for share BROZEHABERD
award scheme - - - - (1,263 - - (1,263)
Placing of shares RERR 10,500 - - - - - = 10,500
Consideration shares RERG 62,100 - - - - - - 62,100
Share issuing expenses ROBARR 431) - - - - - - 431)
Placing of warrans REARER - - - - - - 2,300 2,300
Warrants issuing cosfs RRERBTAK - - - - - - (136] (136)
At 31 Morch 2012 RZS-ZEZRZH-B 593,700 7076 30568  (880,644)  (4986) 8185 2,164  (243,997)
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36.RESERVES (continued)
(b) The Company (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

Contributed surplus

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of the
fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to
the Group reorganisation during the year ended 31 March 2002,
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
therefore and the capitalisation of the 30,000,000 shares allotted
and issued nil paid. Under the Companies Law (2001 Second
Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the contributed surplus account
is distributable to the shareholders of the Company under certain
circumstances. Details of distributable reserve are set out in page
33 of the consolidated financial statements.

Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve represents the equity component
(conversion rights) of the HK$345,000,000 zero coupon convertible
notes issued on 31 March 2008 (Note 33).

Shares held for share award scheme

The shares held for share award scheme is the consideration paid,
including any directly attributable incremental costs for purchase
of shares under the Share Award Scheme, in accordance with the
accounting policy set out in Note 3(p)(ii).

Share options reserve

The share options reserve relates to share options granted
to employees under the employee share option plan. Further
information about share-based payments to employees is set out in
Note 37.

Warrant reserve

On 28 September 2011, the Company, through a placing agent,
issued 230,000,000 unlisted warrants at an issue price of HK$0.01
per warrant. Each warrant entitles the holder thereof to subscribe
for one ordinary share of HK$0.01 each at a subscription price of
HK$0.39 per share, payable in cash and subject to adjustment,
from the date of issue of the warrants to the expiry, which is 36
months from the issue of the warrants.

During the year, 230,000,000 warrants of HK$0.01 each were
issued pursuant to the warrant placing agreement for a total cash
consideration, before related expenses, of HK$2,300,000. The
exercise period of the warrants is from 28 September 2011 to 27
September 2014.

As at 31 March 2012, all warrants are remained outstanding.
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(iii)
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v)
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37.SHARE OPTIONS

Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible participants
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the Scheme include any directors and employees of the
Company, including all executive directors of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 8 October 2010 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted
to be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their
exercise, to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. The
maximum number of shares issuable under share options to each eligible
participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is limited to 1%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of
share option in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

The share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject
to approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their
subsidiaries, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s
shares at the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any
12-month period, are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a
general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HK$1
in total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted
would be determined by the directors.

The exercise price of the share options would be determined by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares on the date of the offer of the
share options, which must be a business day; and (ii) the average Stock
Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of the offer, provided that the subscription
price shall not be lower than the nominal value of the shares.

37. W& Bx 1&

LEGABERZMARES

AARRE —HBREE ((ZT8))  #FU@
HAEBEEBINEHEMZEERSEERT
HER,RER - ZTBZEERSREERER
DNAEFNESRES (BEA LA REEMHE
DRAZHBHTES) - ZtER =2 -—FF+
ANBRBER - BRIEUEA S XBUE RIS RT %5t
2 RAZSBBEZABH TFARBEEN -

R 2wt TR IF R 1R 1 i) AR AT 166 2 B8 AR A A
FR2EEROBEMENETERARQERME
B E BITRHZ10% Zt BT EEKSHE
EREMI2EAMEREBERETERTZRS
ROBEUARRBEFAEEEBETRD Z1%5
fRo LE—DSRENBAMRBAZBRE  SKER
RERS LERRAMAE -

ALEAARRAES TETHRAERETERRREK
E2EAHBEATREUBRE  XASENEE
SMIEBATESRE o bLH 0 LBMEM 1218 B B
ABRAARREEAHBAR 2 EERRAF L
FHVTESREEMBRE  MAERBFERR
N BEM B AT IR 20. 1%RAE (RIBR
HEHHBADQBRR G 2 ERE)BiB5,000,000
BT BEBERBRRAELESRRAE -

REBRECEZTRRHEZZAHET28ERA
B ARAAXINEH BT Z2RBARE-
FREREZTEHHESERE -

BREZTREHESEE - ERASENHED
ARDRBREZZREAS (BWEREXH)E
BB HE: R(i)ADBRONBEEZRR
HEHAAERS B A2 PR T ERE
TREE ERBEFSENRROEE -
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37.SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)

The fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised as an
employee cost with a corresponding increase in a capital reserve within
equity. The fair value is measured at grant date using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the options were granted.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings.

At 11 February 2011, 60,000,000 share options have been granted to
the directors and employees of the Group and 1,300,000 share options
were lapsed during the year and 58,700,000 share options are remained
outstanding as at 31 March 2012.

The consideration of HK$1 was paid on the grant of an option. The share
options may be exercised at any time commencing from 8 October 2010
to 7 October 2020 in accordance with the Option Scheme. The exercise
price is determined by the directors of the Company, and will be at least
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets on
the offer date; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal value of a
share.

Details of specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant Exercise period

#H A TR

11/2/2011 11/2/2011-10/2/2016

In accordance with the terms of the scheme, options granted during the
year ended 31 March 2012 vested at the date of grant.
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37.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 37. MR (8])
Share-based payment transactions (continued) LEBRGCBERZMARES ()
The following table discloses movements of share options held by AEBREEREENAFEAMSEREZZH
employees and directors of the Group during the year: HERENT ¢
Outstanding
Category of Exercisable Exercisable Outstanding Granted ot 31/3/2011 Lapsed Outstanding
Participants Date of grant period  price per share at 1/4/2010 during year  and 1/4/2011 during year ot 31/3/2012
RZ2--%
=S ZR=t-Hk RZ2-Z%
mA-H —2--%mA ZR=1-H
SHEEN RiaH T BRITER HFTE FREH — AR KT FMEN HFTE
Directors
gz
Ms. Geng Ying 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 13,000,000 13,000,000 - 13,000,000
HExt 10/2/2016 03687
Mr. Gao Feng 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 13,000,000 13,000,000 - 13,000,000
mBEE 10/2/2016 03687
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 13,000,000 13,000,000 - 13,000,000
ERRLE 10/2/2016 0.3687
Mr. Cheng Wing 11/2/201 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 1,300,000 1,300,000 - 1,300,000
Keung, Raymond 10/2/2016 0.36%7
BxigrE
Mr. Lam Williamson 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 1,300,000 1,300,000 - 1,300,000
H2EEE 10/2/2016 03687
Employees of the Group 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 17,100,000 17,100,000 - 17,100,000
A5EES 10/2/2016 0.36%T
Exdirector of the Group 11/2/2011 11/2/2011- HK$0.36 - 1,300,000 1,300,000 (1,300,000) -
rEEHES 10/2/2016 0.36%7
- 60,000,000 60,000,000 (1,300,000) 58,700,000
Weighted average exercise price (in HK$) - 0.36 036 - 0.36

METEE (#1)

The Group recognised the total expenses of approximately HK$Nil (2011:
HK$8,366,000) during the year ended 31 March 2012 in relation to
share options granted by the Company.

The fair value of the share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2012 is HK$Nil (2011:HK$0.13944) each. Options were
priced using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model. Where
relevant, the expected life used in the model has been adjusted based
on management’s best estimate for the effects of non-transferability,
exercise restrictions (including the probability of meeting market conditions
attached to the opinion), and behavioural considerations. Expected
volatility is based on the historical share price volatility over the past 2.5

years.

Sino Res

AEEREBEE-_ZTE——F=HA=+—HL
FERAAARE2BERERIEARMIN
THBT(ZZT——45 :8,366,000587T) °

BE—E——F=A=t+—HLEFEAEZH
ZERENDTFEABHSELT (=T ——
£ :0.139448 ) - BREDUEHEH
EEBENEE - £HE  ZEXMEAN
BHEHCREEEBEH T IEE 76
FRE (BREEFERERTE 2 HBEEE
B)URTAZEREZZYENREMGTT
AR FEHREDREBEMEEWRGE
R EMEE -
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37.SHARE OPTIONS (continued) 37. MR (8])
Share-based payment transactions (continued) DRMEERZARES (E)
The variables and assumptions used in computing the fair value of share STEEREAFERFTACEHRBRNDERER
options are based on the directors’ best estimate. The value of an option BEEvaHEMRT BREZEEES TZBRER
varies with different variables of certain subjective assumptions. CAESEMES o
Inputs into model WAEXZ2H
11 February 2011
—E-——fZA+t—H
Grant date share price REBHZRE HK$0.32% T
Exercise price TEE HK$0.367% T
Expected volatility T H R iR 81.38%
Expected life of the options TR AR IR R D 2.5 yearsf
Dividend yield BE= 0%
Risk-free interest rate 3 bR = 0.943%
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 38.M¥BITH
The Group The Company
*TKE ENF
2012 2011 2012 2011
—®—-f —T-—-& "—B—-f —B——&
HK$’ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FH#T FHET TFHET FHET
Categories of financial &MI AR
instruments
Financial assets SMEE
- Loans and receivables —HRRERRE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B B A =) FRIE - = 85,317 123,453
Trade receivables E 5 U BRFX 71,212 22 - =
Other receivables H b FE W T8 30,322 10,618 10,406 10,563
Amount due from a director EWESFHIE 34 78 34 78
Deposits with banks BITER 10,786 69,159 10,786 39,159
Cash and bank balances HekBELEHEER 5,030 21,220 117 1,324
117,384 101,097 106,660 174,577
- Available-for-sale —AftHESmMEE
financial assets 1 = 1 =
- Derivative - fTESMEE
financial assets 17,924 = 17,924 =
135,309 101,097 124,585 174,577
Financial liabilities SMAR
- Financial liabilities - RESBRFZEMAR
at amortised cost
Trade payables g 2R IRM 69,426 - - -
Accrued liabilities and 2B BEREMENRIE
other payables 174,863 169,952 162,980 159,646
Amounts due to shareholders FE 1+ R R FR 1B 16,670 14,478 16,670 14,478
Borrowings & 18,414 33,872 - 33,872
Obligations under finance RMEBRYEME
leases 939 - - -
Convertible notes ] R ZE 5 157,014 142,094 157,014 142,094
437,326 360,396 336,664 350,090
- Derivative - fTEEMAR
financial liabilities 4,159 - 4,159 -
441,485 360,396 340,823 350,090
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39.DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 39. HEME AR
(a) On 20 December 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company (@) R=ZE——H+=-A=+H x2AZ2E
entered into a sale and purchase agreement that the Company MEBARTLEE R KAABRRE LS
agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of SRG Capital Limited MEXERAT (THMER]D KEH1
(“SRG Capital”) with a consideration of HK$1. The disposal was BT HESEHENR =-E——F+=-A=+
completed on 20 December 2011. HIEMK °
Summary of the effects of the disposal of subsidiaries are as follows: HERB AR 2 S EMuman T :
HK$’ 000
FET
Net assets disposed of: gz EEFRE:
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RBE - A RERH A ERRIE 1
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEHEER 2
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMESRE (12)
()
Gain on disposal HEZER 9
Satisfied by: DT 3
Cash B4 -
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HEFREZREFHE
Cash consideration RERE =
Cash and bank balances B & RIRITEEER (2)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRAREEEHEAREFRE (2)
For the period from 1 April 2011 to the date of disposal, SRG B —FNA-BEREHERHLY
Capital was dormant. Turnover of HK$Nil and loss of approximately B BMERRER RBEE-F-——-F=
HK$3,000 contributed by SRG Capital was recognised in the A=t—HILFE #NEFAEMZZTET
Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2012. EEERTR 23,0008 THEERAEE
ZIBB PR
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On 30 September 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into a sale and purchase agreement that the Company
agreed to sell the entire issued share capital of Kenfair International
Limited and its subsidiaries (including Kenfair International
(Shenzhen) Company Limited, Kenfair International (Shanghai)
Limited and Guangzhou Kenfair Exhibition Company Limited)(“KIL
Group”) with a consideration of HK$900,000. The disposal was
completed on 30 September 2010.

Summary of the effects of the disposal of subsidiaries are as follows:

39. HEMB 2R (&)

(b) R=Z-—ZFNAA=1+H ADAZZEM
BRAARLEE WS  ARARRSHEEER
BERERLBAREKE AR (BFERYIE
REERAR - LERBZREBEARARRE
MEBREXRZERLQAF) (TKILEHE ) 23
B#ITRA - LEA900,000E T - HEE
R-ZE-—ZFEFNRA=+tHER°

HEMBARNZEMBMT

HK$’ 000
FET
Net assets disposed of: FrHEZEERE :
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables RE - AN FRIE R H RN RIE 215
Cash and cash equivalents RERAELLEEER 1,169
Accrued liabilities and other payables 2t 8 ERH MR RE (1,057)
327
Release of exchange reserve (Note 36(a)) BIRELFEE (W736(a)) (418)
Gain on disposal HE 2z Wz 991
900
Satisfied by: BT HI AR
Cash BE 900
Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HERH 2R FE
Cash consideration RENRE 900
Cash and bank balances RERIBITHEER (1,169)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRALEEEBEE 2RLFHE (269)

For the period from 1 April 2010 to the date of disposal, KIL
Group was engaged in the provision of exhibition-related customer
services in the PRC. Turnover of HK$Nil and loss of approximately
HK$1,601,000 contributed by KIL Group was recognised in the
Group's loss for the year ended 31 March 2011.

B-B—ZENA— ARELEARLSY
M KEEEFERGARE S
FR% - RRE-2——F=A=+—AL
FEKEEERZEXETETRER
ZE51E#91,601,0008 T AAEE 2 BB+
i -
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(a)

—F=A=1+—HItFE

40. YRk B 2 B

On 8 August 2011, the Company entered into a sale and purchase

agreement that the Company agreed to acquire the entire issued

share capital of Wealthy Wing, which in turn, owns 55% of Derong
at a consideration of HK$105,300,000. The acquisition was

completed on 30 November 2011.

The carrying amount and fair value of net assets acquired:

(a)

R=ZF——FNANB > RNAFTLEEH
# AQTRZEUNKE05300,0005 5T
WIEEK (EEEERS 5 %ER) 2H2E
BITRA - REERBER=-Z——F+—A4
=THZERK-

PR EEZREER AFE :

HK$’ 000
FTET
Property, plant and equipment M BERE 40
Inventories F8 5,890
Trade receivables g 5 EWFIE 1,927
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables BE - BAREREERRIE 29,470
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEER 15,270
Trade payables g ENRE (13,87¢)
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt EREMENRE (25,653)
Bank borrowings RITEE (9,776)
3,292
Non-controlling interests FEERER (3,352)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities acquired ~ FIEEAIB B FEEREE (60)
Goodwill (Note 19) B8 HZ19) 69,989
69,929
Satisfied by: Db 2

Cash consideration BERE 20,000
Consideration Shares (Note 35) RERAD (K17235) 64,800
84,800
Less: derivative financial assets (Note 21) W TR S REE (ME21) (19,597)
Add: derivative financial liabilities (Note 30) e sTES e E (477230) 4,726
69,929

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WEMEERSMHFE
Cash consideration ReRE (20,000)
Cash and bank balances acquired PR B3R & R SR 1T 45 Bk 15,270
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents RekBREEEEE2REFHE (4,730)
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the sale and purchase agreement, a
maximum of 270,000,000 Consideration Shares will be delivered to
Mr. Zheng Xue Feng (the “Vendor”) if the audited distributable profit
after tax of Derong for the period from date of completion (i.e. 30
November 2011) up to 31 December 2011 (the “First Year”), for the
year commencing from 1 January 2012 and ending on 31 December
2012 (the “Second Year”) and for the year commencing from 1
January 2013 and ending on 31 December 2013 (the “Third Year”)
will be not less than RMB15,000,000 (the “First Year Consideration
Adjustment” ), RMB50,000,000 (the “Second Year Consideration
Adjustment”) and RMB70,000,000 (the “Third Year Consideration

Adjustment”) respectively.

If Derong is able to achieve the respective targets of audited
distributable profits in association with the First Year Consideration
Adjustment, the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and/or the
Third Year Consideration Adjustment, the Company shall, though the
attorney, deliver a total of 270,000,000 Consideration Shares to
the Vendor in the following manner: (i) 30,000,000 Consideration
Shares for the First Year; (ii) 100,000,000 Consideration Shares for
the Second Year; and (iii) 140,000,000 Consideration Shares for
the Third Year.

The Consideration Shares will be registered under the name of
the Vendor on the date of completion; whereas all original shares
certificates shall be handed to the attorney of the Company in
escrow, which shall only be delivered to the Vendor by the attorney
of the Company under mutual instructions of the Company and
the Vendor if and only if it is confirmed that Derong can achieve
the respective targets of audited distributable profits in association
with the First Year Consideration Adjustment, the Second Year
Consideration Adjustment and the Third Year Consideration
Adjustment. The Vendor guarantees to the Company and confirms
that before the delivery of the shares certificates of relevant
Consideration Shares by the attorney of the Company to the
Vendor, the Vendor shall not claim himself as the beneficial owner
of the Consideration Shares, and may not exercise any rights
of the Consideration Shares (including but not limited to voting
rights, receipt of dividend and rights of rights issue) and may not
make or allow to make encumbrance of any kind in relation to the
Consideration Shares, otherwise the Vendor agrees and undertake to
indemnify the Company for all losses, damages and all costs incurred
by the Company.

If Derong fails to meet the respective targets of audited distributable
profits in association with the First Year Consideration Adjustment,
the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and/or the Third Year
Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor shall only be delivered in the
same proportion of the Consideration Shares as the achievement
proportion for the respective year.

40. i RBRR B 2 ) (#8)

(%)

RIBEB = 2R - HERERTX B S
(=F2——F+—-A=+tH)Z2=F——%
TZA=+t—BHETEF])  R=F—=
F—A-BEBE=Z-——-Ft+=-A=+—H
LtEETREDRR=_Z2-—=5—-HF—H
EZE-—=FTZA=+T-RLEFE(SE
ZF) 2RERTDERBRBEZET KD 5
LR ARY15,000,0007T ([E FEHEH
#]) - AR¥50,000,0007c ([ 55 —${EE
FE ) R ARYE70,000,0007T (TEE=FK
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

For the portions falling short of the First Year Consideration
Adjustment or the Second Year Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor
can make up the shortfall in the Second Year or the Third Year. If
such complement can be substantiated and confirmed in the audited
consolidated accounts for the Second Year or the Third Year, the
Vendor may be complemented such portion of Consideration Shares
on one month from the date of issue of the audited consolidated
accounts of Derong for the Secord Year and the Third Year.

If the profit of Derong exceeds the First Year Consideration
Adjustment, the Second Year Consideration Adjustment and/or the
Third Year Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor (as the case may
be) shall have an option either to:

- in respect of the portion exceeding the said target of audited
distributable profit for the respective year, receive the cash
bonus additionally granted by the Company. Calculation of
the cash bonus is based on 30% of 55% (representing the
shareholding proportion in Derong by the Company) of the
portion exceeding the said target of audited distributable profit
for the respective year; or

-~ in respect of the portion exceeding the said target of audited
distributable profit for the respective year, deem such portion
as part of the respective target of audited distributable profit for
the upcoming year.

The Vendor may at his discretion to collect cash bonus according to
the sale and purchase agreement, whereas the conditions precedent
to grant of such cash bonus by the Company are as follows: (1) such
portion exceeding the said target of audited distributable profit for
the respective year has been audited according to the International
Accounting Standards (including the Hong Kong Accounting
Standards) and has been deemed as distributable profit; and (2) the
Company has collected such distributable profit for the respective
year.

After one month from the date of issue of the audited consolidated
accounts of Derong for the Secord year and the Third year, if the
Vendor fails to obtain all Consideration Shares because of falling
short of the First Year Consideration Adjustment, the Second
Year Consideration Adjustment and the Third Year Consideration
Adjustment, the Company has the right to sell the remaining
Consideration Shares which has not delivered to the Vendor (the
“Remaining Consideration Shares”) at a nominal consideration of
HK$1 to any appointee of the Company. The Vendor guarantees
and undertakes to the Company that, in any event, the Vendor
will abandon all rights to the Remaining Consideration Shares,
and will irrevocably authorize the Company to sell the Remaining
Consideration Shares to any appointee of the Company. The
appointee of the Company will dispose or place the Remaining
Consideration Shares to independent third parties or places for and
on behalf of the Company at prices taking into account the prevailing
market price of the Shares and shall the Company proceed with the
placing of the Remaining Consideration Shares, the Company will
observe and ensure full compliance of all applicable Listing Rules.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

(continued)

Since the First Year Distributable Profit is less than the First Year
Consideration Adjustment, the Vendor and the Company agreed not
to deliver any Considerations Share and the First Year Consideration

Adjustment will be rolled over to the year ending 31 December

2013.

The contingent consideration in the sum of HK$20,500,000
shall be paid by the Company to the Vendor subject to the terms
and conditions of the sale and purchase agreement in relation
to consideration adjustments. Pursuant to the sale and purchase
agreement, the Company does not have to seftle such balance
if the net profits of Derong fail to meet the respective targets in
association with the consideration adjustments and the Remaining
Consideration Shares are sold by the Company. As at 31 March
2012, the directors of the Company considered that the fair value of

the contingent consideration to be HK$ Nil.

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$ 1,756,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the period, within the “Other
operating expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed approximately
HK$67,168,000 to the Group’ s turnover and profit before tax of
approximately HK$502,000 for the year.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2011, total
Group’ s turnover for the year would have been approximately
HK$149,807,000,
approximately HK$39,256,000. The pro forma information is for

and loss for the year would have been

illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
turnover and results of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2011, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of the
combination included a control premium paid to acquire Wealthy
Wing. In addition,

effectively included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected

the consideration paid for the consideration
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the
assembled workforce of Wealthy Wing. These benefits are not
recognised separately from goodwill as the future economic benefits
arising from them cannot be reliably measured.

The non-controlling interests (45%) in Wealthy Wing recognised
at the acquisition date were measured at their share of recognised
identified net assets at the date of acquisition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

BHE_T——_F=A=1+—HIFE

40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(b) On 30 October 2010, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the

Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement that the
Company agreed to purchase 51% equity interest of Sino Giants
by subscription of shares of Sino Giants at a consideration of
HK$20,000,000. The acquisition was completed on 9 February
2011.

The carrying amount and fair value of net assets acquired:

40. W REBH B 2 F) (#8)
b) R=B-BE+A=+RH AAA-H2%E

MEBAR LEEHE  AARREURE
Sino GiantsZ &7 5 X &Sino GiantsZ
51%8% #E - 1X£1820,000,00058 7Tt 21 UK
BER-—_Z——F_AAHAREMK-

B FEE 2 REER A FE :

HK$" 000
FET
Property, plant and equipment Y~ BERE 455
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables BE -~ AN RERH A ERRIE 77
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEER 147
Accrued liabilities and other payables Rt BERHEMESRIE (4,013)
(3,334)
Non-controlling interests FEERER 1,634
(1,700)
Goodwill (Note 19) BE (Maz19) 1,700
Subscription of shares RERHG 20,000
20,000
Satisfied by: LU 35 32 44

Cash RBe 20,000

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEFAEERSRAFE
Cash consideration BeRE (20,000)
Subscription of shares R R0 20,000
Cash and bank balances REeRBITHEER 147
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents ReRRELEEEAZRAZHE 147
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40. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(b)

(continued)

Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately HK$221,000
have been excluded from the consideration transferred and have
been recognised as an expense in the period, within the “Other
operating expenses” line item in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

The subsidiaries acquired during the year contributed HK$Nil
to the Group’s turnover and loss before tax of approximately

HK$1,485,000 for the year.

If the acquisition had been completed on 1 April 2010, total
Group's turnover for the year would have been approximately
HK$82,368,000, and loss for the year would have been
approximately HK$38,521,000. The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of
turnover and results of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2010, nor

is it intended to be a projection of future results.

Goodwill arose in the business combination because the cost of the
combination included a control premium paid to acquire Sino Giants.
In addition, the consideration paid for the consideration effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce of Sino Giants. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill as the future economic benefits arising from

them cannot be reliably measured.

The non-controlling interests (49%) in Sino Giants recognised at
the acquisition date were measured at their share of recognised

identified net assets at the date of acquisition.

B AR MY EE

—F=A=+—AILER

40. i RRRR B 2 ) (48)

(b)

(%)

BB RARAK221,0008 TRE HEE
REPMER  YREGEE2EBREK2[HAM
EEMX INERSBANRX -

REEAMBENRBARRSANEEE XM
BERIW T B TR AN FERT A RS R
#1,485,000% 7T °

MEREWBER-Z-—ZFFHA-AE&
B AREFFEZRAEXERESY
82,368,0003& T » 4 £ £ BR Bt Al /8545 B
#%938,521,000/% T - B Z & RHEEH B
A AP —ERFERERBER =-F—
ZENMA-AXKEeERMASEER LE
BEEM 2 EXRBNFEE  PAFZEH KRR
EEMERR -

EBEHELRHE BB ERE
Sino GiantsfT 32 (Y2 HIE1E o thoh - EIRAT
X ZREREASHRYRR - WAER -
ARTSBRERERTARTRZES - Z
EEZREURPBEPBILER  BIEPFF
BEEZRREBBEE LTSRS -

7 Sino Giants 2 49%3E 12 I 23 A U B B &
R WA SRR B B L SRR PBE
FEETE

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012 136



Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group and the Company
(a) Claim made by the Company against Hung

(the “Action”)

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 16 December
2009 and 8 January 2010, the Company has commenced
proceedings against Mr. Hung at the High Court with regards to
a breach of contract by Mr. Hung, in connection with a sale and
purchase agreement dated 25 September 2007 made between the
Company and Mr. Hung (the “Agreement”). The Company sought
advice from its legal advisers and formed the view that Mr. Hung
had failed to perform one or more of the terms of the Agreement and
is of the view that Mr. Hung is in breach of numerous representations
and warranties under the Agreement. The Company claims against
Mr. Hung, among other things, for all payments made by the
Company to Mr. Hung under the Agreement and/or damages arising
from the breach of the Agreement.

On 1 February 2010, the Company filed a statement of claim at
the High Court against Mr. Hung, Mega Wealth and Webright
(together referred to as the “Defendants”) in connection with the
Agreement, for, inter alia, rescission of the Agreement. Particulars of
the Statement of Claim are summarised as follows:

(1) The Company claims against Mr. Hung for:
(i)  rescission of the Agreement;

(ii) the 76,640,000 shares of the Company (“Shares”) at an
issue price of HK$0.5 per share;

(iii) the convertible note, issued to Mr. Hung pursuant to the
Agreement, in the principal amount of HK$173,500,000
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share (the “Convertible
Note”);

(iv) further or alternatively, all payments made by the
Company to Mr. Hung and/or damages arising from the
breach of the Agreement;

(v) a declaration that Mr. Hung holds the 70,000,000 Shares
and the Convertible Note and their traceable equivalent
on trust for the Company and that all necessary tracing
orders accounts and inquiries be taken as to what had
happened to the said Shares and Convertible Note and to
ascertain the traceable equivalent thereof;

(vi) an order for payment after having the above accounts and
inquiries;
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #Hz—-% =A=+—BLFE

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41 . R REARRAR (])

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(a) Claim made by the Company against Hung

FRERFELF
(a) EaF)MBEEFEZ AR (TR

(the “Action”) (continued)

(vii) payment of the legal costs incurred by the Company
arising from the investigation and report arising from the
matters in connection with the Agreement; and

(viii) payment of the costs incurred by the Company for
the preparation and execution of the Agreement and
supplemental agreements.

(2) The Company also claims against Mega Wealth, inter alia, for
the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

(3) The Company also claims against Webright, inter alia, for
the 98,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share.

On 14 November 2011, the Company filed an amended Statement
of Claim to the Court, the Defendants filed amended defence on 16
January 2012. Subsequently, the Company filed amended reply to
Defendants’ defence on 13 April 2012. The pleading stage of the
proceedings is now closed. Now, the Company is preparing the
lists of documents to be exchanged with Defendants, after which the
parties would have to exchange witness statements.

Up to the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements,
no judgment has been made by the High Court. The Board of
the Company, based on legal advices, the Company has a good
arguable case against the Defendants to have the Agreement
rescinded. The Board of the Company will follow closely on the
development of the above matters and inform the shareholders of the
Company on a timely basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZE-Z——F=A=+—HItFE
41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(b) Injunction Order
On 22 January 2010, the High Court granted an ex parte Injunction
Order against the Defendants. The Injunction Order provides, among
other things, that: unless with the approval of the High Court, Mr.
Hung must not, either by himself, his servants or agents or otherwise
howsoever in any way dispose of or deal with or diminish the value
of any of the following assets:

(i)  the 76,640,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung at an issue price of
HK$0.5 per Share;

(i) the Convertible Note issued by the Company to Mr. Hung;

(iii) the 100,000,000 Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon exercise
of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which were
passed to Mega Wealth at an issue price of HK$0.5 per Share;

(iv) the 98,000,000 of the Shares issued to Mr. Hung upon
exercise of conversion rights of the Convertible Note and which
were passed to Webright at an issue price of HK$0.5 per
Share;

All being part of the considerations given to Mr. Hung by the
Company in respect of the Agreement.

On 29 January 2010, at the return date hearing in relation to
the Injunction Order, it was ordered, inter alia, that the Injunction
Order will continue subject to a fortification in the amount of
HK$10,000,000 being paid by the Company to the Registrar
of the High Court on or before 12 February 2010, failing which
the Injunction Order shall be discharged. The Company paid
HK$10,000,000 into the High Court on 10 February 2010 in
compliance with the Injunction Order. Following a hearing held at
the High Court on 18 March 2010, the High Court delivered its
decision on 30 March 2010 to discharge and at the same time re-
grant the Injunction Order obtained by the Company on 22 January
2010 against the Defendants. Furthermore, the Court made a cost
order nisi that the Company should pay the Defendants’ costs
related to the discharge of the Injunction Order, which the Court has
assessed to be fourfifths of the costs of the hearing. On 13 April
2010, the Defendants took out two summonses respectively for (i) an
application for an order to vary the costs order nisi made in the said
decision delivered on 30 March 2010, and (ii) an application for
an order to have leave to appeal the said decision delivered on 30
March 2010, that the decision to re-grant the Injunction Order was
wrong. On 14 May 2010, the Company and Mr. Hung, through their
lawyers, entered into a consent summons whereby the hearing of the
two summonses returnable on 26 May 2010 was adjourned without
a further date of hearing, with liberty to restore.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. R REBR AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(b) Injunction Order (continued)

FRERFELQF (&)
(b) XH< (&)

On 3 September 2010, Mr. Hung through his solicitors applied
by way of a Summons to vary the Injunction Order granted by
the Honourable Mr. Justice Chung dated 30 March 2010 (the
“Application”) and the hearing was scheduled to be heard on 20
September 2010. The Court dismissed Mr. Hung’s Application by
way of summons, for an order to vary the Injunction Order made
against the Defendants. The Court ordered costs of the summons be
paid by the Defendants to the Company in any event.

On 22 September 2010, the Court of Appeal granted the Defendants
leave to appeal to the Court of Appeal and heard the Defendants’
appeal on 27 September 2010. The judgment was handed down
on 6 October 2010. The Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal of
the Defendants and the Injunction Order against the Defendants
remained unchanged. The Court of Appeal also ordered the costs
of the Appeal to be paid by the Defendants to the Company, to
be taxed if noted agreed, save that the costs of preparing the
Company’s own “core bundles” be deducted.

Mr. Hung put the Company on notice on 6 October 2011 that he
would take out an application by way of an inter parte summons,
for variation of the ex parte Order granted by the Honourable Mr.
Justice Yam on 22 January 2010, which was discharged and re-
granted by the Honourable Mr. Justice Chung on 30 March 2010
(the “Order”) Pursuant to the summons, Mr. Hung together with Mega
Wealth and Webright are seeking for an order that:-

(1) the Order be varied by:

(i)  that the Mr. Hung be permitted to exercise the right to
convert a portion of the Convertible Note in the principal
amount of HK$123,204,095 into 246,408,190 ordinary
shares of the Company at a conversion price of HK$0.5
per share and that the Mr. Hung be registered forthwith
as the shareholder of such converted and allotted

246,408,190 shares;
(i) amending Paragraph 1(a) in the following manner:

“The 323,048,190 of the Company’s shares issued to the
Mr. Hung at issue price of HK$0.5 per share;”

(iii) amending Paragraph 1(b) in the following manner:

“The non-interest bearing convertible redeemable note
issued by the Company to the Mr. Hung (“Convertible
Note”) in the principal amount of HK$50,295,905
convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a
conversion price of HK$0.5 per share;”
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZE-Z——F=A=+—HItFE
41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(b) Injunction Order (continued)

(iv)] adding Paragraph 6:
“save and except what is permitted under Paragraph 7;”

(v) adding to Paragraph 7:
“save and except exercising voting rights of the Shares,
either by himself or by the Mr. Hung via proxy or any
other agent, at the extraordinary general meeting of the
Company which was fixed to be held at Room 2502,
25/F, 9 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong on
Friday, 14 October 2011 at 2.30 p.m. pursuant to the
Company’s circular dated 28 September 2011 or at such
other adjourned dates and places for that extraordinary

general meeting;”

(vi) alternatively, any Order that the Honourable Court deems

fit.
(2) the time for service of this summons be abridged; and

(3) costs of and occasioned by this application be to provide for.

The Court on 13 October 2011 made the following Order that:
1. the Summons be dismissed; and

2. the costs of the Summons be paid to the Company by Mr. Hung,
Mega Wealth and Webright with two certificates to counsels.

The court case is still ongoing and the Company will make further
announcements as and when appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HEZE-ZT——F=A=+—HItFE

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. R REBR AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued) EXEERELT (48)
(¢) Winding-up Petition (c) B2

Mr. Hung served the statutory demands on the Company in respect
of a total outstanding Alleged Indebtedness of HK$41,722,630
(the “Statutory Demands”). A winding-up petition (the “Winding-
up Petition”) was presented to the High Court and served on the
Company by Mr. Hung on 28 January 2010 in connection with the
Alleged Indebtedness. The Company intends to oppose the Winding-
up Petition and has appointed legal advisers to handle the matter.
The first hearing of the Winding-up Petition was held on 7 April
2010. At the second hearing held in the High Court on 12 April
2010, upon hearing submissions by the parties, the Companies
Judge made an order that, among other things, the Winding-
up Petition be adjourned to the second Monday after the date of
handing down of judgment in connection with the Statement of Claim
by which the Company has made a claim against Mr. Hung. On 24
August 2010, the Court made an order by consent of both parties
to grant leave to the Petitioner to amend the Winding-up Petition
and costs of and occasioned by the amendment of the Winding-
up Petition be paid by the Petitioner to the Company in any event.
The Petitioner amended the Winding-up Petition, including, among
others, a reduction of the Alleged Indebtedness to HK$9,600,000.
The Board of the Company considers that the issue of the Statutory
Demands is, of itself, unlikely to have a negative impact on the
Group’s financial condition. In addition, the Company may seek to
set-off against the Alleged Indebtedness claims which the Company
is asserting against Mr. Hung under the Statement of Claim. The
Board of the Company is of the view that it has a bona fide claim
on substantial grounds and should succeed in the Proceedings by
which the Company has made a claim against Mr. Hung, which shall
extinguish Mr. Hung's claim in the Winding-up Petition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE
41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41.:REA R RA R (M)
(continued)

FRERFELQF (&)
(d) REERFEFFEA

The Group and the Company (continued)
(d) Appointment of Provisional Liquidators

On 28 January 2010, by a letter to the High Court, Mr. Hung’s
solicitors applied for an early date for a first hearing of the
application for appointment of provisional liquidators to the
Company by Mr. Hung (the “Application”). A hearing in respect of
the Application took place on 2 February 2010, at which a date was
set down for a further hearing on 5 May 2010. The Company and
Mr. Hung, through their lawyers, entered into a consent summons
whereby the hearing scheduled on 5 May 2010 for the Application
was adjourned without a further date of hearing, with liberty to
restore. The Court made an order by consent on 26 April 2010 in
this regard. Notwithstanding this, the Company received a letter
from Mr. Hung's lawyers dated 15 June 2010 in which, among other
things, Mr. Hung requested to set down a date for the hearing of
the Application. The Application was scheduled to be heard on 9
November 2010. However, upon the joint application of Mr. Hung
(the “Petitioner”) and the Company by way of consent summons
dated 4 November 2010 and upon the Company undertaking to the
Court that:

(i  On 9 November 2010, deposit the sum of HK$10,658,922
into a designated interest-bearing bank account opened in the
name of Company (“Designated Account”) as security for the
petitioning debt claimed by the Petitioner in these proceeding
and will not use the monies as deposited in the Designated
Account until after determination of HCA2477 of 2009 or upon
such other condition as may be agreed between the Petitioner
and the Company in writing;

(i) It shall within 3 working days of the written request of
the Petitioner provide the bank statements relating to the
Designated Account; and

(i) It shall secure and preserve all the shares and assets (if any) of
Wealth Gain and will not dispose of such shares and assets or
any part thereof unless with the Petitioner’s written consent or
until the determination of HCA2477 of 2009;

The High Court ordered, amongst other things, that, without
prejudice to the respective contentions advanced by Mr. Hung and
the Company, leave be granted to Mr. Hung to withdraw the PL
Application. Mr. Hung withdrew the PL Application on 5 November
2010. HK$10,658,922 was deposited into the HCCW Designated
Account on 9 November 2010. This payment was financed by the
Company’s internal funding.

The parties are now in the process of negotiation for the Petitioner to
agree to have the Amended Petition be dismissed on the condition
that the Company to arrange for a guarantee issued by a bank
in Hong Kong in favour of Mr. Hung in the amount equivalent to
the above deposit of HK$10,658,922 and the issue regarding the
petitioning debt be dealt with in the action HCA2477/2009. The
Company consider the above proposal to be very reasonable and
should the parties failed to reach an agreement for the dismissal of
the Amended Petition, the Company shall proceed to apply for the
dismissal of the Amended Petition.

The Board of the Company, based on legal advice, is of the view
that the Company has a very good defence against the Winding-up
Petition and the PL Application.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. R REBR AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued) EXEERELT (48)
(e) Labour Action (e) HFRTH

On 5 January 2011, Mr. Hung filed a statement of claim against the
Company claiming a total sum of HK$3,407,962.74 plus interest,
being, inter alia, (i) arrears of wages (the “Wages Claim”) in the
amount of HK$1,668,000 and (ii) reimbursement of expenses
(the “Reimbursement Claim”) in the amount of HK$1,739,962.74,
allegedly incurred by Mr. Hung whilst he was in the employment of
the Company.

The Wages’ Claim was in relation to the same subject matter as was
previously resolved and settled between the parties by Mr. Hung
accepting a total sum of HK$890,000 from the Company, pursuant
to the Order of the Labour Tribunal dated 25 May 2010.

The Company has been advised that re-litigating the Wages’ Claim
in the High Court, the subject matter of which has already been
resolved and settled, constitutes an abuse of process of the Court
and is therefore liable to be struck out under the relevant Rules of
Court. The Company will defend both the Wages’ Claim and the
Reimbursement Claim as advised. The Company filed a defence and
counterclaim whereby the Company only agreed to pay a sum of
HK$74,221.20 out of Mr. Hung's claim, and counterclaimed against
Mr. Hung for repayment of a sum of HK$67,569 being, inter alia,
unauthorised payments incurred by Mr. Hung on the Company’s
behalf and the value of the Company assets held by Mr. Hung. Mr.
Hung has subsequently filed a reply and defence to counterclaim.
This case is now in the discovery stage on 28 June 2011, the
Company and Mr. Hung filed a joint application for on order by
consent that: (i) this action be stayed sine die with liberty to restore
by either party; (ii) and costs reserved. No hearing date has been
scheduled for this case on 28 June 2011, the Company and Mr.
Hung filed a joint application for an order by consent that:

(i) This action be stayed sine die with liberty to restore by either
party; and

(ii) cost reserved.

Save and except for part of the Reimbursement Claim in the amount
of HK$74,221.20 as accepted by the Company, the Board of the
Company, based on legal advice, considers that the Company has a
good arguable defence to Mr. Hung’s claim, and consider that this
claim will not have any material impact on the Company.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

AIFFE

(f) Claim made by Hung against the Company

On 25 February 2011, Mr. Hung, Mega Wealth and Webright
Limited (together as the “Plaintiffs”) issued a Writ of Summons and
an Indorsement of Claim against the Company as the 1st Defendant,
Ms. Geng Ying as 2nd Defendant, Mr. Gao Feng as 3rd Defendant
and Mr. Chiu Sui Keung as 4th Defendant, in the High Court (the
“Claim”). The Plaintiffs issued and served on the Company a Writ
with only an Indorsement of Claim without a full Statement of Claim.
On 15 April 2011, the Plaintiffs filed and served on the Company a
Statement of Claim.

Particulars of the Claim are summarised as follows:—

The Plaintiffs’ claim against the Company for:-

1. the sum of HK$214,600,000 being the unpaid sale shares
consideration for the acquisition of Wealth Gain;

2. damages for the breach of agreements;

3. damages for placement of shares to the prejudice of Hung
estimated to be HK$124,600,000 or alternatively;

4. redemption in full value of the remaining Convertible
Note issued by the Company to Mr. Hung in the sum of
HK$173,500,000;

5. damages in reputation;

6. declaration that the grant of share options of 39,000,000
shares and awards to the Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung and the other share options of 21,000,000
shares awarded to other staff to be null and void;

7. rescission of the abovesaid grant;

8. "™eosis;

9. interests; and

10. further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.

The Plaintiffs claim against Ms. Geng Ying for:

1.  damages;

2. order that Ms. Geng Ying be removed from her directorship;

3. damages in reputation;
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For the year ended 31 March 2012

41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(f) Claim made by Hung against the Company
(continued)

4.

5.

6.

7.

declaration that the grant of the share options 13,000,000
shares and awards to Ms.Geng Ying be null and void;

rescission of the abovesaid grant;
costs;

further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.

The Plaintiffs claim against Mr. Gao Feng for:

1.

7.

damages;
damages in reputation;
Order that Mr. Gao Feng be removed from his directorship;

declaration that the grant of the share options 13,000,000
shares and awards to Mr. Gao Feng be null and void;

rescission of the abovesaid grant;
costs;

further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.

The Plaintiffs claim against Mr. Chiu Sui Keung for:

1.

damages;
damages in reputation;

Order that Mr. Chiu Sui Keung be removed from his
directorship;

declaration that the grant of the share options 13,000,000
shares and awards to Mr. Chiu Sui Keung be null and void;

rescission of the abovesaid grant;
costs;

further and other relief as the Court may deem fit.
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For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZE-Z——F=A=+—HItFE
41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(f) Claim made by Hung against the Company
(continued)
The Company, Ms. Geng Ying, Mr. Gao Feng and Mr. Chiu Sui
Keung together issued a summons (the “First Summons”) against the
Plaintiffs in the High Court on 13 May 2011 in connection with an
application, amongst other things, to:

1.  strike out paragraphs 2, 4 to 13, and 16 to 33 of the Statement
of Claim as -

(a) disclosing no reasonable cause of action;

(b) being scandalous, frivolous or vexatious;

(c) tending to prejudice, embarrass or delay the fair trial of
the action; and/or

(d) it is otherwise an abuse of the process of the court;
and that the action therein be dismissed; and

2. alternatively, paragraphs 2, 4 to 13, and 16 to 33 of the
Statement of Claim and the action therein be stayed pending
the final determination or disposal by the Court of the HCA
2477/2009 and HCCW 48/2010.

The Defendants also issued a summons (the “Second Summons”)
against the Plaintiffs on 13 May 2011 in connection with an
application for, inter alia, an order that pending the hearing and
determination of the First Summons taken out by the Defendants,
all further proceedings in this action be stayed and the Defendants
are not required to file and serve their Defence until further order or
directions as may be made by the Court.

The Court on 20 May 2011 made the following Order in relation to
the First Summons:

1. Lleave be granted to the Defendants to file and serve
supplemental affirmation(s) to the Summons taken out by the
Defendants on 13 May 2011 (the “Defendants’ Striking-out
Summons”) on or before 10 June 2011;

2. leave be granted to the Plaintiffs to file and serve affirmation(s)
in opposition to the Defendants’ Striking-Out Summons on or
before 8 July 2011;

3. Lleave be granted to the Defendants to file and serve

affirmation(s) in reply (if any) to the Defendants’ Striking-Out
Summons on or before 29 July 2011;
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(f)

(9)

Claim made by Hung against the Company

(continued)

4. There be no further affirmation to be filed or served without
leave of the Court;

5. Any application for leave for filing and serving further
affirmation evidence shall be made no less than 14 days before
the substantive hearing;

6. The hearing of the Defendants’ Striking-Out Summons be
adjourned and fixed before a judge in consultation with
Counsel’s diary with one day reserved;

7. Costs of this application be reserved.

The First Summons scheduled to be heard on 22 March 2012 at
10:00 a.m. before the Honourable Mr. Justice A. Chung.

The Court made the following Order in relation to the Second
Summons on 20 May 2011:

1. Pending the hearing and determination of the Defendants’
Striking-out Summons, all further proceedings in the action
therein be stayed and the Defendants are not required to file
and serve their Defence until further order or directions as may
be made by the Court;

2. The costs of the application be in the cause of the Defendants’
Striking-out Summons.

On 2 February 2012, the Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Discontinuance
in court to wholly discontinue the claim and that the cost of this
action be paid by the Plaintiffs to be taxed if not agreed The
Company instructed its lawyers to claim against the Plaintiffs for
the regal costs that it has incurred HK$500,000 have been finally
received by the Company in respect of the claim. The case is now
closed.

Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex
and the Company

Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex (“Mr. Wong”) issued a writ of summons
and an indorsement of claim dated 10 December 2010 against
the Company in connection with an assignment of debt on 19 July
2010, whereby Mr. Hung allegedly assigned to Mr. Wong a loan
of HK$31,500,000 (forming part of the Alleged Indebtedness)
previously advanced by Mr.
Action”).

Hung to the Company (“Wong's
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(g) Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex

and the Company (continued)

Mr. Wong further applied for an ex parte injunction order against
the Company which, amongst other things, restricted the Company
from removing from Hong Kong, disposing of, dealing with or
diminishing the value of any of its assets which are within Hong Kong
up to the value of HK$31,500,000. This injunction was granted
by the High Court on 9 December 2010, but was subsequently
discharged on 16 December 2010 on the undertaking of the
Company (the “Undertaking”) to:

(1) without prejudice to the Company’s contention that it has a
defence to the claim by Mr. Wong and without prejudice to Mr.
Wong's right to challenge the Company’s case that there has
been partial repayment, deposit the sum of HK$28,500,000
(the “Sum”) into a designated interest-bearing bank account
opened in the name of the Company (the “HCA Designated
Account”) as security for the money claimed by the Mr. Wong
by 21 December 2010, and not in any way use or pledge
for credit (whether for the Company or any person) or allow
any lien to be created on the monies so deposited in the HCA
Designated Account until further order made by the High Court
or unless in accordance with the agreement in writing between
Mr. Wong and the Company;

(2) provide full bank statements (without any redaction) relating
to the HCA Designated Account within 3 working days of the
written request of Mr. Wong.

The Sum was deposited into the HCA Designated Account on 21
December 2010. This payment was financed by the Company’s
internal funding.

The High Court further ordered on 16 December 2010 that the
application filed by Mr. Wong on 14 December 2010 for the
continuation of the injunction order was to be effectively treated as
an application for an order that the Sum deposited into the HCA
Designated Account be continued to be kept, held and preserved
pursuant to the Company’s undertakings, until the final determination
by the High Court of the Wong's Action.

Mr. Wong issued a summons against the Company in the High Court
of Hong Kong under the Claim on 27 April 2011 (the “Order 14
Summons”) in connection with an application for summary judgment
for the sum of HK$28,500,000, being the amount claimed in the
statement of claim filed on 14 April 2011 less the alleged partial
repayment of HK$3,000,000 made by the Company to Mr. Hung,
together with interest and costs.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(g) Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex
and the Company (continued)
On 5 May 2011, after hearing the Counsel for Mr. Wong and the
Solicitors for the Company, the Court made the following Order:

1. The hearing of the Plaintiff’'s Summons for the continuation of
the Defendant’s undertaking fixed for 9 May 2011 at 10 a.m.
(the “Undertaking Summons”) be vacated;

2. The hearing of the Order 14 Summons be adjourned and fixed
on a date not earlier than the expiry of 49 days from 5 May
2011 with one day reserved in consultation with Counsel’s
diary;

3. The hearing of the Undertaking Summons be adjourned to such
time immediately after the hearing of the Order 14 Summons;

4. leave be granted to the Defendant to file and serve
affirmation(s) in opposition to the Order 14 Summons within 28
days from 5 May 2011;

5. leave be granted to the Plaintiff to file and serve affirmation(s)
in reply (if any) to the Order 14 Summons within 21 days
thereafter;

6. Costs of this application be in the cause of the Order 14
Summons.

The Company obtained written legal opinion on the Claim from
its legal advisers and after having considered the legal opinion,
the Board passed a resolution to seftle the Claim with Mr. Wong.
By a Consent Order dated 3 June 2011, the Company reached a
seftlement of the Claim with Mr. Wong and the Court in the following
terms:
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(g) Litigation between Mr. Wong Ching Ping Alex
and the Company (continued)

1. Mr. Wong warrants and declares that he, whether by himself,
his servants or agents or principals does not hold any
interest (whether legal or beneficial) or have any dealings
in any convertible notes or shares of the Company, either
with or acquired from Mr. Hung apart from the assignment

of the loan agreement dated 16 July 2009 in the amount of
HK$31,500,000.

2. Upon the giving by Mr. Wong of the above warranty and
declaration, the Company do on an entirely without admission
of liability basis pay to Mr. Wong the sum of HK$28,500,000
within 3 business days of the Order in full and final seftlement
of the Mr. Wong’s claims against the Company in the Claim.

3. Upon payment to Mr. Wong of the said sum of
HK$28,500,000, the parties shall jointly apply to the Court for
the Claim to be dismissed and shall sign a Consent Order to the
same effect.

4. The parties agree for the avoidance of doubt that Mr. Wong's
warranty and declaration in paragraph 1 above shall be
enforceable and survive the dismissal of the Claim.

Upon the Company and Mr. Wong having agreed to the above terms
of settlement, the Court by consent made an order on the 3 June
2011 that :

1. The Undertaking be discharged;

2. This Action be stayed except for the purpose of carrying the
Order and the said terms into effect;

3. Lliberty to apply; and

4. Each party do pay their own costs of this Action and the
Consent Order notwithstanding any previous costs order(s) that
state otherwise.

On 8 June 2011, the Company paid the amount of HK$28,500,000
to Mr. Wong and upon the joint application on the part of the
Company and Mr. Wong and by consent the Court is ordered that
the Wong's Action be dismissed and no order as to costs. The
accrued inferest expenses of HK$5,290,000 arising from the claim
has been written back to the Company for the year ended 31 March
2012. The case is now closed.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 41. R REBR AR ()

(continued)
The Group and the Company (continued)
(h) Labour action between Mr. Hung Hoi Ming

FEERF AT (K)
(h) ZAFRFEREERLFRHRS

Raymond and the Company and Sino Talent
Holdings Limited

On 2 July 2010, Mr. Hung Hoi Ming Raymond (the “Claimant”),
brought an action at the Labour Tribunal against the Company
and Sino Talent Holdings Limited (“Sino Talent”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Group for payment of a sum of approximately
HK$347,000, being the amount allegedly owed by the Group
on termination of his employment contract dated 10 December
2009. The Group have filed with the Labour Tribunal a defence
and counterclaim which the Group only agreed to pay a sum of
approximately HK$95,000 and counterclaimed against the Claimant
for repayment of a sum of approximately HK$128,000 being the
amount of education subsidy received by the Claimant and a sum of
an approximately HK$46,000 being compensation for unauthorized
absence from work and outstanding telephone bills. Pursuant to an
Order by the Labour Tribunal dated 27 July 2010, the case was
transferred to the District Court. At the directions hearing on 17
November 2010. The Court ordered that: (i) The Claimant do file
and serve the Statement of Claim on or before 22 December 2010;
(ii) The Sino Talent do file and serve the Defence and Counterclaim,
if any, on or before 26 January 2011; (iii) The Claimant do file
and serve the Reply and Defence to Counterclaim on or before 2
March 2011; and (iv) The costs of this directions hearing, assessed
summarily in the sum of HK$800 be costs in the cause. On 28
June 2011, the Company, Sino Talent and Claimant filed a joint
application for an order by consent that: (i) this action be stayed sine
die with liberty to restore by either party; and (ii) cost reserved. The
Board of the Company, based on legal advices, is of the view that
the Group have a good defence to the Claimant’s claim and a good
chance of success in respect of the respective counterclaims.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(i) Car action between Sino Talent and Mr.
Raymond Hung
On 20 August 2010, Sino Talent filed a Statement of Claim at
the District Court and claimed against Mr. Raymond Hung for the
followings:

1. Possession of vehicle with vehicle identification number
WP1ZZZPZ9LA81368 bearing a registration number of
NP5059 (“the Vehicle”);

2. Rent for the Vehicle between 11 December 2009 to the date of
judgment;

3. Insurance premium for the Vehicle for the period between 11
December 2009 and 12 July 2010;

4. Vehicle licence fee for the Vehicle for the period between 11
December 2009 and the date of judgment or 28 October 2010
being the date of expiry of the current vehicle licence, whenever
is earlier;

5. HK$6,980 being the amount reimbursed to the Defendant for
car restoration coupons for the Vehicle;

6.  Further or alternatively, damages for tort of conversion of the
Vehicle;

7. interest;
8. further and other relief; and
Q. costs.

Mr. Raymond Hung filed his Defence and Counterclaim at the
District Court on 8 October 2010 denying possession of the Vehicle
and claimed damages. Sino Talent filed a Reply and Defence to
Counterclaim on 22 October 2010. On 11 January 2011, Mr.
Raymond Hung filed an Amended Defence and Counterclaim
alleging that the Vehicle was pledged to Mr. Hung and that Mr.
Hung is allegedly entitled to possession and use of the Vehicle, Mr.
Hung then allowed Mr. Raymond Hung to use the Vehicle.

The parties have exchanged their respective lists of documents
and witnesses statements; and the District Court has fixed a Case
Management Conference to be heard on 30 June 2011.

On 7 October 2011, the District Court has made an order that the
action be set down for trial before a Bilingual Judge in the Fixture
List, commencing at 9:30 am on 22 February 2012 in Court No.9,
estimated length of trial being 5 days.
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41.LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
(continued)

The Group and the Company (continued)

(i)

Car action between Sino Talent and Mr.
Raymond Hung (continued)

Sino Talent filed an application to the District Court by way of ex
parte summons on 4 November 2011(the “Application”). On 5
November 2011, the District Court has granted an injunction ordered
that:-

1. Mr. Raymond Hung whether by himself, his servants or agents
or otherwise howsoever be restrained from driving, operating
and/or using the Vehicle until the final determination of the
proceedings.

2. Costs of an occasioned by the Application be costs in the
cause.

The District Court further directed that Mr. Raymond Hung shall
file and serve his affirmation in opposition within 21 days (i.e. 28
November 2011), Sino Talent shall file an affirmation in reply within
the next 21 days (i.e. 19 December 2011).

On 21 February 2012, upon the joint application by way of Consent
Summons and order that:

1. The Defendant delivers and the Plaintiff retains possession
of the Vehicle (namely Porsche Cayenne Turbo with vehicle
identification number M48/1ZZZ9PZ9LA81368 bearing
registration number NP 5059) on or before 10 March 2012
subject to the conditions stated in paragraph (2) below;

2. The acceptance of paragraph (1) above is subject to an
inspection, restoration and repair (if any) of the Vehicle by the
Porsche Centre Hong Kong to be arranged and costs to be paid
by the Defendant; and the Defendant shall send to the Plaintiff a
certificate that the Vehicle is good and roadworthy on or before
12 March 2012;

3. Upon the satisfaction of paragraphs (1) and (2) above, this
action against the Defendant be withdrawn;

4. Trial hearing scheduled on 22 February 2012 at 9:30 a.m.
reserved for 5 days (from 23 February 2012 to 28 February
2012) be vacated;

5.  Without admitting the validity and authenticity of the
Pledge Agreement and without admission of liability on the
Defendant’s part, the Defendant shall pay to the Plaintiff a sum
of HK$100.000.00 within seven (7) days of the date of the
Consent Summons; and

6. The Defendant do pay the Plaintiff costs of these proceedings
(including costs of the Consent Summons) and such costs to be
taxed if not agreed.

The vehicle has been returned to Sino Talent on 17 March 2012
and Defendant paid the HK$100,000 to Sino Talent on 29 February
2012. Sino Talent also prepared the bills of costs and commence
taxation proceeding against Mr. Raymond Hung on 22 June 2012.
The cost of taxation is claimed for approximately HK$420,349.80
from Mr. Raymond Hung and HK$87,201 from Mr. Hung
respectively.

41. R R B AR (&)

FRERFLF (#)
(i) ¥HESRRBALEZSERD ()

HER-Z2——Ft+-ANABREEZER
ABREFHERF(RFED -R=F——F

T—AEH BEERBTESS £
1. HBHALE (FWEARA  HZEAR

REA) ﬂaﬁﬂﬂﬂ%&f‘ft%%ﬁl BRER
SRERER  BEERFEREHR
ALk e

2. Hﬂﬁ’&'mﬁ'ﬁ%l‘ﬁlzﬁﬁiﬁﬁz} Gall:v)
%O

BHEERE — S - 88 L AR
B2R(M=2——F+—A=+/\R)#
RREEHRUREE - MHEBRET R
221AZA (W=B——F+=F+AH)
RREBER -

R=B-=F=-A=+-8 RUREME:A
2HAMERER  BEMT -

. WER=ZF-—-F=AtH=HZA
RNMREREEETER (EHR

Bl $EMA8,1ZZZ9PZ9LA81368T /5
Eﬁﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%%NP 50592 REFREFE
Turbo) » X T3 (2) B Z IR FTALR 5

2. EXN)BZzERASEBREEF L
(BFUZRF)HERH2RE - EER
#E(E)  MEABBEES M
REEBENR_Z——_F=A+=H=
ZABRERABEUZHERHRE T
NiBEEER E1TE

3. RERLX()RQ)BE#E HEEZR
ERD T UHEE ;

4, EEBERNMCHBER=-_ZT-—-F_-7
“+t-BLEFAB=+2 (ERE)
YEHER (Z2—=F=A=+=H
EZ-E——HF=-A=+N\A8);

5. RERBE2ARAUEREEM
&TEK HERZEME HEER
BEEEMBEHE(7)BRE RSN
100,000.00% T ; &

6. WENREXNUERFZER (8%
EEEM2ER) MidsfEE - Al
BRE RS T U -

DEHECR_-_E-——F=A+tAREF
¥E - mMEER—Z——F_-_A=-+hHM@
#E X {4100,00058 T © ¥1E TR EFBH LS
BAELIRHNEBER  UR=B—=F XA
_+ E'Eﬁ%ﬁ;]’% Ff"L\\" ﬁ/ﬁ/ﬁﬁﬂﬁ:i&»\
EEDBRERFERN420,349.808 T
87,2018 T °

Sino Resources Group Limited ® Annual Report 2012 154



Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

42. COMMITMENTS 42, 7% iz
The Group
*EME
2012 2011
—F—_F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$" 000
TFHET FET
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition BB N ERNGRS M RRIERE
of property, plant and equipment contracted EHEZWBYE  BERRKE
for but not provided in the consolidated BRZEXRMAX
financial statements 8,010 14,841
Authorised and contracted for capital contributions  FE{THI B A & 2 A E
payable to a subsidiary REFTHNERELE 25,249 10,040
33,259 24,881

REEMELD  AADELWEAERRSE (ZF
——fF ) o

The Company did not have significant capital commitment at the end of

the reporting period (2011: Nil).

43. EEHARH
AEERBECEHERFREETRAIENR -
MOEMEZEENESHBEY  FHH—Z@
FRE-

43.OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
The Group leases cerfain of its office properties under operating lease
arrangements. Leases for office properties are negotiated for terms
ranging from one to two years.

REZZE-—ZF=A=+—H REFTRHELEE
B AEEARATFHINARREENSE

At 31 March 2012, the Group had total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of office premises falling

due as follows: SHENT :
The Group
x&KE
2012 2011
—EBE—_—% —E——£F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
TH#T FHET
Within one year —FR 2,675 2,169
In the second to fifth years, inclusive E_EZFELFE (BREEREWE) 2,569 119
5,244 2,288

The Company did not have significant operating lease arrangements at the
end of the reporting period (2011: Nil).
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44. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In additions to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in
these consolidated financial statements, during the year ended 31 March
2012, the Group had entered into the following material related party
transactions:

Key management personnel remuneration
Remuneration for key management personnel, including amounts paid
to the Company’s directors as disclosed in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statement is as follow:

44 EXHEALTRS

BRESRE B RER M

—F=A=T—HILEFE

WERHREZRS R

BB RBE-ZE-——F=ZA=1+-HILFE
W REBEBIT LU TERBEALRS

FEEHEARZHE

TEEEASZHE (BREGEUBRRMEIO
FRBEZENTFARRAESZRIB)MT ¢

The Group
F5E
2012 2011
—E—-_"F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THERT TER
Short term employee benefits EHEEER 13,125 2,298
MPF contributions BESMR 24 27
Share-based payment DURR D R B 2 K - 5,982
13,149 8,307
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” in Note 8 to the S BRENEEEIB TR (GRE B HRER M
consolidated financial statements. E8) A °
Transactions carried out with related parties HRAEATETZXS
The Group
F5ME
2012 2011
—E—_%F —E——fF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TH#T FET
Interest expense paid to a shareholder, IR F-BRFRBEE
Mr. Hung Chen, Richael ZF BB 880 1,816
Interest expense paid to a shareholder, X f+F — BBRFRACE Channel
ACE Channel Limited Limited Z | 258 % 12 313
Interest expense paid to a director, ERF-—REBERREE
Mr. Chiu Sui Keung ZFERX - 16
892 2,145
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

45.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in Note 41 Litigations above and elsewhere in these
consolidated financial statements, the Group has the following events
occurred subsequent to the end of the reporting period:

()  On 31 March 2012, the Company and Advanced Elation Holdings
Limited (the “Vendor”) entered into a Sale and Purchase Agreement
(the “Agreement”) pursuant to which, among other things, the Vendor
has conditionally to sell and the Company conditionally agreed to
acquire 70.97% interest in Zhan Sheng Investments Limited (“Zhan
Sheng”) at the consideration of HK$77,550,000 (the “Proposed
Acquisition”). Upon completion, Zhan Sheng will become a
subsidiary of the Company and will hold the entire share capital of
World Grace Enterprises Limited (a private company incorporated
in Hong Kong of which the principal business activities is investment
holding) (“World Grace”), which will indirectly through Zhui Tiegang
Commercial Trading Company (a WOFE to be incorporated and
will be a wholly-owned subsidiary of World Grace) (“Zhui Tiegang”)
to own 77.50% equity interest in Hubei Tiegang Trading Company
Limited (“Hubei Tiegang”). The rest of equity interests of 22.50% of
Hubei Tiegang will be held by Mr. Sun Jiandong, an independent
third party. As such, Hubei Tiegang will be accounted for as an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary (i.e. 55%) of the Company and
will be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

Huibei Tiegang is principally engaged in coal trading and
transportation business in the Northwest region of the PRC. The
long stop date for the Proposed Acquisition has been extended to
31 July 2012 but completion shall take place within a short period
of time in the next financial year. For more details, please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 5 December 2011, 31 March
2012, 24 April 2012 and 31 May 2012.

The information regarding the financial effect of the acquisition is not
available at this stage since the acquisition had not been completed
as at the date of this consolidated financial statement and the initial
accounting for the business combination is incomplete.

(ii) In relation to the memorandum of understanding dated 2 December
2011 (“MOU") entered into for the proposed acquisition of Baiyin
Xinhua Cement Company Limited, upon negotiations on the terms
and conditions of the acquisition, the Company has decided not to
proceed with the acquisition and has mutually agreed with all other
parties to terminate the MOU effective from 2 April 2012.

(iii) The Master Project Management Agreement with Group Idea was
expired on 5 April 2012. On the same date, the Company (through
its subsidiary) entered into a sales agency agreement (“Agency
Agreement”) with Kenfair Exhibition (HK) in replacement of renewal
of the Master Project Management Agreement, pursuant to which
Kenfair Exhibition (HK) will be the show manager for all exhibitions
and trade shows organised by Group Idea. Pursuant to the Agency
Agreement, the Company will act as the sales agent for Kenfair
Exhibition (HK). For further details, please refer to the announcement

dated 4 April 2012.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2012

45.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

(iv)

(v)

On 18 June 2012, the Company and Growing Around Holdings
Limited (the “Subscriber”) entered into the Subscription Agreement,
pursuant to which the Subscriber agreed to subscribe for the
convertible notes (the “CNs”) in an aggregate principal amount of
HK$15,000,000. The initial conversion price (“Initial Conversion
Price”) of HK$0.20 per conversion share (“Conversion Shares”) and
the CNs will be convertible into 75,000,000 Conversion Shares if

full conversion of the CNs at the initial Conversion Price.

The estimated net proceeds from the issue of the CNs of
approximately HK$14,800,000 will be used for (a) financing the
capital commitment (in full or in part) in connection with the Proposed
Acquisition mentioned in (i) above; and (b) the Group’s general
working capital purpose. The maturity date of the CNs is second
anniversary of the issue date of the CNs. The CNs shall bear interest
at the rate of 12% per annum from the date of issuance. The Stock
Exchange has already approved the issuance of CNs on 27 June
2012. For further details, please refer to the announcement dated

18, 21 and 22 June 2012 respectively.

On 20 June 2012, MCT(BJ), an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, as the lessee, entered into the finance lease
Ltd (the

Pursuant to the lease agreement, the lessor agreed to

arrangement with Huixin Financial Leasing (Tianjing) Co.,
“lessor”).
acquire the certain specialised machinery and equipment for carrying
out coalbed methane exploration by MCT(BJ) (the “Equipment”) at
the consideration of RMB7,680,000 and lease back the Equipment
to the lessee for a term of two years. During the lease period, the
ownership of the Equipment will vest in the lessor. Upon the expiry
of the lease period and subject to the payment of the lease payment,
handling fee and other payables (if any) in full, MCT(BJ) has a right
to purchase the Equipment from the lessor at an agreed amount of
RMB1, upon the exercise of which the title of and all rights in the
Equipment shall rest in MCT(BJ).

The following guarantees are provided and equity is pledged for the
finance lease arrangement:

(a) The Company will provide a guarantee in favour of the lessor
for the lease payment, handling fee or other payables by
MCT(B));

(b) The entire registered capital of MCT(BJ) will be pledged in
favour of the lessor by its holding company, Multi Century
Technology Development Limited; and

(c) Mr. Gao Feng, the Vice-Chairman of the Company, will provide
a personal guarantee in favour of the lessor.

For further details, please refer to the announcement dated 20 and
21 June 2012 respectively.
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Notes to the Financial Statements

B IS RAR MY aE

For the year ended 31 March 2012 #HZ=-Z—=-F=A=+—HItFE

45.EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued)
(vi) The Group has commitment to provide funding of RMB17,600,000

as the balance payment of capital injection into Derong within

six months after the approval dated on 22 November 2011 for
increasing registered capital of Derong. On 7 June 2012, further

approval is obtained that the capital contribution can be delayed

to pay not later than 21 November 2012. As such, the Group will

be effectively held 55% equity interest of Derong upon the balance

payment of the registered capital.

46.NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

(1) During the year, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement for the acquisition of entire issued share capital
of Wealthy Wing, which comprised consideration shares of
HK$64,800,000 as disclosed in Note 40(a) to the consolidated
financial statements.

(2) During the year, the Group acquired a motor vehicle by way of
finance lease of HK$1,400,000.

47.COMPARATIVES

Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the
current year’s presentation and account treatment.

48. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2012.
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(carrying on business in Hong Kong as Sino Gp Limited)
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